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Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private

Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 that involve substantial risks and uncertainties All statements other

than statements of historical facts contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements

In some cases you can identify forward-looking statements by terminology such as believe will may
estimate continue anticipate intend should plan expect predict could potentially or the

negative of these terms or other similarexpressions Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report on Form

10-K may include statements about

our dependence on the success of BroadWorks

any potential loss of or reductions in orders from certain significant customers

our dependence on our service provider customers to sell services using our applications

claims that we infringe intellectual property rights of others

our ability to protect our intellectual property

competitive factors including but not limited to industry consolidation entry of new competitors into

our market and new product and marketing initiatives by our competitors

our ability to predict our revenue operating results and gross margin accurately

the length and unpredictability of our sales cycles

our ability to expand our product offerings

our international operations

our significant reliance on distribution partners in international markets

our ability to sell our products in certain markets

our ability to manage our growth including our increased headcount

the attraction and retention of qualified employees and key personnel

the interoperability of our products with service provider networks

our ability to realize the benefits of our recent acquisitions and the successful integration of the

personnel technologies and customers from such acquisitions

the quality of our products and services including any undetected errors or bugs in our software and

our ability to maintain proper and effective internal controls

The outcome of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to known and unknown risks

uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results anticipated by

these forward-looking statements including those factors we discuss in the Risk Factors section of this Annual

Report on Form 10-K and in our other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission or SEC You

should read these factors and the other cautionary statements made in this Annual Report on Form 10-K as being

applicable to all related forward-looking statements wherever they appear
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

These risks are not exhaustive Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking

statements are based on reasonable assumptions we can give no assurance that we will attain these expectations

or that any deviations will not be material Except as required by law we undertake no obligation to update

publicly any forward-looking statements for any reason after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K to

conform these statements to actual results or to changes in our expectations
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PART

Item Business

Overview

We are the leading global provider of software and services that enable mobile fixed-line and cable service

providers to deliver hosted or cloud-based Unified Communications and other voice and multimedia services

over their Internet protocol or IP based networks Our core communications platform consists of three offerings

Broad Works

Our BroadWorks software enables our service provider customers to provide enterprises and consumers with

range of hosted communications offerings such as hosted PBX also referred to as hosted IP Centrex voice and

video calling SIP Trunking voice and video mail call center and audio conferencing as well as 4G or LTE

offerings BroadWorks performs critical network function by serving as the software element that delivers and

coordinates call control voice video and messaging communications through service providers IP-based

network We enable carriers to offer these UC services across their broadband and wireless networks to broad

range of smartphones tablets laptops and other end user devices We believe we are well positioned to enable

service providers to capitalize on their IP-based network investments by efficiently and cost-effectively offering

broad suite of services to their end-users

BroadWorks which we generally license on perpetual license basis to service providers is installed on

industry-standard servers typically located in service providers data centers BroadWorks interoperates with

service providers core networks accesses other networks for interworking with end-users communications

devices and connects to service providers support and billing systems Since our inception most of our revenue

has come from license and maintenance and support fees for BroadWorks software

BroadCloud

We provide Unified Communications or UC offerings such as web collaboration video conferencing instant

messaging or IM and presence BroadCloud cloud services are offerings hosted and/or managed by us and

resold by service providers under their brand In addition we recently introduced BroadCloud PBX which

provides to our service provider customers many of the BroadWorks hosted PBX features and functions but

accessed by the service providers through service offering hosted and managed by us The key objectives of

providing these services from our own BroadCloud network include expediting our service provider customers

time to market while enabling the service provider to brand such UC applications We also offer our BroadCloud

PBX and web collaboration services directly to enterprises Typically we are paid monthly recurring fee for

providing BroadCloud services Although we do not derive material portion of our revenues from BroadCloud

services we believe there is growing acceptance by service providers of BroudCloud-type service offerings

We also believe that our BroadCloud offerings enable us to expand our revenue opportunities with our

customers

BroadTouch

BroadTouch client communications applications allow service providers to put the power of voice video and our

other UC services in the hands of the end-user across broad array of smartphone tablet laptop and other end

user devices

In October 2012 we introduced our UC-One offering set of bundled UC services that combines the power of

BroadWorks BroadTouch and BroadCloud enabled-Unified Communications into seamless and consistent

end-user experience With UC-One service providers can offer their customers the ability to communicate using

one familiar user interface from any of the users devices simplifying access to fully integrated UC experience

including voice video messaging conferencing and collaboration Our UC-One offerings are optimized for

range of broadband WiFi and 3G 4G and mobile networks



We were incorporated in Delaware in 1998 and we began selling BroadWorks in 2001 Over 520 service

providers in more than 69 countries have purchased and/or are delivering services utilizing our software

including 19 of the
top 25 telecommunications service providers globally as measured by revenue in the year

ended December 31 2011 We sell our products to service providers both directly and indirectly through

distribution partners such as telecommunications equipment vendors value-added resellers or VARs and other

distributors

Industry

We believe telecommunications service providers are rapidly replacing their legacy circuit switched networks as

they migrate to IP-based networks They are making these transitions to offer enhanced UC services in addition

to traditional voice services and to reduce the costs and complexities of their traditional legacy networks These

service providers are facing significant challenges to their traditional business models including declining

revenues in their legacy businesses rapidly evolving customer communications demands and the need to

generate returns on their increasing investments in IP-based networks Historically service providers derived

much of their revenue from providing reliable voice and high-speed data access However these legacy services

have been increasingly commoditized as technological and regulatory changes have brought increased

competition and lower prices At the same time enterprises and consumers have started to seek new and

enhanced cloud-based communications services which can provide service providers with opportunities to

counter falling legacy revenues and increase subscriber growth Service providers are using both their existing

IP-based networks and third-party cloud-based platforms to deliver these services to their customers

We believe that as service providers look to rapidly introduce these new UC services through their own

networks they need products like those provided by us that are capable of coordinating delivery of large and

rapidly increasing number of applications operating across heterogeneous network elements and devices

ensuring high levels of reliability and quality and efficiently scaling as more subscribers are added

Demand for Voice and Multimedia Services

Service providers are providing UC services to enterprise and consumer customers Enterprise subscribers

include small medium and large businesses universities and governments and range
in size from few end-users

to tens of thousands Consumer subscribers include individuals and families purchasing communications services

for their personal and residential use

Enterprises

Enterprises require communications features and functionality that are varied and in many cases complex Four-

digit dialing multi-party conferencing and video conferencing are common enterprise needs Historically

enterprises have purchased voice and data access from service providers and deployed customer premises-based

equipment or CPE such as PBXs to help deliver this functionality Enterprises could avoid the costly purchase

of CPE by obtaining these services directly from service provider However enterprises frequently required

greater features and functionality than could previously be obtained efficiently from service providers legacy

voice networks

Using our core communications platform we believe service providers can enhance the quality and functionality

of their communications and increase the volume of communications services delivered to customers as hosted

offerings Concurrently we believe number of trends are driving increased demand for hosted communication

services including

Accelerating rate of technology change Communications technology is evolving rapidly with the

frequent introduction of new devices and services and an increase in the number of ways people

interact Keeping pace with this change becomes difficult and expensive in CPE-based environment

where the investment to interoperate with new devices or provide new services must be fully borne by



the enterprise Furthermore CPE vendors operate proprietary systems with typically higher prices and

limited selection of end-point devices As new services are added equipment upgrades are often

required and unless the equipment of all constituents within the enterprise is upgraded functionality

can remain limited

Mobile smariphones and tablets are further driving accelerated change As mobile and other

communications services are increasingly integrated the difficulty of using CPE-based approach is

compounded by the complexity of these additions Enterprise and consumer users are demanding their

communications services be integrated across their fixed-line personal computer and mobile devices

Hosted services deliver communications services from network are centrally managed by or on

behalf of the service provider and deliver uniform service across an enterprise We believe it is far

more difficult to offer integrated services for mobile devices in CPE-based environment Hosted

services also enable enterprises to integrate within the enterprise employee-owned mobile devices

often referred to as bring your own device

Shift towards Unified Communications UC is the integration of voice and video calling and

conferencing with TM text messaging presence and collaboration tools UC increases significantly the

number of devices to be supported the number of network interconnect points and the associated

amount of required network integration We also believe UC increases the pace at which enterprises

will seek to introduce new services CPE-based UC solutions can be complex expensive and consume

significant time and resources as compared to hosted solutions

Increased acceptance of cloud-based services Enterprises are increasingly obtaining mission-critical

IT services such as computing and storage from the cloud We believe the positive experiences and

savings enterprises can achieve with cloud-based IT systems will drive enterprises to continue to move

other important functions such as communications services into the cloud

New IP-based 4G Wireless Networks We believe all the trends described above will accelerate even

further as service providers deploy and adapt 4G wireless networks such as LTE networks This

transition will we believe become even more pronounced as service providers move to offering fully

IP-based voice and telephony services commonly referred to as voice over LTE or VoLTE

Consumers

Service providers are experiencing challenges in both their fixed line and mobile consumer businesses For their

fixed line voice offerings service providers have experienced high degree of subscriber attrition partially due

to their limited ability to differentiate service offerings and consumers increased reliance on mobile telephony

Service providers have bundled services into integrated packages for their fixed line customers to retain

subscribers and introduce new revenue streams To date bundled services have included voice TV and intemet

services with mobile increasingly included and are commonly referred to as either triple play or quad play
For their mobile customers service providers are finding they have to deliver more feature rich services as well

as address competitive threats from the over the top competitors The service providers are looking to the next

generation of mobile networks commonly referred to as 4G or LTE to better enable them to offer enhanced

consumer services

To further increase revenue and decrease subscriber chum service providers are expanding beyond triple and

quad play and are starting to offer services such as video calling single number mobile and fixed-line dialing and

messaging and integration with household devices such as television set top boxes At the same time we believe

the proliferation of new devices such as smartphones tablets and home video phones is driving increased

consumer demand for expanded service offerings We believe this trend has been accelerated by the emergence

of new 4G or LTE high bandwidth mobile networks and the associated network infrastructure referred to as IP

Multimedia subsystems or IMS as well as standards associated with VoLTE Service providers are increasingly

demanding VoLTE compliance in their IP telephony implementations so they can seamlessly offer multimedia

telephony to their consumer subscribers



As communications evolve from voice to multimedia devices proliferate and modes of communications broaden

service providers are finding services delivered to one category of subscriber enterprise or consumer are starting

to drive demand for similar services in the other category For example consumers personal use of their

smartphones and tablets for varied modes of communications such as TM e-mail video and voice can create

expectations for multimedia and collaboration services within the enterprises where they work Conversely in

the work context when consumers experience converged mobile and fixed-line services such as one number

calling find me/follow me single unified voicemail e-mail delivery of voicemail or video calling they may seek

similarservices to use in their personal communications In addition the division between enterprise and

consumer communications is blurring as workforces become more mobile and people seek to work either part-

or full-time from their homes We believe that this dynamic increases overall demand for multimedia services

and provides service providers opportunities to enable feature-rich services across their subscriber bases

As with enterprise customers we believe these consumer demand trends will accelerate as service providers

deploy and adapt IP-based 4G wireless networks

Challenges in Enabling Multimedia Services on IP-based Networks

Historically applications such as voice messaging call forwarding and call waiting were delivered from within

the core network by network elements such as legacy Class and softswitches These applications were voice-

focused limited in nature and changed infrequently We believe that as service providers look to rapidly

introduce new services many of which include multimedia and not merely voice communications they require

products capable of

Coordinating delivery of large and rapidly increasing number of applications Each new

application requires coordination within the service providers network to ensure that the application is

authorized appropriately charged for and delivered in way that is appropriate to the end-user based

on the device and user preferences

Operating across heterogeneous network elements and devices Most service providers networks

consist of network equipment and software from multiple vendors In addition service providers

subscribers and end-users operate variety of devices with more and more companies opting to allow

their employees to bring their own devices to work resulting in the need for IT support for and

integration of such devices New applications must seamlessly navigate these varied network elements

and devices without impacting functionality

Ensuring high levels of reliability and quality Service providers and their subscribers are accustomed

to high level of reliability and quality and expect similar levels of reliability and quality from new

applications

Efficiently scaling as more subscribers are added As more subscribers purchase applications and

service providers acquire new subscribers service providers need to be able to efficiently add capacity

without increasing complexity

Offering IP-based communications services regardless of access across fixed line and mobile

networks Service providers also need to be able to offer the same set of communications services

across their fixed line and mobile networks in increasingly interconnected ways and as one offering

Tt is no longer efficient for application delivery responsibility to reside in network elements such as softswitches

These elements are dedicated to primarily voice centric network roles are not designed to deliver multimedia

applications and are typically limited in the number of network elements with which they interact In addition

because these network elements are generally dispersed throughout network deploying scaling and managing

these multimedia services through these network elements is even more difficult



The BroadSoft Solution

To meet these challenges many service providers are deploying separate voice and multimedia application

server specifically designed to deliver multimedia services as part of their network architecture voice and

multimedia application server is the dedicated network software element that delivers and coordinates voice

video and messaging communications In addition many service providers are shifting their networks toward

new all-IP-based network architectures such as IMS Within these new all-IP architectures the application

server is defined function or layer

BroadWorks is the industrys leading IP communications application server BroadWorks is installed on

industry-standard servers typically located in data centers It utilizes well-defined interfaces to interoperate with

core networks accesses other networks for interworking with end-users communications devices and connects

to support and billing systems for management and charging functions We believe we are well-positioned to

enable service providers to efficiently and cost-effectively offer broad suite of essential and value-added

services to their end-users

With BroadCloud PBX and BroadCloud UC service providers can now utilize the BroadWorks PBX

functionality as service as well as offer additional UC offerings to their customers hosted and managed by us

using our network This enables service providers to much more rapidly offer UC services to their end customers

BroadTouch client communications applications allow service providers to put the power of voice video and our

other UC services in the hands of the end-user across many mobile devices Our UC-One offering combines the

power of BroadWorks BroadTouch and BroadCloud enabled-Unified Communications into seamless and

consistent end-user experience

BroadSoft offerings provide service providers several key advantages including

Rapid delivery offeature-rich enterprise and consumer multimedia services We believe BroadWorks

and BroadCloud provide the most extensive set of UC features and applications available for both

enterprise and consumer applications We also believe BroadWorks is the most feature rich application

server for fixed-line mobile and cable broadband access networks BroadCloud allows service

providers to quickly market to their customers cloud-based PBX functionality as well as additional

complementary UC offerings and BroadTouch allows end users to access UC services from multitude

of devices

Demonstrated carrier a4option globally across many service provider networks Over 520 service

providers in more than 69 countries have purchased and/or are delivering services utilizing our

software including 19 of the top 25 telecommunications service providers globally

Broad interoperability across network equipment vendors network architectures and devices

BroadWorksinteroperates with all significant network architectures such as IMS and Next Generation

Network architectures access types infrastructures and protocols and integrates and interoperates

with the major network equipment vendors core network solutions

Extensive technology and device partner ecosystem BroadWorks interoperates with more than 620

devices including more than 540 CPE devices such as IF phones computer-based soft-phones

conferencing devices IP gateways mobile phones and consumer electronics

Scalable architecture and carrier-grade reliability Our applications are designed to scale to support

hundreds of millions of subscribers with carrier-grade level of reliability

Leadership in emerging standards and requirements We are actively involved in the development of

the IMS SIP and VoLTE standards as well as several other standards that we expect to shape our

market in the future Our BroadWorks application server supports what we believe is the worlds

largest IMS deployment based on the number of subscribers



Our Strategy

Our goal is to strengthen our position as the leading global provider of IP communications application servers by

enabling service providers to increase revenue opportunities by delivering feature-rich services to their enterprise

and consumer subscribers Key elements of our strategy include

Extend our technology leadership and product depth and breadth We intend to provide an industry-

leading solution through continued focus on product innovation and substantial investment in research

and development for new features applications and services

Provide UC-One bundled offerings We expect to provide prepackaged seamlessly integrated elements

of BroadWorks BroadCloud and BroadTouch to better enable new and existing customers to drive

adoption of their hosted UC offerings

Drive revenue growth by

Assisting our current service provider customers sell more of their currently-deployed

Broad Works BroadCloud services and BroadTouch offerings We support our service provider

customers by regularly offering enhanced and new features to their current applications as well as

providing tools and training to help them market their services to subscribers

Selling new applications and features to our current service provider customers Although our

initial engagement with service provider may be for single initiative or business unit once

service provider deploys services using our core applications communications platform we

believe we are well-positioned to sell additional applications and features to that service provider

as software BroadWorks and/or through our BroadCloud services delivery platform These

BroadSoft service offerings can be tied together with service provider-branded BroadTouch

mobile smartphone tablet and personal computer clients

Continuing to acquire new customers Our customers are located around the world and include

19 of the top 25 telecommunications service providers globally We believe we are well

positioned to grow by adding customers in regions where we already have strong presence by

expanding our geographic footprint and by penetrating more deeply into some types of service

provider customers such as additional cable and mobile service providers

Pursue selected acquisitions and collaborations that complement our strategy We intend to

continue to pursue acquisitions and collaborations where we believe they are strategic to

strengthen our industry leadership position or allow us to offer new or complementary products or

services

Our Platform

Service providers can offer their subscribers comprehensive portfolio of enterprise and consumer

communications services using BroadWorks BroadCloud and BroadTouch We typically license BroadWorks

and BroadTouch on per-subscriber per-feature basis and we can deploy either in variety of network

configurations matching the needs of fixed-line mobile and cable service providers We typically sell our

BroadCloud services on per-month per-user basis

BroadSoft Enterprise Applications

Hosted Unified Communications

Hosted unified communications products enable service providers to offer enterprises advanced IP PBX and UC
features through hosted service rather than through premises-based equipment such as PBXs As enterprise

needs become more complex and as enterprise budgets are more closely controlled we believe enterprise

demand for cost-effective and feature-rich applications such as multimedia mobility and UC is growing We also

believe the delivery of advanced IP PBX and UC features in hosted model is simpler to implement and more

cost efficient for both the service provider and enterprise customer than premises-based alternatives



The advanced IP PBX and UC features we offer to enterprises through hosted unified communications

applications include

PBX functionality such as call control call waiting call forwarding and conference calling in each

case across multiple locations

real-time multimedia communications support for voice and video calling

integration of offerings across fixed and mobile devices and networks

integrated voice video and fax messaging

enhanced features such as auto attendants call centers and conferencing

UC features such as presence TM and e-mail integration and collaboration

open APIs for third-party application development that complements the core call control functionality

clients which are devices and software that request information for feature control and administration

regulatory functions such as emergency calling E9 and lawful intercept CALEA and

geographic redundancy and disaster recovery

BroadCloud Unified Communications Service Delivery Platform

BroadCloud enables us to offer our service provider customers communications applications such as BroadCloud

PBX functionality as well as web collaboration video conferencing and fixed line short message service or

SMS from our cloud service delivery platform With BroadCloud offerings we are able to expedite our service

provider customers time to market by hosting this set of applications such as UC solutions and enhanced

consumer services in our network The BroadCloud PBX offering includes the hosted PBX capabilities of

BroadWorks but delivered from our network plusan operating and business support system OSSIBSS layer

Broad Touch IP Communications Clients

We enable our service provider customers to offer compelling end-user client experiences utilizing our

BroadTouch IP clients for personal computers smartphones and tablets these clients are often referred to as

soft phones Broadlouch clients allow enterprise and consumer end-users the full range of the service

providers BroadSoft UC services through service provider-branded client experience

UC-One

Our UC-One offering is set of bundled UC services that allows service providers to offer their customers the

ability to communicate from any of the users devices using one familiar easy to use user interface Our UC One

offerings are optimized for range of network architectures and all UC-One products and services have been

architected to provide full mobile integration The UC-One platform was designed to give service providers the

flexibility to integrate third-party applications with their offerings so they can meet the communications needs of

the market segments they serve

SIP Trunking

BroadWorks SIP Trunking enables service providers to provide IP interconnectivity and additional services to

enterprises that already have CPE-based IP PBXs PBXs and/or video endpoints With SIP Trunking service

providers are able to bundle voice which interconnects to either circuit or IP-based networks and data over

single converged IP pipe creating more economical offering than can be achieved with separate voice and data

connections We believe BroadWorks-powered service providers can differentiate their SIP Trunking service

offerings and increase revenue by offering enhanced services such as UC video mobility global four-digit

dialing and business continuity in connection with their core SIP Trunking service offerings



Since BroadWorks hosted UC and SIP Trunking applications share the same software and platform service

providers can easily and cost-effectively expand their addressable markets by offering hosted UC services in

conjunction with SIP Trunking This hybrid offering is attractive to multi-site enterprises that have some

environments using premises-based PBXs and others that are hosted Despite their complex legacy systems

service providers can use BroadWorks to deliver consistent set of mobility multimedia and application

integration capabilities to all end-users across these enterprises

BroadSoft Consumer Applications

Our consumer IP applications offer voice and multimedia telephony services with voice calling video calling

enhanced messaging content sharing and web interfaces They also provide full regulatory compliance for fixed-

line mobile and cable service providers Additionally we enable service providers to differentiate their offerings

through advanced feature sets for managing family and small office/residential office communications including

multiple lines video calling and mobility support

BroadSoft Xtended and Xcelerate Programs

Our BroadSoft Xtended program is designed to enable our service provider customers to create and/or deploy

highly differentiated IP-based communications services using BroadWorks BroadSoft Xtended is premised on

three operating principles

Expanding familiarity with web services APIs The powerful RESTful Xtended Services Interface or

Xsi exposes our BroadWorks software to other applications

Maintaining community An innovative developer community driven by the BroadSoft Xtended

developer program is created and

Promoting commerce The Xtended Marketplace allows developers to monetize their applications by

enabling service providers to purchase developer applications through the Xtended Marketplace

While our Xtended program is still at an early stage of market acceptance we believe the applications made

available in the Xtended Marketplace will increase functionality for subscribers which will in turn make them

more likely to maintain their subscriptions with our customers

Our BroadSoft Xcelerate program focuses on and fosters successful go-to-market initiatives with our service

provider customers from target offers to sales and marketing efforts Our go-to-market consultants help service

providers prepare to launch market and sell their service offerings to their end-users We generally seek to help

the service providers by providing best-practice framework and resources such as templates marketing

workshops and planning guides to accelerate the launch and development of our applications to their subscribers

Technology

We have invested significant time and financial resources into the development of our suite of product offerings

Our BroadWorks code base comprises over four and half million lines of software code refined over 13 years

and 19 major releases While the predominant industry approach has been to use proprietary standards which

greatly limits interoperability our technology strategy is to adopt and extend leading open standards with the

objectives of providing the widest level of interoperability in the industry Our products implement diverse set

of industry protocols such as SIP DIAMETER SNMP SOAP and RESTful-based interfaces allowing for the

successful penetration of the service provider market across different types of architectures access types and

infrastructures

Our technology includes software-based server functions and software clients designed for scalability and

performance Our server functions provide number of discrete capabilities including call control and signaling

media processing and provisioning interfaces to back office infrastructure Our software clients run on variety



of devices including smartphones tablets and personal computers Our open interfaces allow service providers

to quickly and easily integrate with mobile applications back office systems web portals and network

infrastructure and also permits them to deploy applications that complement the functionality of the servers

Because the solution reaches the service providers subscribers we believe this end-to-end integration is critical

to ensure the usability look and feel of the service offering is superior

The key elements of our technology are

SIP We believe we have the industrys most customer-tested and fully functioned SIP stack Because

we developed the software ourselves we can rapidly customize it and resolve any related issues We
have developed SIP extensions for many advanced PBX functions such as advanced call control and

bridged line appearances Our SIP stack provides programmable controls on per-device basis to allow

for maximum compatibility and interoperability We have achieved full interoperability with over 620

SIP-based devices and applications We have validated our stack and deployed it with leading IMS

core network vendors

Java-based BroadWorks is one of the first real-time Java-based applications in the

telecommunications industry Java allows for rapid software development with better quality than

traditional programming languages such as C/C without reliance on third-party service delivery

platforms We manage all of the BroadWorks software source code with the exception of the database

technology which is provided by Oracle We leverage open source software when appropriate for

swift time-to-market and reduced research and development expenses

Call control We have developed patented architecture for service definition service execution

interface abstraction event routing and service precedence This provides an extensible pattern for

creating and adding new services and/or interfaces without an impact on existing functionality

Interfaces are abstracted so that services can be written to work with any protocol This approach yields

product we believe is easier to test and consequently has fewer defects as evidenced by current

support for over 200 services BroadSoft has evolved the service operating system to natively support

the IMS call model

Geographic redundancy We have designed geographically redundant solution tailored for call

control that requires no special software and uses standard IP networking configurations with standard

IP addressing This solution supports seamless failover for server outages and IP networking issues It

also allows for placement of servers in any geography without distance limitations The solution is

supported by leading IMS core network vendors and session border controller vendors Our solution

has proven greater than 99.999% reliability with over nine years of historical data

Common OAMP platform BroadWorks has common management container for all BroadSoft

servers providing consistent functions for operations administration management and provisioning or

OAMP It supports identical carrier grade management interfaces on all servers and includes functions

for command line interfaces alarms statistics configuration charging security and provisioning It is

fully tested and validated with leading carrier network management systems and customer care systems

and proven carrier grade in over 80 Tier telecommunications service providers It works on standard

servers as well as virtualized servers

Media resource framework We have developed completely software-based media resource

framework for dual-tone multi-frequency detection media playback recording conferencing and

repeating The framework supports all de facto standard audio and video codecs It supports the

Internet Engineering Task Force or IETF and the 3rd Generation Partnership Project or 3GPP
standard protocols including the standard format for specifying interactive voice dialogues between

human and computer VoiceXML and call control extensible markup language or CCXML which

provides telephony support to VoiceXML The framework can be integrated with all leading voice

recognition and text-to-speech engines Using an exclusively software-based technology has allowed us

to offer very high capacity media server using low-cost off-the-shelf hardware platforms We



developed the media server framework internally using open source software We believe it not only

provides us with technical advantage over our competition but also strong commercial advantage

since we can bundle this technology with BroadWorks and

Client technology We support full suite of smartphone tablet and personal computer voice over IP

or VoIP clients These clients provide audio and video calling IM presence conferences

collaboration and service management They are designed to be integrated with our network software

and cloud services providing superior user experience

Global Support Services

Providing broad range of professional support services is an integral part of our business model We offer

services designed to deliver comprehensive support to our service provider customers and distribution partners

through every stage of product deployment Our services can be categorized as follows

Pre-sales support Our worldwide sales engineering group works with our direct sales force to provide

demonstrations architecture consulting interoperability testing and related services in connection with

product sales opportunities to establish the capability functionality scalability and interoperability of

our software with service providers network

Professional services Our professional services group provides installation services such as planning

consulting and staging of software on the customers hardware as well as installation and network

integration services project management and remote upgrades We also offer our customers the option

of longer-term engagements in the form of resident engineering services In addition we offer full

suite of consulting services including network planning network architecture definition back office

consulting and solution verification

Global operations centers We maintain operations centers in several locations around the world to

provide our customers with product life-cycle services such as platform support and maintenance

services We also host our BroadCloud offerings in select operations centers Members of our technical

assistance center and regional project management and professional services teams provide remote

assistance to customers via these locations and our in-depth web support portal including periodic

updates for our software products and product documentation To respond to our customers needs our

technical assistance personnel are available 24 hours day seven days week and accessible by

phone e-mail and when required on-site via professional services engagement and

Training We offer an array of training services to our customers which include systems

administration provisioning and advanced diagnostic courses We present these courses regularly at

our regional centers and headquarters and we also can deliver versions of the courses at customer sites

We also offer product and feature training via streaming video courses which we refer to as our

eLearning offerings as well as full product certification program that is available through our

BroadSoft University website

We believe our commitment to providing high-quality services to our customers provides us with competitive

advantage by helping us to retain customers and to identify new revenue opportunities

Sales and Marketing

We market and sell our products and services directly through our internal sales force and indirectly through

our distribution partners such as VARs and system integrators For the years ended December 31 2012 2011

and 2010 approximately 82% 79% and 70% respectively of our revenue was generated through direct sales

and 18% 21% and 30% respectively was generated indirectly through distribution partners

Direct sales Our direct sales team sells our products and services to service providers worldwide and supports

the sales efforts of our various distribution partners We have employees in 23 countries supporting our

customers and distribution partners in more than 69 countries
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Distribution partners In an effort to acquire new customers we sometimes enter into non-exclusive distribution

or reseller agreements with distribution partners such as VARs and system integrators We predominantly

engage with distribution partner in connection with marketing to international service providers Our

agreements with our distribution partners typically have duration of one to two years and provide for full

spectrum of sales and marketing services product implementation services technical and training support and

warranty protection These agreements generally do not contain minimum sales requirements and we ordinarily

do not offer contractual rights of return or price protection to our distribution partners As of December 31 2012

we had approximately 63 distribution partners Our partners include many of the largest networking and

telecommunications equipment vendors in the world as well as regionally focused system
and network

integrators We may seek to selectively add distribution partners particularly in additional countries outside the

United States to complement or expand our business

Marketing and product management Our marketing and product management teams focus their marketing

efforts on increasing our company and brand awareness heightening product awareness and specifying our

competitive advantages as well as generating qualified sales leads from existing and prospective customers As

part of marketing our products and services we communicate enhancements and new capabilities convey

reference solutions that we develop with our partners and announce successful end-user market offerings jointly

with our service providers Within our industry we work to influence next generation service architectures and

service provider requirements globally by actively contributing to industry-related standards organizations

conferences publications and analyst consulting services Additionally we work closely with service providers

to develop subscriber loyalty and share successful best practices through user conferences on-site seminars

monthly webinars social networking campaigns and newsletters

Customers

Our products and services have been sold to more than 520 service providers in over 69 countries These

companies have either purchased products or services directly from us or have purchased our software through

one of our distribution partners Our installed customer base includes 19 of the top 25 telecommunications

service providers globally Our customers include fixed-line mobile cable and Internet service providers As

result of the diversity of service providers comprising our customer base our products are used in broad array

of services applications network types and business models worldwide

Revenue from customers located outside the United States represented 43% 45% and 46% of our total revenue

in 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively For the year ended December 31 2012 no customer accounted for 10% or

more of our revenues For the year ended December 31 2011 Teistra Corporation Limited or Teistra accounted

for 11 of our total revenue and for the year ended December 31 2010 Verizon accounted for 15% of our total

revenue

Research and Development

Continued investment in research and development is critical to our business We have assembled team of

engineers primarily engaged in research and development with expertise in various fields of communications

and software development Our research and development department is responsible for designing developing

and enhancing our software products and performing product testing and quality assurance activities as well as

ensuring the interoperability of our products with third-party hardware and software products We also validate

and produce solution guides for joint reference solutions with our partners that specify infrastructure components

and management functions We employ advanced software development tools including automated testing

performance and capacity testing source code control requirements traceability and defect tracking systems

Research and development expense
totaled $36.2 million $27.7 million and $19.6 million for 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively
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Competition

The market for JP application offerings is extremely competitive rapidly evolving and subject to changing

technology We expect competition to persist and intensify in the future We believe that the principal

competitive factors in our industry include product features and performance interoperability time required for

application deployment scalability customer support offerings customer relationships partner relationships

pricing and total deployment costs

Currently our primary direct competitors consist of established network equipment companies including

Alcatel-Lucent Avaya Inc Cisco Systems Inc Ericsson AB GENBAND Inc Huawei Technologies Co Ltd
Mavenir Systems Inc Metaswitch Networks Microsoft Corporation and Nokia-Siemens Networks B.V Some

of the network equipment companies with which we have non-exclusive distributor partnerships may also

provide as package their own network equipment in combination with IP application software that they have

developed

Many of our current and potential competitors may have significantly greater financial technical marketing and

other resources than we do and may be able to devote greater resources to the development promotion sale and

support of their products Our competitors may also have more extensive customer bases and broader customer

relationships than we do including relationships with our potential customers In addition many of these

companies have longer operating histories and greater brand recognition than we do

Intellectual Property

Our success depends upon our ability to protect our core technology and intellectual property To accomplish

this we rely on combination of intellectual
property rights including patents trade secrets copyrights and

trademarks as well as customary confidentiality and other contractual protections We have been issued 20 U.s

patents We have also been issued several foreign patents all of which are counterparts to certain of the U.S

patents In addition we have total of 12 patent applications pending in the United States and several foreign

patent applications pending All foreign patent applications are counterparts to certain of the U.S patents or

patent applications Our registered trademarks in the United States include BroadSoft the BroadSoft logo

BroadWorks BroadSoft Xtended and BroadSoft Xcelerate BroadSoft and BroadWorks are also registered

trademarks in the European Community and number of other countries throughout the world We also have

pending trademark applications in the United States for among others BroadCloud and UC-One

In addition to the protections described above we generally control access to and use of our proprietary software

and other confidential information through the use of internal and external controls including contractual

protections with employees consultants customers and vendors and our software is protected by U.S and

international copyright laws We also incorporate number of third-party software programs into our products

including BroadWorks pursuant to license agreements Our software is not substantially dependent on any third-

party software with the exception of database technology that is provided by Oracle pursuant to license

agreement expiring in 2016 although our software does utilize open source code Notwithstanding the use of this

open source code we do not believe that our usage requires public disclosure of our own source code nor do we

believe the use of open source code is material to our business

We may not receive competitive advantages from the rights granted under our patent and other intellectual

property rights If our products patents or patent applications are found to conflict with any patents held by third

parties we could be prevented from selling our products our patents may be declared invalid or our patent

applications may not result in issued patents In foreign Countries we may not receive effective patent copyright

and trademark protection We may be required to initiate litigation to enforce any patents issued to us or to

determine the scope or validity of third partys patent or other proprietary rights In addition we are currently

subject to lawsuits and in the future we may be subject to additional lawsuits by third parties seeking to enforce

their own intellectual property rights See Item Legal Proceedings
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We license our software to customers pursuant to agreements that impose restrictions on the customers ability to

use the software including prohibitions on reverse engineering and limitations on the use of copies We also seek

to avoid disclosure of our intellectual property by requiring employees and consultants with access to our

proprietary information to execute nondisclosure and assignment of intellectual property agreements and by

restricting access to our source code Our employees and consultants may not comply with the terms of these

agreements and we may not be able to adequately enforce our rights against these non-compliant parties

Employees

As of December 31 2012 we had 611 employees 263 of whom were primarily engaged in research and

development 151 of whom were primarily engaged in sales and marketing 123 of whom were primarily

engaged in providing implementation and professional support services and 74 of whom were primarily engaged

in administration and finance majority of these employees are located in the United States None of our

employees is represented by labor union or covered by collective bargaining agreement We consider our

relationship with our employees to be good

Our Corporate Information

Our principal executive office is located at 9737 Washingtonian Boulevard Suite 350 Gaithersburg Maryland

20878 and our telephone number is 301 977-9440 Our website address is www.broadsoft.com
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Item 1A Risk Factors

Set forth below and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and in other documents we file with the SEC

are risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from the results contemplated by

the fbrward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Because of the following factors

as well as other variables affecting our operating results past financial performance should not be considered as

reliable indicator offuture performance and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or

trends in future periods

Risks Related to Our Business

We are substantially dependent upon the commercial success of one product Broad Works If the market for

Broad Works does not develop as we anticipate our revenue may decline or fail to grow which would

adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

Our future revenue growth depends upon the commercial success of our voice and multimedia application server

software BroadWorks We derive substantial portion of our revenue from licensing BroadWorks and related

products and services During the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 BroadWorks licenses and

related services represented 84% 87% and 86% of our revenue respectively We expect revenue from

BroadWorks and related products and services to continue to account for the significant majority of our revenue

for the foreseeable future

Because we generally sell licenses of BroadWorks on perpetual basis and deliver new versions and upgrades to

customers who purchase maintenance contracts our future license software revenue is dependent in part on the

success of our efforts to sell additional BroadWorks licenses to our existing service provider customers as well

as licenses to new customers The sale of new or additional licenses to service providers depends upon the

number of their customers subscribing to IP-based communications services rather than traditional services and

the purchasing by those subscribers of additional service offerings that use our applications These service

providers may choose not to expand their use of or make additional purchases of BroadWorks or might delay

additional purchases we expect These events could occur for number of reasons including because their

customers are not subscribing to IP-based communications services in the quantities expected because services

based upon our applications are not sufficiently popular or because service providers migrate to software

solution other than BroadWorks If service providers do not adopt purchase and successfully deploy

BroadWorks our revenue could grow at slower rate or decrease

Additionally with our introduction of our BroadCloud PBX offering new or existing customers may choose to

purchase our BroadCloud PBX products rather than BroadWorks If our customers purchases trend away from

BroadWorks perpetual licenses toward our BroadCloud hosted solutions or to the extent customers defer or

cancel BroadWorks orders due to evaluating BroadCloud PBX our BroadWorks revenues and our revenues and

or timing of revenues generally may be adversely affected which could adversely affect our results of operations

and financial condition

In addition because our sales are derived substantially from one product our share price could be

disproportionately affected by market perceptions of current or anticipated competing products allegations of

intellectual property infringement or other matters These perceptions even if untrue could cause our stock price

to decline

Our success depends in large part on service providers continued deployment of and investment in their IP

based networks

Our products are predominantly used by service providers to deliver voice and multimedia services over IP-based

networks As result our success depends significantly on these service providers continued deployment of and

investment in their IP-based networks and increased demand by their end-users for UC capabilities Service
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providers deployment of IP-based networks and their migration of communications services to IP-based

networks is still in its early stages and these service providers continued deployment of and investment in IP

based networks depends on number of factors outside of our control Among other elements service providers

legacy networks include PBXs Class switches and other equipment that may adequately perform certain basic

functions and could have remaining useful lives of 20 or more years and therefore may continue to operate

reliably for lengthy period of time Many other factors may cause service providers to delay their deployment

of or reduce their investments in their networks including capital constraints available capacity on

legacy networks competitive and pricing conditions within the telecommunications industry and regulatory

issues If service providersdo not continue deploying and investing in their IP-based networks at the rates we

expect for these or other reasons our operating results will be materially adversely affected

The loss of or significant reduction in orders from one or more major customers or through one or more

major distribution partners would reduce our revenue and harm our results

For the year ended December 31 2012 there were no customers with greater than 10% of our total revenue For

the
year

ended December 31 2011 Telstra accounted for 11% of our total revenue For the year ended

December 31 2010 Verizon accounted for approximately 15% of our total revenue Under our agreements with

Teistra and Verizon neither is required to purchase any minimum amount of our products or services Because of

the variability of the buying practices of our larger customers the composition of our most significant customers

is likely to change over time If we experience loss of one or more significant customers or distribution partners

including for example the loss of Telstra or Verizon or if we suffer substantial reduction in orders from one or

more of our significant customers or distribution partners and we are unable to sell directly or indirectly to new

customers or increase orders from other existing customers to offset lost revenue our business will be harmed

In addition continued consolidation in the telecommunications industry has further reduced the number of

potential customers This consolidation heightens the likelihood of our dependence on relatively small number

of customers and distribution partners and increases the risk of quarterly and annual fluctuations in our revenue

and operating results In addition given the current global economic conditions there is risk that one or more

of our customers or distribution partners could cease operations Any downturn in the business of our key

customers or distribution
partners could significantly decrease our sales which could adversely affect our total

revenue and results of operations

Our revenue operating results and
gross margin can fluctuate significantly and unpredictably from quarter to

quarter and from year to year and we expect they will continue to do so which could cause the trading price

of our stock to decline

The rate at which our customers order our products and the size of these orders are highly variable and difficult

to predict In the past we have experienced significant variability in our customer purchasing practices on

quarterly and annual basis and we expect that this variability will continue as result of number of factors

many of which are beyond our control including

demand for our products and the timing and size of customer orders

length of sales cycles

length of time of deployment of our products by our customers

customers budgetary constraints

competitive pressures and

general economic conditions

As result of this volatilityin our customers purchasing practices our license software revenue has historically

fluctuated unpredictably on quarterly and annual basis and we expect this to continue for the foreseeable future
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Our budgeted expense
levels depend in part on our expectations of future revenue Because any substantial

adjustment to expenses to account for lower levels of revenue is difficult and takes time if our revenue declines

our operating expenses and general overhead would likely be high relative to revenue which could have

material adverse effect on our operating margin and operating results

In addition to the unpredictability of customer orders our quarterly and annual results of operations are also

subject to significant fluctuation as result of the application of accounting regulations and related

interpretations and policies regarding revenue recognition under generally accepted accounting principles in the

United States or GAAP Compliance with these revenue recognition rules has resulted in our deferral of the

recognition of revenue in connection with the sale of our software licenses maintenance and services The

majority of our deferred revenue balance consists of software license orders that do not meet all the criteria for

revenue recognition and the undelivered portion of maintenance Although we typically use standardized license

agreements designed to meet current revenue recognition criteria under GAAP we must often negotiate and

revise terms and conditions of these standardized agreements particularly in multi-element transactions with

larger customers who often desire customized features which causes us to defer revenue until all elements are

delivered As our transactions increase in complexity with the sale of larger multi-product licenses negotiation

of mutually acceptable terms and conditions with our customers can require us to defer recognition of revenue on

such licenses

The cumulative effects of these factors could result in large fluctuations and unpredictability in our quarterly and

annual operating results This variability and unpredictability could result in our failing to meet the expectations

of securities industry analysts or investors for any period If we fail to meet or exceed such expectations for these

or any other reasons the market price of our shares could fall substantially and we could face costly securities

class action suits Therefore you should not rely on our operating results in any quarter or year as being

indicative of our operating results for any future period

Lengthy and unpredictable sales cycles may force us either to assume unfavorable pricing orpayment terms

and conditions or to abandon sale altogether

Our initial sales cycle for new customer ranges generally between six and 12 months and sometimes more than

two years Our sales cycle can be very unpredictable due to

the generally lengthy service provider product testing evaluation and approval process for our

products including internal reviews and capital expenditure approvals

the evolving nature of the market which may lead prospective customers to postpone their purchasing

decisions pending resolution of standards or adoption of technology by others

our service provider customers increasingly asking us to participate in complex transactions involving

multiple parties developing platform or telecommunications solution for the service provider and

customers making critical decisions regarding the design and implementation of large network

deployments engaging in
very lengthy procurement processes

Additionally after we make an initial sale to customer its implementation of our products can be very time

consuming often requiring six to 24 months or more particularly in the case of larger service providers This

lengthy implementation and deployment process can result in significant delay before we receive an additional

order from that customer

As result of these lengthy sales cycles we are sometimes required to assume terms or conditions that negatively

affect pricing or payment for our products to consummate sale Doing so can negatively affect our gross margin

and results of operations Alternatively if service providers ultimately insist upon terms and conditions that we

deem too onerous or not to be commercially prudent we may incur substantial
expenses

and devote time and

resources to potential relationships that never result in completed sales or revenue If this result becomes

prevalent it could have material adverse impact on our results of operations
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Infringement claims are common in our industry and third parties including competitors have and could in

the future assert infringement claims against us including for past infringement which could force us to

redesign our software and incur significant costs

The IP-based communications industry is highly competitive and IP-based technologies are complex Companies

file patents covering these technologies frequently and maintain programs to protect their intellectualproperty

portfolios Some of these companies actively search for and routinely bring claims against alleged infringers

Our products are technically complex and compete with the products of significantly larger companies

We periodically receive notices from or have lawsuits filed against us by others claiming we are infringing their

intellectual property rights principally patent rights We expect the number of such claims may increase for

variety of reasons including

the expansion of our product lines through product development and acquisitions

our real or perceived success in selling our products to our customers

the proliferation of non-practicing entities asserting intellectual property infringement claims

an increase in the number of competitors in our industry segments the resulting increase in the number

of related products and services and the overlap in the functionality of those products and services and

an increase in the risk that our competitors and third parties could use their own intellectual property

rights to seek to restrain our freedom to operate and exploit our products or to otherwise block us from

taking full advantage of our markets

The visibility we receive from being public company may result in greater number of such allegations

Regardless of the merit of third-party claims that we infringe their rights these claims could

be time consuming and costly to defend

divert our managements attention and resources

cause product shipment and installation delays

require us to redesign our products which may not be feasible or cost-effective

cause us to cease producing licensing or using software or products that incorporate challenged

intellectual
property

damage our reputation and cause customer reluctance to license our products or

require us to pay amounts for past infringement or enter into royalty or licensing agreements to obtain

the right to use necessary product or component which may not be available on terms acceptable to

us or at all

It is possible that other companies hold patents covering technologies similar to one or more of the technologies

that we incorporate into our products In addition new patents may be issued covering these technologies Unless

and until the U.S Patent and Trademark Office issues patent to an applicant there is no reliable way to assess

the scope of the potential patent We currently face and may in the future face claims of infringement from both

holders of issued patents and depending upon the timing scope and content of patents that have not yet been

issued patents issued in the future The application of patent law to the software industry is particularly uncertain

because the time that it takes for software-related patent to issue is lengthy which increases the likelihood of

pending patent applications claiming inventions whose priority dates may pre-date development of our own

proprietary software

The results of litigation and claims cannot be predicted with certainty and an unsuccessful outcome in claim of

intellectual property infringement could have material adverse effect on our business Moreover even if

litigation or claims are resolved in our favor or without significant cash settlements the time and resources

necessary to litigate or resolve them could harm our business our operating results financial condition or

reputation
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We are generally obligated to indemnify our customers for certain expenses and liabilities resulting from

intellectual property infringement claims regarding our software which could force us to incur substantial

costs

We have agreed and expect to continue to agree to indemnify our customers for certain expenses or liabilities

resulting from claimed infringement of intellectual property rights of third parties with respect to our software

As result in the case of infringement claims against these customers we could be required to indemnify them

for losses resulting from such claims or to refund license fees they have paid to us Some of our customers have

sought and we expect certain of our customers in the future to seek indemnification from us in connection with

infringement claims brought against them In addition some of our customers have tendered to us the defense of

claims brought against them for infringement and we have received these requests with increasing frequency in

recent years We evaluate each such request on case-by-case basis and we may not succeed in refuting all such

claims

If customer elects to invest resources in enforcing claim for indemnification against us we could incur

significant costs disputing it If we do not succeed in disputing it we could face substantial liability

We may be unable to adequately protect our intellectual property rights in internally developed systems and

software and efforts to protect them may be costly

Our ability to compete effectively is dependent in part upon the maintenance and protection of systems and

software that we have developed internally While we hold issued patents and pending patent applications

covering certain elements of our technology patent laws may not provide adequate protection for portions of the

technology that are important to our business In addition our pending patent applications may not result in

issued patents

On September 16 2011 significant patent reform legislation entitled the America Invents Act was signed into

law Among other things the act changes the law on U.S patent priority from first to conceive priority to

first to conceive and file priority In other words the first person or entity to file patent application on

particular subject matter is deemed to have priority over any other applicant who files an application on the same

subject matter in the future regardless of who first conceived or reduced to practice the claimed invention This

change in patent priority law may make it more difficult for us to obtain U.S patents in the future

The act also creates alternative avenues to challenge the validity of issued U.S patents other than the existing

methods of litigation and reexaminations These new avenues may make it easier and less expensive for third

parties to petition the U.S Patent and Trademark Office to cancel one or more issued patent claims The act also

provides new defense to infringement based upon prior commercial use for any patents issued on or after the

date of enactment of the act This new defense may make it more difficult for U.S patent holder to successfully

assert an infringement claim against third party that has commercially used the patented technology at least one

year prior to the earlier of the effective date of the claimed invention or the date on which the claimed invention

was disclosed to the public Although the effectiveness of these new procedures and defenses will depend on

regulations to be promulgated by the U.S Patent and Trademark Office as well as future court decisions

interpreting the act these provisions may make it more difficult for us to protect our intellectual property rights

through U.S patents

We have largely relied on copyright trade secret and to lesser extent trademark laws as well as confidentiality

procedures and agreements with our employees consultants customers and vendors to control access to and

distribution of technology software documentation and other confidential information Despite these

precautions it may be possible for third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use our technology without

authorization If this were to occur we could lose revenue as result of competition from products infringing our

technology and we may be required to initiate litigation to protect our proprietary rights and market position
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U.S patent copyright and trade secret laws offer us only limited protection and the laws of some foreign

countries do not protect proprietary rights to the same extent Accordingly defense of our proprietary technology

may become an increasingly important issue as we continue to expand our operations and product development

into countries that provide lower level of intellectual property protection than the United States Policing

unauthorized use of our technology is difficult and the steps we take may not prevent misappropriation of the

technology we rely on If competitors are able to use our technology without recourse our ability to compete

would be harmed and our business would be materially and adversely affected

We may elect to initiate litigation in the future to enforce or protect our proprietary rights or to determine
tTie

validity and scope of the rights of others That litigation may not be ultimately successful and could result in

substantial costs to us the diversion of our management attention and harm to our reputation any of which could

materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations

We may not be able to obtain necessary licenses of third-party technology on acceptable terms or at all which

could delay product sales and development and adversely impact product quality

We have incorporated third-party licensed technology into our current products For example we use thiM

party database as the core database for our applications server We anticipate that we are also likely to neel to

license additional technology from third parties to develop new products or product enhancements in the fture

Third-party licenses may not be available or continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms

The inability to retain any third-party licenses required in our current products or to obtain any new third-party

licenses to develop new products and product enhancements could require us to obtain substitute technology of

lower quality or performance standards or at greater cost and delay or prevent us from making these products or

enhancements any of which could seriously harm the competitive position of our products

Our software must interoperate with many different networks software applications and hardware products

and this interoperability will depend on the continued prevalence of open standards

Our software is designed to interoperate with our customers existing and planned networks which have varied

and complex specifications utilize multiple protocol standards software applications and products from

numerous vendors and contain multiple products that have been added over time As result we must attempt to

ensure that our software interoperates effectively with these existing and planned networks To meet these

requirements we have and must continue to undertake development and testing efforts that require significant

capital and employee resources We may not accomplish these development efforts quickly or cost-effectively or

at all If our software does not interoperate effectively installations could be delayed or orders for our software

could be cancelled which would harm our revenue gross margins and our reputation potentially resulting in the

loss of existing and potential customers The failure of our software to interoperate effectively with our

customers networks may result in significant warranty support and repair costs divert the attention of our

engineering personnel from our software development efforts and cause significant customer relations problems

We have entered into arrangements with number of equipment and software vendors for the use or integration

of their technology with our software These arrangements give us access to and enable our software to

interoperate with various products that we do not otherwise offer If these relationships terminate we may have

to devote substantially more resources to the development of alternative software and processes and our efforts

may not be as effective as the combined solutions under our current arrangements In some cases these other

vendors are either companies that we compete with directly or companies that have extensive relationships with

our existing and potential customers and may have influence over the purchasing decisions of those customers

Some of our competitors may have stronger relationships with some of our existing and potential vendors and as

result our ability to have successful interoperability arrangements with these companies may be harmed Our

failure to establish or maintain key relationships with third-party equipment and software vendors may hrm our

ability to successfully market and sell our software
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Additionally the interoperability of our software with multiple different networks is significantly dependent on

the continued prevalence of standards for IP multimedia services such as 1MS Some of our existing and

potential competitors are network equipment providers who could potentially benefit from the deployment of

their own proprietary non-standards-based architectures If resistance to open standards by network equipment

providers becomes prevalent it could make it more difficult for our software to interoperate with our customers

networks which would have material adverse effect on our ability to sell our software to service providers

We may not be able to detect errors or defects in our software until after full deployment and product liability

claims by customers could result in substantial costs

Our software is sophisticated and is designed to be deployed in large and complex telecommunications networks

Because of the nature of our software they can only be fully tested when substantially deployed in very large

networks with high volumes of telecommunications traffic Some of our customers have only recently begun to

commercially deploy our software and they may discover errors or defects in the software or the software may

not operate as expected Because we may not be able to detect these problems until full deployment any errors or

defects in our software could affect the functionality of the networks in which they are deployed As result the

time it may take us to rectify errors can be critical to our customers Because of the complexity of our software it

may take material amount of time for us to resolve errors or defects if we can resolve them at all The

likelihood of such errors or defects is heightened as we acquire new products from third parties whether as

result of acquisitions or otherwise

If one of our software products fails and we are unable to fix the errors or other performance problems

expeditiously or at all we could experience

damage to our reputation which may result in the loss of existing or potential customers and market

share

payment of liquidated damages for performance failures

loss of or delay in revenue recognition

increased service support warranty product replacement and product liability insurance costs as well

as diversion of development resources and

costly and time-consuming legal actions by our customers which could result in significant damages

Any of the above events would likely have material adverse impact on our business revenue results of

operations financial condition and reputation

Data privacy concerns could result in additional cost and liability to us or inhibit sales of our offerings

Use of the BroadWorks platform and our BroadCloud offerings can involve the storage and transmission of an

end-users business and personally identifiable information Thus maintaining the security of computers

computer networks and data storage resources is critical issue for us and our service provider customers as

security breaches could result in the loss of and/or unauthorized access to this information Data privacy is

significant issue in the United States and in many other countries where we offer our hosted services The

regulatory framework for privacy issues worldwide is complex dynamic and likely to remain uncertain for the

foreseeable future

In the United States there are multiple state and federal laws governing the collection use and disclosure of the

information we store and
process

in our systems For example the Electronic Communications Privacy Act

protects electronic communications among other things The Federal Trade Commission Act which prohibits
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unfair and deceptive privacy practices covers acts that are unfair or deceptive to consumers Customer

Proprietary Network Information rules restrict use of call records the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act protects

users from unauthorized collection of data from computer or device the Communications Assistance for Law

Enforcement Act of 1994 requires VoIP operators to assist law enforcement with communications monitoring

and the Cable Privacy Act of 1984 places restrictions on disclosure of any personally identifiable information

related to cable subscriber among other things

Internationally virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and privacy

legal framework with which we our service providers and our customers must comply including the Data

Protection Directive established in the European Union and the Federal Data Protection Act in Germany which

place broad restrictions on use and collection of personal data including restrictions on cross-border data flows

Further many federal state and foreign government bodies and agencies have introduced and are currently

considering additional laws and regulations If passed we will likely incur additional expenses and costs

associated with complying with such laws In addition to government regulation privacy advocacy and industry

groups may propose new and different self-regulatory standards that either legally or contractually apply to us

Our customers may also propose other new and different privacy standards contractually

Because the interpretation and application of privacy and data protection laws are still uncertain and industry

standards are constantly in flux it is possible that these laws and industry standards may impose requirements

that are inconsistent with our and our service providers existing data management practices or the features of

our hosted services If so in addition to the possibility of fines lawsuits and other claims and contractual

requirements we and our service providers could be required or compelled to fundamentally change our business

activities and practices or modify our hosted services which could have an adverse effect on our business Any

inability to adequately address privacy concerns even if unfounded or comply with applicable privacy or data

protection laws regulations and policies and industry standards could result in additional costs and other

burdens imposed by the privacy laws regulations and policies that are applicable to the businesses of our

customers may limit the use of adoptions of and reduce the overall demand for our hosted services Privacy and

security concerns whether valid or not valid may inhibit market adoption of our hosted services particularly in

certain foreign countries that perceive the U.S as having lesser privacy protections

If our security measures are breached or unauthorized access to data on our cloud-based networks is

otherwise obtained we may incur significant liabilities under U.S and foreign laws and our hosted services

may be perceived as being vulnerable causing customers to reduce their use of or stop using our hosted

services

Our cloud-based services involve the storage and transmission of large amount of data and may include

personally identifiable data and security breaches could result in the loss of unauthorized disclosure of this

information degradation of our services or denial of ability of users to access our products and service If our

security measures are breached even as result of third-party action employee error malfeasance or otherwise

such breaches could result in negative publicity that causes our reputation to be damaged our business may

suffer and we could incur significant legal fines and other financial exposure

In the United States there are multiple state and federal laws governing the security and protection of the

information we store and process in our systems For example the Federal Trade Commission or the FTC
frequently investigates and brings enforcement actions against businesses whose data protection disclosure or

sharing practices are perceived by the FTC as being unfair or deceptive to consumers Many states require

companies to use reasonable safeguards to protect data and most states require that in the event of breach of

our data security systems involving sensitive data we notify every person potentially affected by such breach and

to pay considerable damages Because techniques used to obtain unauthorized access or sabotage systems change

frequently and are often difficult to identify until they are launched against target we may be unable to

anticipate these techniques or to implement adequate preventative measures
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We have no direct control over the substance of the content within our hosted network U.S law provides

considerable protections for any indirect liability as result of storing infringing or even illegal content in the

form of the Section 230 of the Communications Decency Act or the CDA which provides safe harbor against

claims that content stored on our cloud-based network invades consumer privacy or is indecent offensive

libelous profane pornographic or illegal The CDAs safe harbor only offers us partial protection however

because it only limits our legal liability against allegations that our service provider customer illegally uploaded

information to our servers it offers no protection whatsoever for claims arising from breach of our security

measures

Any or all of these could negatively impact our ability to attract new service provider customers and increase

engagement by existing service provider customers cause existing service provider customers to elect to not

renew their subscriptions subject us to third-party lawsuits regulatory fines or other action or liability thereby

increasing our costs and diverting management resources which could harm our operating results

We rely on third-party service providers to host some of our solutions and any interruptions or delays in

servkes from this third party could impair the deliveiy of our products and harm our business

We currently outsource some of our hosting services to third parties We do not control the operation of any third

party facilities These facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from natural disasters fires power loss

telecommunications failures and similarevents They are also subject to break-ins computer viruses sabotage

intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct The occurrence of any of these disasters or other

unanticipated problems could result in lengthy interruptions in our service Furthermore the availability of our

platform could be interrupted by number of additional factors including our customers inability to access the

Internet the failure of our network or software systems due to human or other error security breaches or ability

of the infrastructure to handle spikes in customer usage Interruptions in our service may reduce our revenue

cause us to issue credits or pay penalties cause customers to terminate their subscriptions and adversely affect

our renewal rates and our ability to attract new customers Our business will also be harmed if our customers and

potential customers believe our service is unreliable

The quality of our support and services offerings is important to our customers and wefail to offer high

quality support and services customers may not buy our software and our revenue may decline

Once our products are deployed within our customers networks our customers generally depend on our support

organization to resolve issues relating to those products high level of support is critical for the successful

marketing and sale of our software If we are unable to provide the necessary level of support and service to our

customers we could experience

loss of customers and market share

failure to attract new customers including in new geographic regions

increased service support and warranty costs and diversion of development resources and

network performance penalties including liquidated damages for periods of time that our customers

networks are inoperable

Any of the above results would likely have material adverse impact on our business revenue results of

operations financial condition and reputation

If we do not introduce and sell new and enhanced products in timely manner customers may not buy our

products and our revenue may decline

The market for communications software and services is characterized by rapid technological advances frequent

introductions of new products including via new deployment models such as cloud-based service offerings

evolving industry standards and recurring or unanticipated changes in customer requirements and deployment
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model preferences To succeed we must effectively anticipate and adapt in timely manner to customer

requirements and continue to develop or acquire new products and features that meet market demands and

technology and architectural trends This requires us to identify gain access to or develop new technologies or

service models The introduction of new or enhanced products also requires that we carefully manage the

transition from older products to minimize disruption in customer ordering practices and ensure that new

products can be timely delivered to meet demand We may also require additional capital to achieve these

objectives and we may be unable to obtain adequate financing on terms satisfactory to us or at all when we

require it As result our ability to continue to support our business growth and to respond to business

challenges could be significantly limited It is also possible that we may allocate significant amounts of cash and

other development resources toward product technologies or business models for which market demand is lower

than anticipated and as result are abandoned For example in the fall of 2012 we announced UC-One set of

bundled UC services that combines the capabilities of BroadWorks BroadTouch and BroadCloud enabled-

Unified Communications into consistent end-user experience We cannot guarantee that UC-One will be

successful or generate additional revenue from existing or new customers

Developing our products is expensive and complex and involves uncertainties We may not have sufficient

resources to successfully manage lengthy product development cycles For the
years

ended December 31 2012

2011 and 2010 our research and development expenses were $36.2 million or 22% of our total revenue $27.7

million or 20% of our total revenue and $19.6 million or 21% of our total revenue respectively We believe we

must continue to dedicate significant amount of resources to our research and development efforts to remain

competitive These investments may take several years to generate positive returns and they may never do so In

addition we may experience design manufacturing marketing and other difficulties that could delay or prevent

the development introduction or marketing of new products and enhancements If we fail to meet our

development targets demand for our products will decline

Furthermore because our products are based on complex technology we can experience unanticipated delays in

developing improving or deploying them Each phase in the development of our products presents serious risks

of failure rework or delay any one of which could impact the timing and cost effective development of such

product and could jeopardize customer acceptance of the product Intensive software testing and validation are

critical to the timely introduction of enhancements to several of our products and schedule delays sometimes

occur in the final validation phase Unexpected intellectual property disputes failure of critical design elements

and variety of other execution risks may also delay or even prevent the introduction of these products In

addition the introduction of new products by competitors the emergence of new industry standards or the

development of entirely new technologies to replace existing product offerings could render our existing or

future products obsolete If our products become technologically obsolete customers may purchase solutions

from our competitors and we may be unable to sell our products in the marketplace and generate revenue which

would likely have material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows

We may have difficulty managing our growth which could limit our ability to increase sales and adversely

affect our business operating results and financial condition

We have experienced significant growth in sales and operations in recent years We expect to continue to expand

our research and development sales marketing and support activities Our historical growth has placed and

planned further growth is expected to continue to place significant demands on our management as well as our

financial and operational resources to

manage larger organization

increase our sales and marketing efforts and add additional sales and marketing personnel in various

regions worldwide

recruit hire and train additional qualified staff

control expenses
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manage operations in multiple global locations and time zones

broaden our customer support capabilities

integrate acquisitions such as our acquisitions of Adaption Technologies Ventures Ltd or Adaption

Movial Applications Inc or Movial or iLinc Communications Inc or iLinc

implement appropriate operational administrative and financial systems to support our growth and

maintain effective financial disclosure controls and procedures

If we fail to manage our growth effectively we may not be able to execute our business strategies and our

business financial condition and results of operations would be adversely affected

We depend largely on the continued services of our co-founders Michael Tessler our President and Chief

Executive Officer and Scott Hoffpauir our Chief Technology Officer and the loss of either of them may

impair our ability to grow our business

The success of our business is largely dependent on the continued services of our senior management and other

highly qualified technical and management personnel In particular we depend to considerable degree on the

vision skills experience and effort of our co-founders Michael Tessler our President and Chief Executive

Officer and Scott Hoffpauir our Chief Technology Officer Neither of these officers is bound by written

employment agreement and either of them therefore may terminate employment with us at any time with no

advance notice The replacement of either of these two officers would likely involve significant time and costs

and the loss of either of these officers would significantly delay or prevent the achievement of our business

objectives

If we are unable to retain or hire key personne4 our ability to develop market and sell products could be

harmed

We believe that there is and will continue to be intense competition for highly skilled technical and other

personnel with experience in our industry in the Washington D.C area where our headquarters are located and

in other locations where we maintain offices We must provide competitive compensation packages and high-

quality work environment to hire retain and motivate employees If we are unable to retain and motivate our

existing employees and attract qualified personnel to fill key positions we may be unable to manage our business

effectively including the development marketing and sale of existing and new products which could have

material adverse effect on our business financial condition and operating results To the extent we hire personnel

from competitors we may be subject to allegations that they have been improperly solicited or divulged

proprietary or other confidential information

Volatility in or lack of performance of our stock price may also affect our ability to attract and retain key

personnel Our executive officers are vested in substantial amount of shares of common stock or stock options

Employees may be more likely to terminate their employment with us if the shares they own or the shares

underlying their vested options have significantly appreciated in value relative to the original purchase prices of

the shares or the exercise prices of the options or if the exercise prices of the options that they hold are

significantly above the market price of our common stock If we are unable to retain our employees our

business operating results and financial condition will be harmed

Our exposure to the credit risks of our customers may make it difficult to collect accounts receivable and

could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

In the course of our sales to customers we may encounter difficulty collecting accounts receivable and could be

exposed to risks associated with uncollectible accounts receivable Economic conditions may impact some of our

customers ability to pay their accounts payable
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While we attempt to monitor these situations carefully and attempt to take appropriate measures to collect

accounts receivable balances we have written down accounts receivable and written off doubtful accounts in

prior periods and may be unable to avoid accounts receivable write-downs or write-offs of doubtful accounts in

the future Such write-downs or write-offs could negatively affect our operating results for the period in which

they occur and could harm our operating results

General global economic conditions could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

As company with significant global sales we are subject to the risks arising from global economic and market

conditions The worldwide economy underwent unprecedented turmoil in the past four years and continues to

experience stock market volatility diminished liquidity and credit availability reduced corporate profits and

capital spending declining valuations of certain investments and economic uncertainties Although some of these

conditions appear to be abating there are number of mixed indicators the severity and length of time these

economic and market conditions may persist is unknown and the rate and
pace

of
recovery

in individual

economies is also uncertain The continuing uncertainty about future global economic conditions could

negatively impact our current and prospective customers by affecting their buying decisions or ability to obtain

financing for significant purchases and operations As result we could experience fewer orders longer sales

cycles slower adoption of new technologies by our customers and increased price competition any of which

could materially and adversely affect our business results of operations and financial condition Additionally

adverse economic conditions could force one or more of our key customers or distribution partners to cease

operations altogether

Adverse economic conditions also may negatively impact our ability to obtain payment for outstanding debts

owed to us by our customers or other parties with whom we do business which may lead to an increase in our

allowance for doubtful accounts and write-offs of accounts receivable Should these general economic conditions

result in our not meeting our revenue growth objectives it may have material adverse effect on our financial

conditions results of operations or cash flows

We have made number of acquisitions and we may undertake additional strategic transactions to further

expand our business which may pose risks to our business and dilute the ownership of our stockholders

As part of our growth strategy we have made number of acquisitions Most recently in August 2012 we

completed our acquisition of substantially all the assets of Adaption which was provider of hosted business

VoIP solutions The acquisition enabled us to enhance our BroadCloud Software-as-a-Service delivery platform

In April 2012 we completed the acquisition of research and development professional workforce In October

2011 we completed our acquisition of Movial Finland-based developer of client applications for IP

communications services and in September 2011 we acquired iLinc provider of web collaboration services

Whether we realize the anticipated benefits from these and prior transactions will depend in part upon our ability

to service and satisfy new customers gained as part of these acquisitions the continued integration of the

acquired businesses the performance of the acquired products the capacities of the technologies acquired and

the personnel hired in connection with these transactions Accordingly our results of operations could be

adversely affected from transaction-related charges amortization of intangible assets and charges for impairment

of long-term assets

We have evaluated and expect to continue to evaluate other potential strategic transactions We may in the

future acquire businesses products technologies or services to expand our product offerings capabilities and

customer base enter new markets or increase our market share We cannot predict the number timing or size of

future acquisitions or the effect that any such acquisitions might have on our operating results Because of our

size any of these transactions could be material to our financial condition and results of operations We have

limited experience with such transactions and the anticipated benefits of acquisitions may never materialize

Some of the areas where we may face acquisition-related risks include

diverting management time and potentially disrupting business
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expenses distractions and potential claims resulting from acquisitions whether or not they are

completed

reducing our cash available for operations and other uses

retaining and integrating employees from any businesses we acquire

integrating and supporting acquired businesses products or technologies

integrating various accounting management information human resources and other systems to

permit effective management

additional federal or state regulatory compliance obligations resulting from an acquired business

the issuance of dilutive equity securities or the incurrence or assumption of debt to finance the

acquisition

incurring possible impairment charges contingent liabilities amortization expense or write-offs of

goodwill

unexpected capital expenditure requirements

insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the acquisitions

opportunity costs associated with committing time and capital to such acquisitions and

acquisition-related litigation including intellectual property infringement claims

Foreign acquisitions would involve risks in addition to those mentioned above including those related to

integration of operations across different cultures and languages currency risks and the particular economic

political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries We may not be able to address these risks

successfully or at all without incurring significant costs delays or other operating problems that could disrupt

our business and have material adverse effect on our financial condition

Our use of open source software could impose limitations on our ability to commercialize our products

We incorporate open source software into our products Although we closely monitor our use of open source

software the terms of many open source software licenses have not been interpreted by U.S courts and there is

risk that such licenses could be construed in manner that could impose unanticipated conditions or restrictions

on our ability to sell our products In such event we could be required to make our proprietary software generally

available to third parties including competitors at no cost to seek licenses from third parties to continue offering

our products to re-engineer our products or to discontinue the sale of our products in the event re-engineering

cannot be accomplished on timely basis or at all any of which could adversely affect our revenues and

operating expenses

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal con frols our ability to produce accurate financial

statements could be impaired which would adversely affect our operating results our ability to operate our

business and our stock price

Ensuring that we have adequate internal financial and accounting controls and procedures in place to produce

accurate financial statements is costly and time-consuming effort that needs to be re-evaluated frequently

Although we believe we have effective internal controls we may in the future have material weaknesses in our

internal financial and accounting controls and procedures

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 or the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires that we test our internal control over

financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures In particular for the year ended December 31 2012

we performed system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow

management and our independent registered public accounting firm to report on the effectiveness of our internal

control over financial reporting as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Our compliance with
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Section 404 requires that we incur substantial expense and expend significant management time on compliance-

related issues Moreover if we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 in the future or if we

or our independent registered public accounting firm identify deficiencies in our internal control over financial

reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses the market price of our stock may decline and we could be

subject to sanctions or investigations by the Nasdaq Stock Markets the SEC or other regulatory authorities

which would require significant additional financial and management resources

Man-made problems such as computer viruses or terrorism may disrupt our operations and could adversely

affect our operating results and financial condition

Despite our implementation of network security measures our servers are vulnerable to computer viruses break-

ins and similardisruptions from unauthorized tampering with our computer systems Any such event could have

material adverse effect on our business operating results and financial condition Efforts to limit the ability of

third parties to disrupt the operations of the Internet or undermine our own security efforts may be ineffective In

addition the continued threat of terrorism and heightened security and military action in response to this threat

or any future acts of terrorism may cause further disruptions to the economies of the United States and other

countries and create further uncertainties or otherwise materially harm our business operating results and

financial condition Likewise events such as widespread electrical blackouts could have similarnegative

impacts To the extent that such disruptions or uncertainties result in delays or cancellations of customer orders

or the manufacture or shipment of our products our business operating results financial condition and

reputation could be materially and adversely affected

Changes in effective tax rates or adverse outcomes resulting from examination of our income or other tax

returns could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

Our future effective tax rates couldbe subject to volatility or adversely affected by number of factors

including

earnings being lower than anticipated in countries where we have lower statutory tax rates and higher

than anticipated earnings in countries where we have higher statutory tax rates

As result of our release of substantially all of the tax valuation allowance in 2011 GAAP tax rates

starting in 2012 are projected to increase and may be subject to volatility

changes in the valuation of our deferred tax assets and liabilities

expected timing and amount of the release of the remaining tax valuation allowance

expiration of or lapses in the research and development tax credit laws

expiration or non-utilization of net operating losses

tax effects of stock-based compensation

costs related to intercompany restructurings or

changes in tax laws regulations accounting principles or interpretations thereof

In addition we are subject to the continuous examination of our income tax returns by the Internal Revenue

Service and other tax authorities We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from these

examinations to determine the adequacy of our provision for income taxes

Outcomes from these continuous examinations could have material adverse effect on our financial condition

results of operations or cash flows
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We incurred significant indebtedness through the sale of our 1.50% convertible senior notes due 2018 and we

may incur additional indebtedness in the future The indebtedness created by the sale of the notes and any

future indebtedness we incur
exposes us to risks that could adversely affect our business financial condition

and results of operations

We incurred $120 million of senior indebtedness in June 2011 when we sold $120 million aggregate principal

amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes due 2018 or the Notes We may also incur additional long-term

indebtedness or obtain additional working capital lines of credit to meet future financing needs Our indebtedness

could have significant negative consequences for our business results of operations cash flows and financial

condition including

increasing our vulnerability to adverse economic and industry conditions

limiting our ability to obtain additional financing

requiring the dedication of substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our

indebtedness thereby reducing the amount of our cash flow available for other purposes

limiting our flexibility in planning for or reacting to changes in our business and

placing us at possible competitive disadvantage with less leveraged competitors and competitors that

may have better access to capital resources

We cannot assure you that we will continue to maintain sufficient cash reserves or that our business will continue

to generate cash flow from operations at levels sufficient to permit us to pay principal premium if any and

interest on our indebtedness or that our cash needs will not increase If we are unable to generate sufficient cash

flow or otherwise obtain funds necessary to make required payments or if we fail to comply with the various

requirements of the Notes or any indebtedness that we may incur in the future we would be in default which

would permit the holders of the Notes and such other indebtedness to accelerate the maturity of the Notes and

such other indebtedness and could cause defaults under the Notes and such other indebtedness Any default under

the Notes or any indebtedness that we may incur in the future could have material adverse effect on our

business results of operations and financial condition

The repurchase rights and events of default features of the Notes if triggered may adversely affect our

financial condition and operating results

In the event the repurchase rights features of the Notes are triggered holders of the Notes will be entitled to

require us to repurchase all or portion of their Notes If the events of default features of the Notes are triggered

holders of the Notes may declare the principal amount of the Notes plus accrued and unpaid interest thereon to

be immediately due and payable In either event we would be required to make cash payments to satisfy our

obligations which could adversely affect our liquidity In addition even if holders do not elect to exercise their

repurchase rights or declare their Notes immediately due and payable we could be required under applicable

accounting rules to reclassify all or portion of the outstanding principal of the Notes as current rather than

long-term liability which could result in material reduction of our net working capital

The accounting method for convertible debt securities such as the Notes could have material adverse effect

on our reported financial results

Under applicable accounting guidance we must separately account for the liability and equity components of the

Notes because they may be settled partially in cash upon conversion in manner that reflects our economic

interest cost This guidance requires us to record the fair value of the conversion option of the Notes as

component of stockholders equity and include this amount in additional paid-in-capital on our consolidated

balance sheet The value of the conversion option of the Notes is reported as debt discount and subsequently

amortized as interest expense through the expected maturity date of the Notes We will report lower net income

in our financial results because we will be required to include both the current periods amortization of the debt

discount non-cash interest and the instruments cash interest which could adversely affect our reported or

future financial results and the trading price of our common stock
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Risks Related to the Telecommunications Industry

We face intense competition in our markets especially from larger better-known companies and we may kick

sufficient financial or other resources to maintain or improve our competitive position

The worldwide markets for our products and services are highly competitive and continually evolving and we

expect competition from both established and new companies to increase Our primary competitors include

companies such as Alcatel-Lucent Avaya Inc Cisco Systems Inc Ericsson AB GENBAND Inc Huawei

Technologies Co Ltd Mavenir Systems Inc Metaswitch Networks Microsoft Corporation and Nokia-Siemens

Networks B.V Many of our existing and potential competitors have substantially greater financial technical

marketing intellectual property and distribution resources than we have Their resources may enable them to

develop superior products or they could aggressively price finance and bundle their product offerings to attempt

to gain market adoption or to increase market share In addition our customers could also begin using open

source software such as Asterisk which is incorporated in the products of Digium Inca as an alternative to

BroadWorks If our competitors offer deep discounts on certain products in an effort to gain market share or to

sell other products or services or if significant number of our customers use open source software as an

alternative to BroadWorks we may then need to lower the prices of our products and services change our

pricing models or offer other favorable tenns to compete successfully which would reduce our margins and

adversely affect our operating results

In addition to price competition increased competition may result in other aggressive business tactics from our

competitors such as

emphasizing their own size and perceived stability against our smaller size and narrower recognition

providing customers one-stop shopping options for the purchase of network equipment and

application server software

offering customers financing assistance

making early announcements of competing products and employing extensive marketing efforts

assisting customers with marketing and advertising directed at their subscribers and

asserting infringement of their intellectual property rights

The tactics described above can be particularly effective in the concentrated base of service provider customers

to whom we offer our products Our inability to compete successfully in our markets would harm our operating

results and our ability to achieve and maintain profitability

Our business depends upon the success of service providers who are vulnerable to competition from free or

low-cost providers of IP-based communications services

We sell software licenses or provide cloud-based UC service offerings to service providers who then seek to

persuade their customers to subscribe to IP-based communications services that use our software The number of

licenses or subscriptions service provider purchases from us is based in large part on the number of customers

the service provider expects will subscribe to its IP-based communications services When the number of

customers using the service providers IP services running on our software exceeds the number of licenses or

subscriptions the service provider must purchase additional licenses or subscriptions from us Accordingly the

growth of our business depends upon the success of service providers in attracting new subscribers to IP-based

communications services Our dependence on service providers exposes us to number of risks including the

risk that service providers will not succeed in growing and maintaining their IP subscriber base Among the

reasons that service providers may not succeed in growing or maintaining subscriptions to IP-based

communications is the prevalence of alternative IP-based communications providers who offer services free or

for low cost Current providers of free or low-cost IP-based communication include Skype JaJah Yahoo

Messenger and GoogleVoice
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If service providers do not succeed in growing and maintaining their IF subscriber base for any reason including

failure to effectively compete with competitors offering free or low-cost services then our business financial

condition and results of operations would be harmed

Competitive pressures in the telecommunications industiy may increase and impact our customers

purchasing decisions which could reduce our revenue

The economic downturn has contributed to slowdown in telecommunications industry spending dramatic

reductions in capital expenditures financial difficulties and in some cases bankruptcies experienced by service

providers Our customers are under increasing competitive pressure from companies within their industry and

other participants that offer or seek to offer overlapping or similarservices These pressures are likely to

continue to cause our customers to seek to minimize the costs of the software platforms that they purchase and

may cause static or reduced expenditures by our customers or potential customers These competitive pressures

may also result in pricing becoming more important factor in the purchasing decisions of our customers

Increased focus on pricing may favor low-cost vendors and our larger competitors that can spread the effect of

price discounts across broader offering of products and services and across larger customer base

We expect the developments described above to continue to affect our business by

potentially making it difficult to accurately forecast revenue and manage our business

exposing us to potential unexpected declines in revenue and

exposing us to potential losses because we expect that high percentage of our operating expenses will

continue to be fixed in the short-term

Any one or combination of the above effects could materially and adversely affect our business operating

results and financial condition

Consolidation in the telecommunications industry will likely continue and result in delays or reductions in

capital expenditure plans and increased competitive pricing pressures which could reduce our revenue

The telecommunications industry has experienced significant consolidation over the past several years We
expect this trend to continue as companies attempt to strengthen or retain their market positions in an evolving

industry and as businesses are acquired or are unable to continue operations Consolidation among our customers

distribution partners and technology partners may cause delays or reductions in capital expenditure plans and

increased competitive pricing pressures as the number of available customers and partners declines and their

relative purchasing power increases in relation to suppliers Additionally the acquisition of one of our customers

distribution partners or technology partners by company that uses or sells the products of one of our

competitors could result in our loss of the customer or partner if the acquiring company elects to switch the

acquired company to our competitors products Moreover the consolidation in the number of potential

customers and distribution partners could increase the risk of quarterly and annual fluctuations in our revenue

and operating results Any of these factors could adversely affect our business financial condition and results of

operations

Regulation of IP-based networks and commerce may increase compliance with these regulations may be time

consuming difficult and costly and if wefail to comply our sales might decrease

In general the telecommunications industry is highly regulated However to date Congress and the Federal

Communications Commission or the FCC have imposed less regulation on IF- based services and networks We
could be adversely affected by regulation of IF-based services or networks in any country where we do business

including the United States Such regulations could include matters such as using or providing VoIP services or

protocols encryption technology and access charges for service providers The adoption of such regulations
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could prohibit entry into target market or force us to withdraw products in one or more jurisdictions As

result overall demand for our products could decrease and at the same time the cost of selling our products

could increase either of which or the combination of both could have material adverse effect on our business

operating results and financial condition

In addition the convergence of the public switched telephone network or PSTN and IP-based networks could

become subject to governmental regulation including the imposition of access fees or other tariffs that could

adversely affect the market for our products and services User uncertainty regarding future policies and

regulations may also affect demand for communications products such as ours We may be required or we may
otherwise deem it

necessary or advisable to alter our products to address actual or anticipated changes in the

regulatory environment Our inability to timely alter our products or address any regulatory changes may have

material adverse effect on our financial condition results of operations or cash flows

Our recent acquisition of the assets of Adaption provider of hosted business VoIP solutions subjects us to

additional regulation Such providers are subject to certain FCC rules and regulations including with respect to

the provision of enhanced 911 services or E91 services disability access requirements communications

assistance for law enforcement requirements customer proprietary network information requirements and other

requirements If we become subject to the rules and regulations applicable to such providers in individual states

or such existing state rules and regulations are amended or modified to apply to such services we may incur

significant increased costs and we may have to restructure our hosted VoIP services business exit certain

markets or raise the price of these services any of which could cause these services to be less attractive to our

customers We are unable to predict the impact if any that future legislation judicial decisions or FCC or other

regulations concerning hosted VoIP service providers generally may have on our business financial condition

and results of operations and if we fail to comply with applicable state or federal rules associated with such

services including the provision of E91 services we may be exposed to significant liability

Risks Related to Our International Operations

We are exposed to risks related to our international operations andfailure to manage these risks may

adversely affect our operating results and financial condition

We market license and service our products globally and have number of offices around the world For the

years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 43% 45% and 46% of our revenue respectively was

attributable to our international customers As of December 31 2012 approximately 44% of our employees were

located abroad We expect that our international activities will be dynamic over the foreseeable future as we

continue to pursue opportunities in international markets Therefore we are subject to risks associated with

having worldwide operations These international operations will require significant management attention and

financial resources

International operations are subject to inherent risks and our future results could be adversely affected by

number of factors including

requirements or preferences for domestic products which could reduce demand for our products

differing technical standards existing or future regulatory and certification requirements and required

product features and functionality

management communication and integration problems related to entering new markets with different

languages cultures and political systems

greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable and longer collection periods

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations

the uncertainty of protection for intellectual property rights in some countries
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potentially adverse tax consequences including regulatory requirements regarding our ability to

repatriate profits to the United States and

political and economic instability and terrorism

Additionally our international operations expose us to risks of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates

To date the significant majority of our international sales have been denominated in U.S dollars although most

of our expenses associated with our international operations are denominated in local currencies As result

decline in the value of the U.S dollar relative to the value of these local currencies could have material adverse

effect on the gross margins and psofitability of our international operations Additionally an increase in the value

of the U.S dollar relative to the value of these local currencies results in our products being more expensive to

potential customers and could have an adverse impact on our pricing or our ability to sell our products

internationally To date we have not used risk management techniques to hedge the risks associated with these

fluctuations Even if we were to implement hedging strategies not every exposure can be hedged and where

hedges are put in place based on expected foreign currency exchange exposure they are based on forecasts that

may vary or that may later prove to have been inaccurate As result fluctuations in foreign currency exchange

rates or our failure to successfully hedge against these fluctuations could have material adverse effect on our

operating results and financial condition

We rely significantly on distribution partners to sell our products in international markets the loss of which

could materially reduce our revenue

We sell our products to telecommunication service providers both directly and particularly in international

markets indirectly through distribution partners such as telecommunications equipment vendors VARs and

other distributors We believe that establishing and maintaining successful relationships with these distribution

partners is and will continue to be important to our financial success Recruiting and retaining qualified

distribution partners and training them in our technology and product offerings requires significant time and

resources To develop and expand our distribution channel we must continue to scale and improve our processes

and procedures that support our channel including investment in systems and training

In addition existing and future distribution partners will only partner with us if we are able to provide them with

competitive products on terms that are commercially reasonable to them If we fail to maintain the quality of our

products or to update and enhance them existing and future distribution partners may elect to partner with one or

more of our competitors In addition the terms of our arrangements with our distribution partners must be

commercially reasonable for both parties If we are unable to reach agreements that are beneficial to both parties

then our distribution partner relationships will not succeed

The reduction in or loss of sales by these distribution partners could materially reduce our revenue If we fail to

maintain relationships with our distribution partners fail to develop new relationships with other distribution

partners in new markets fail to manage train or incentivize existing distribution partners effectively fail to

provide distribution partners with competitive products on terms acceptable to them or if these partners are not

successful in their sales efforts our revenue may decrease and our operating results could suffer

We have no long-term contracts or minimum purchase commitments with any VARs or telecommunications

equipment vendors and our contracts with these distribution partners do not prohibit them from offering products

or services that compete with ours including products they currently offer or may develop in the future and

incorporate into their own systems Some of our competitors may have stronger relationships with our

distribution partners than we do and we have limited control if any as to whether those partners implement our

products rather than our competitors products or whether they devote resources to market and support our

competitors products rather than our offerings Our failure to establish and maintain successful relationships

with distribution partners could materially adversely affect our business operating results and financial

condition
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We are subject to governmental export and import controls that could subject us to lkibility or impair our

ability to compete in international markets

Our products are subject to United States export controls and may be exported outside the United States only

with the required level of export license or through an export license exception because certain of our products

contain encryption technology In addition various countries regulate the import of certain encryption

technology and have enacted laws that could limit our ability to distribute certain of our products or could limit

our customers ability to implement these products in those countries Changes in our products or changes in

export and import regulations may create delays in the introduction of our products in international markets

prevent our customers with international operations from deploying our products throughout their networks or in

some cases prevent the export or import of our products to certain countries altogether Any change in export or

import laws and regulations shifts in approach to the enforcement or scope of existing laws and regulations or

change in the countries persons or technologies targeted by such regulations could result in decreased use of our

products by or in our decreased ability to export or sell our products to existing or potential customers with

international operations Any decreased use of our products or limitation on our ability to export or sell our

products would likely adversely affect our business operating results and financial condition

We may not successfully sell our products in certain geographic markets or develop and manage new sales

channels in accordance with our business plan

We expect to continue to sell our products in certain geographic markets where we do not have significant

current business and to broader customer base To succeed in certain of these markets we believe we will need

to develop and manage new sales channels and distribution arrangements Because we have limited experience in

developing and managing such channels we may not be successful in further penetrating certain geographic

regions or reaching broader customer base Failure to develop or manage additional sales channels effectively

would limit our ability to succeed in these markets and could adversely affect our ability to grow our customer

base and revenue

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and may continue to be highly volatile and you may not be able to sell shares of our

common stock at or above the price you pai4

Our stock price has been and may continue to be highly volatile and it could be subject to wide fluctuations in

response to various factors some of which are beyond our control These factors include those discussed in this

Risk Factors section and others such as

slowdown in the telecommunications industry or the general economy

quarterly or annual variations in our results of operations or those of our competitors

changes in earnings estimates or recommendations by securities analysts

announcements by us or our competitors of new products or services significant contracts commercial

relationships capital commitments or acquisitions

developments with respect to intellectual property rights

our ability to develop and market new and enhanced products on timely basis

our commencement of or involvement in litigation

departure of key personnel and

changes in governmental regulations
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In addition in recent years the stock markets generally and the market for technology stocks in particular have

experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the

operating performance of those companies Since our initial public offering or IPO our common stock has

traded at prices ranging from $7.34 to $55.45 Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market

price of our common stock regardless of our actual operating performance In the past class action litigation has

often been instituted against companies whose securities have experienced periods of volatility in market price

Securities litigation brought against us following volatility in our stock price regardless of the merit or ultimate

results of such litigation could result in substantial costs which would hurt our financial condition and operating

results and divert managements attention and resources from our business

Securities analysts may not publish favorable research or reports about our business or may publish no

information which could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline

The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports industry or financial

analysts publish about us and our business We do not control these analysts If any of the analysts who cover us

issue an adverse opinion regarding our stock price our stock price would likely decline If one or more of these

analysts cease coverage of our company or fail to regularly publish reports covering us we could lose visibility

in the market which in turn could cause our stock price or trading volume to decline

We do not intend to pay dividends for theforeseeablefuture and our stock may not appreciate in value

We currently intend to retain our future earnings if any to finance the operation and growth of our business and

do not expect to pay any cash dividends in the foreseeable future As result the success of an investment in

shares of our common stock will depend upon any future appreciation in its value There is no guarantee that

shares of our common stock will appreciate in value or that the price at which our stockholders have purchased

their shares will be able to be maintained

Provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware law could discourage potential acquisition

proposals could delay deter or prevent change in control and could limit the price certain investors might

be willing to pay for our common stock

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws include provisions that may delay or prevent an acquisition of us or

change in our management These provisions include classified board of directors with three-year staggered

terms prohibition on actions by written consent of our stockholders and the ability of our board of directors to

issue preferred stock without stockholder approval In addition because we are incorporated in Delaware we are

governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law which prohibits

stockholders owning in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining with us in

certain circumstances Although we believe these provisions collectively provide for an opportunity to receive

higher bids by requiring potential acquirers to negotiate with our board of directors they would apply even if the

offer may be considered beneficial by some stockholders In addition these provisions may frustrate or prevent

attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for

stockholders to replace members of our board of directors which is responsible for appointing the members of

our management

These provisions could discourage potential acquisition proposals or could delay deter or prevent change in

control including transactions that may be in the best interests of our stockholders Additionally these provisions

could limit the price certain investors might be willing to pay for our common stock

Provisions in the indenture for the Notes may deter or prevent business combination

Under the terms of the indenture governing the Notes the occurrence of certain merger and business combination

transactions could require us to repurchase all or portion of the Notes or in some circumstances increase the

conversion rate applicable to the Notes In addition the indenture for the Notes prohibits us from engaging in
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certain mergers or business combination transactions unless among other things the surviving entity assumes

our obligations under the Notes These and other provisions could prevent or deter third party from acquiring us

even where the acquisition could be beneficial to our stockholders

We may issue additional shares of our common stock or instruments convertible into shares of our common

stock including additional shares associated with the potential conversion of the Notes which could

materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock and cause dilution to existing

stockholders

Upon conversion of the Notes we will repay the principal portion of the Notes in cash but we will deliver shares

of common stock to the note holder in respect of
any

conversion value of the Notes Additionally we are not

restricted from issuing additional shares of our common stock or other instruments convertible into or

exchangeable or exercisable for shares of our common stock If we issue additional shares of our common stock

including upon the conversion of the Notes or if we issue additional instruments convertible into shares of our

common stock it may materially and adversely affect the market price of our common stock The issuance of

additional shares of our common stock including upon conversion of some or all of the Notes will also dilute

the ownership interests of existing holders of our common stock Dilution will be greater if the conversion rate of

the Notes is adjusted upon the occurrence of certain events specified in the indenture to the Notes

Item lB Unresolved Staff Comments

None

Item Properties

Our principal offices occupy approximately 35000 square feet of leased office space in Gaithersburg Maryland

which we lease pursuant to sublease with sublessor We also maintain sales development or technical

assistance offices in Phoenix Arizona San Jose California Richardson and Houston Texas Tulsa Oklahoma

Belfast Northern Ireland United Kingdom Chennai India Madrid Spain Montreal Canada Paris France

Seoul South Korea Sydney Australia Warsaw Poland London England Sophia Bulgaria and Helsinki

Finland

Item Legal Proceedings

We are subject to litigation and claims arising in the ordinary course of business While we intend to defend

ourselves vigorously we cannot be certain of any particular outcome and an adverse outcome in this lawsuit

could have material adverse effect on our business We are not aware of any pending or threatened legal

proceeding against us that could have material adverse effect on our business operating results or financial

condition The software and communications infrastructure industries are characterized by frequent claims and

litigation including claims regarding patent and other intellectual property rights as well as improper hiring

practices and claims for indemnification As result we may be involved in various legal proceedings from time

to time

Item Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable
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Item Market for Registrants Common Equity Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

Equity Securities

Market Information for Common Stock

Our conmon stock has been listed on the NASDAQ Global Select Market since January 2012 and prior

thereto was listed on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol BSFT Prior to our IPO on June 16 2010

there was no public market for our common stock

The following table sets forth for the indicated periods the high and low sales prices of our common stock as

reported on the NASDAQ Global Market or NASDAQ Global Select Market as applicable

High

Low

High

Low

Dividend Policy

Stockholders

Stock Performance Graph

2012

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

40.90 $45.32 $42.96 $41.37

24.85 23.73 20.13 28.77

2011

First Second Third Fourth

Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

$55.45 $49.85 $40.90 $41.88

22.74 30.62 21.26 27.68

We have never declared or paid dividends on our capital stock We currently intend to retain all available funds

and any future earnings to support operations and to finance the growth and development of our business We do

not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future Any future

determination to pay dividends will be made at the discretion of our board of directors subject to applicable

laws and will depend upon among other factors our results of operations financial condition contractual

restrictions and capital requirements

As of February 20 2013 there were 30 registered stockholders of record of our common stock

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder return on an initial investment of $100 in

our common stock between June 16 2010 the date of our IPO and December 31 2012 with the comparative

cumulative total return of such amount on the NASDAQ Telecommunications Index and ii the NASDAQ
Composite Index over the same period We have not paid any cash dividends and therefore the cumulative total

return calculation for us is based solely upon stock price appreciation and not upon reinvestment of cash

dividends The graph assumes our closing sales price on June 16 2010 of $8.30 per
share as the initial value of

our common stock
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The comparisons shown in the graph below are based upon historical data We caution that the stock price

performance shown in the graph below is not necessarily indicative of nor is it intended to forecast the potential

future performance of our common stock Information used in the graph was obtained from the NASDAQ Stock

Market Inc financial data provider and source believed to be reliable The NASDAQ Stock Market Inc is

not responsible for any errors or omissions in such information

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

BroadSoft Inc NASDAQ Composite-Total Returns NASDAQ Telecommunications Index

700.00

650.00

600.00

50.00

The information presented above in the stock performance graph shall not be deemed to be soliciting material

or to be filed with the SEC or subject to Regulation 4A or 14C except to the extent that we subsequently

specifically request that such information be treated as soliciting material or specifically incorporate it by

reference into filing under the Securities Act of 1933 as amended or filing under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 as amended

Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock

In June 2010 we completed the IPO of shares of our common stock We raised total of $45.5 million in gross

proceeds from the initial public offering or $40.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts

and commissions of $3.2 million and other estimated offering costs of $2.3 million We intend to use the net

proceeds from these offerings for working capital and other general corporate purposes including financing our

growth developing new products and funding capital expenditures

Recent Sale of Unregistered Securities

None

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

None
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Item Selected Consolidated Financial Data

You should read the following selected consolidated financial data together with Managements Discussion and

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations our consolidated financial statements and the related

notes included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K

We derived the consolidated financial data for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 and as of

December 31 2012 and 2011 from our audited consolidated financial statements which are included elsewhere

in this Annual Report on Form 10-K We derived the consolidated financial data for the years ended

December 31 2009 and 2008 and as of December 31 2009 and 2008 from audited financial statements that are

not included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K Historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results to

be expected in any future periods
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Statements of Operations Data

Statements of Operations
Revenue

License software

Subscription and maintenance support

Professional services and other

Total revenue

Cost of revenue

License software

Subscription and maintenance support

Professional services and other

Total cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Total operating expenses

Income loss from operations

Other
expense income net

Income loss before income taxes

Provision for benefit from income taxes

Net income loss

Net income loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income loss attributable to BroadSoft Inc

Net income loss per common share

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic

Diluted

Stock based compensation expense included above

Cost of revenue

Sales and marketing

Research and development

General and administrative

Balance Sheet Data

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data
Cash and cash equivalents

Working capital

Total assets

Notes payable and bank loans less current portion

Total liabilities

Total stockholders equity deficit

Years Ended December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

in thousands except per share data

89750 77289 $53302 $37942 40121

58249 42462 33743 25676 17015

16843 18313 8578 5269 4693

164842 138064 95623 68887 61829

8643 6077 5341 5232 4818

14831 10419 7691 6678 4777

9012 8478 7010 5464 3872

32486 24974 20042 17374 13467

132356 113090 75581 51513 48362

47911 38376 31818 28534 30774

36178 27744 19616 16625 15876

22863 19534 14103 11405 12074

106952 85654 65537 56564 58724

25404 27436 10044 5051 10362

6470 3314 879 1469 78
18934 24122 9165 6520 10284

6858 8175 1169 1333 952

12076 32297 7996 7853 11236

_____ _____
12076 32297 7992 $7849 $1l236

0.44 1.21 0.49 1.25 1.81
0.43 1.15 0.32 1.25 1.81

27581 26603 16263 6285 6208

28353 27987 24721 6285 6208

1831 916 210 325 182

5609 1984 882 1088 856

4498 1901 638 741 456

3084 2400 1278 1475 1422

As of December 31

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

in thousands except per share data

90545 94072 47254 22869 14353

161519 180010 35268 2924 5918

326906 290956 127356 66663 55808

86865 82198 800 14035 18838

165671 157713 74811 71277 56846

161235 133243 52545 77800 72724
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Item Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Company Overview

We are the leading global provider of software and services that enable mobile fixed-line and cable service

providers to deliver hosted or cloud-based Unified Communications and other voice and multimedia services

over their Internet protocol or IP based networks Our core communications platform consists of three offerings

BroadWorks BroadCloud and BroadTouch

We began selling BroadWorks in 2001 Over 520 service providers in more than 69 countries have purchased

and/or are delivering services utilizing our software including 19 of the top 25 telecommunications service

providers globally as measured by revenue for the
year

ended December 31 2011 We sell our products to

service providers both directly and indirectly through distribution partners such as telecommunications

equipment vendors VARs and other distributors

Executive Summary

Our management team monitors and analyzes number of key industry trends and performance indicators to

manage our business and evaluate our financial and operating performance

In 2013 we expect to continue addressing what we see as the trend towards cloud-based and hosted

communications We are increasing our strategic investments in research and development of existing and new

products including client software and cloud-based services as well as in sales and marketing headcount to

support our product offerings and increase our go-to-market efforts We increased our hiring in 2012 and expect

to continue to grow in 2013 We plan to continue investment in BroadCloud PBX our cloud-based PBX offering

which permits our service providers to offer BroadWorks features and functions through service offering

hosted and managed by us reducing cost and increasing speed and ease of use for end-users We believe that

delivering innovative solutions to our existing customer base to meet their growing cloud-based needs will help

service providers get to market faster and drive our revenue growth

We believe that in 2013 converged and mobile operators
will continue to seek UC solutions to deliver to their

enterprise customer base Our UC-One platform which we introduced in October 2012 seeks to address this

evolution and allows service providers and operators to rapidly and efficiently deliver UC experience

regardless of end user device and whether or not the end user has fixed line or wireless access Recognizing the

importance of mobile we have architected mobility into our solutions and products and have made integrating

with existing mobile networks simple and core competency of our platform We have optimized our client

cloud and software solutions to enable mobility in all of our services across wide
range

of devices

We expect that our enterprise-based applications will grow more quickly than our consumer applications during

2013 This is driven by both increasing market acceptance of hosted Unified Communications as well as

transition by service providers in their investment in consumer IP networks from their fixed line offerings to

LTE We believe that we have the opportunity for renewed growth in our consumer business once service

providers begin to deploy VoLTE which we believe could begin in 2014

Management also analyzes trends of billings from existing customers relative to billings from new customers as

we believe billings are key indicator of growth and performance of our business and reflect the level of selling

activity in any particular time frame During 2012 we saw continued growth in revenue and billings from our

existing customer base driven by both the growth of existing BroadWorks-based applications deployment of

new BroadWorks applications and the adoption of BroadCloud PBX Growth from the acquisition of new

customers was lower in 2012 and we expect this trend to continue in 2013 We have increasingly focused our

selling efforts on our existing customers by for example increasing our go-to-market assistance to such service

providers to help them accelerate the growth of their UC offerings
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Key Financial Highlights

Some of our key GAAP financial highlights for the year
ended December 31 2012 include

Total revenue increased by 19% or $26.8 million to $164.8 million compared to $138.1 million for

2011

Gross profit increased to $132.4 million or 80% of revenue compared to $113.1 million or 82% of

revenue for 2011

Income from operations decreased to $25.4 million or 15% of total revenue compared to $27.4

million or 20% of total revenue for 2011

Net income decreased to $12.1 million compared to $32.3 million for 2011

Net income
per

diluted share decreased to $0.43 per
share from $1.15 per

share for 2011

Revenue plus net change in deferred revenue increased by 24% to $168.9 million compared to $135.9

million for 2011

Deferred revenue increased $4.0 million compared to decrease of $2.1 million for 2011 and

Cash provided by operating activities was $30.6 million compared to $28.6 million for 2011

Some of our key non-GAAP financial highlights for the year ended December 31 2012 include

Non-GAAP gross profit increased to $136.8 million or 83% of revenue compared to $115.3 million or

84% of revenue in 2011

Non-GAAP income from operations increased to $43.1 million or 26% of total revenue compared to

$35.9 million or 26% of total revenue in 2011

Non-GAAP net income increased to $40.9 million compared to $34.5 million in 2011 and

Non-GAAP net income per diluted share increased to $1.44 per common share compared to $1.23 per

common share in 2011

For discussion of these non-GAAP financial measures and reconciliation of GAAP and non-GAAP financial

results please refer to Non-GAAP Financial Measures included elsewhere in this Managements Discussion

and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Components of Operating Results

Revenue

We derive our revenue primarily from the sale of license software subscription and maintenance support and

professional services We recognize revenue when all revenue recognition criteria have been met in accordance

with revenue recognition guidance This guidance provides that revenue should be recognized when persuasive

evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred the price is fixed or determinable and collection is

probable

Our total revenue consists of the following

License software We derive license software revenue from the sale of perpetual software licenses We price

our software based on the types of features and applications provided and on the number of subscriber

licenses sold These factors impact the average selling price of our licenses and the comparability of average

selling prices Our license software revenue may vary significantly from quarter to quarter or from year to

year as result of long sales and deployment cycles variations in customer ordering practices and the
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application of managements judgment in applying complex revenue recognition rules Our deferred license

software revenue balance consists of software orders that do not meet all the criteria for revenue

recognition We are unable to predict the proportion of orders that will meet all the criteria for revenue

recognition relative to those orders that will not meet all such criteria and as result we cannot forecast

whether recognized license software revenue and deferred license software revenue will continue to increase

or decrease in given period As of December 31 2012 our deferred license software revenue balance was

$18.4 million the current portion of which was $10.8 million

Subscription and maintenance support Subscription and maintenance support revenue includes recurring

revenue from annual maintenance support contracts for our software licenses and to much lesser extent

from subscriptions related to our delivery of BroadCloud services

Our annual maintenance support contracts provide for software updates upgrades and technical support

Our typical warranty on licensed software is 90 days and during this period our customers are entitled to

receive maintenance and support without the purchase of maintenance contract After the expiration of the

warranty period our customers must purchase an annual maintenance contract to continue receiving

ongoing software maintenance and customer support

Under our BroadCloud subscriptions we are paid recurring fee calculated based on the number of seats

and type of services purchased or usage fee based on the actual number of transactions The recurring fee

is typically billed monthly or annually based on the terms of the arrangement and the usage fee is billed one

month in arrears

Our deferred subscription and maintenance support revenue balance consists of maintenance support and

subscription orders that do not meet all the criteria for revenue recognition As of December 31 2012 our

deferred subscription and maintenance support revenue balance was $35.9 million the current portion of

which was $31.7 million

Professional services and other Professional services and other revenue primarily includes revenue from

professional service engagements consisting of implementation training and consulting services Our

professional services and other deferred revenue balance consists of orders that do not meet all the criteria

for revenue recognition As of December 31 2012 our deferred professional services and other revenue

balance was $6.9 million the current portion of which was $6.8 million

Cost of Revenue

Our total cost of revenue consists of the following

Cost of license software revenue majority of the cost of license software revenue consists of

amortization of acquired technology personnel-related expenses and royalties paid to third parties

whose technology or products are sold as part of BroadWorks significant amount of these royalty

payments are for the underlying embedded data base technology within BroadWorks for which we

currently incur fixed expense and/or pay fixed fee per quarter which increased beginning in June

2012 as result of third-party license agreement executed in 2011 Such costs are expensed ratably

over the time period of the contract

Cost of subscription and maintenance support revenue Cost of subscription and maintenance support

revenue consists primarily of personnel-related expenses and other direct costs associated with the

support maintenance and implementation of our software licenses including maintenance and support

expenses due to our use of third party software amortization of acquired technology and operating and

depreciation expenses associated with the delivery of BroadCloud services Personnel-related expenses

include salaries benefits bonuses reimbursement of expenses and stock-based compensation Such

costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred

Cost of professional services and other revenue Cost of professional services and other revenue

consists primarily of personnel-related expenses and other direct costs associated with the delivery of
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our professional services Personnel-related
expenses

include salaries benefits bonuses

reimbursement of
expenses

and stock-based compensation Such costs are expensed in the period in

which they are incurred

Gross Profit

Gross profit is the calculation of total revenue minus cost of revenue Our gross profit as percentage of revenue

or gross margin has been and will continue to be affected by variety of factors including

Mix of license software subscription and maintenance support and professional services and other

revenue We generate higher gross margins on license support revenue compared to subscription and

maintenance
support or professional services and other revenue

Growth or decline of license software revenue significant portion of cost of license software revenue

is fixed and is expensed in the period in which it is incurred This cost consists primarily of the royalty

payments to our embedded database provider and amortization of acquired technology If license

software revenue increases these fixed payments will decline as percentage of revenue If license

software revenue declines these fixed payments will increase as percentage of revenue

impact of deferred revenue If any revenue recognition criteria have not been met the applicable

revenue derived from the arrangement is deferred including license software subscription and

maintenance support and professional services and other revenue until all elements of revenue

recognition criteria have been met However the cost of revenue including the costs of license

software subscription and maintenance support and professional services and other is typically

expensed in the period in which it is incurred Therefore if relatively more revenue is deferred in

particular period gross margin would decline in that period Because the ability to recognize revenue

on orders depends largely on the terms of the sale arrangement and because we are not able to predict

the proportion of orders that will not meet all the criteria for revenue recognition we cannot forecast

whether any historical trends in gross margin will continue

Revenue Plus Net Change in Deferred Revenue

We believe revenue we recognize in particular period plus the net change in our deferred revenue balance is

key measure of our sales activity for that period The decrease increase in deferred revenue illustrates how the

balance in deferred revenue has changed over period of time

Revenue plus the net change in deferred revenue is as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31
2012 2011 2010

Beginning of period deferred revenue balance 57136 59264 40047

End of period deferred revenue balance 61149 57136 59264

Increase decrease in deferred revenue 4013 2128 19217

Revenue 164842 138064 95623

Revenue plus net change in deferred revenue 168855 135936 114840

Operating Expenses

Operating expenses consist of sales and marketing research and development and general and administrative

expenses Salaries and other personnel costs are the most significant component of each of these expense

categories We grew to 611 employees at December 31 2012 from 487 employees at December 31 2011 and we

expect to continue to hire new employees to support our anticipated growth
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Sales and marketing expenses Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries and personnel costs for

our sales and marketing employees including stock-based compensation commissions and bonuses Additional

expenses include marketing programs consulting travel and other related overhead We expect our sales and

marketing expenses to increase in the foreseeable future as we further increase the number of our sales and

marketing professionals and expand our marketing activities Over the long term we expect sales and marketing

expenses to grow but to decrease as percentage of total revenue as sales grow

Research and development expenses Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and

personnel costs for development employees including stock-based compensation and bonuses Additional

expenses include costs related to development quality assurance and testing of new software and enhancement of

existing software consulting travel and other related overhead We engage third-party international and

domestic consulting firms for various research and development efforts such as software development

documentation quality assurance and software support We intend to continue to invest in our research and

development efforts including by hiring additional development personnel and by using outside consulting firms

for various research and development efforts We believe continuing to invest in research and development

efforts is essential to maintaining our competitive position We expect research and development expenses to

increase in the foreseeable future but over the long-term to decrease as percentage of total revenue as sales

grow In 2012 research and development grew as percentage of revenue compared with 2011 and we expect

that in 2013 research and development expenses will again increase as percentage of total revenue

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative

expenses
consist primarily of salary and personnel

costs for administration finance and accounting legal information systems and human resources employees

including stock-based compensation and bonuses Additional expenses
include consulting and professional fees

travel insurance and other corporate expenses We expect general and administrative expenses to increase in the

foreseeable future but over the long-term to decrease as percentage of total revenue as sales grow

Stock-Based Compensation

We include stock-based compensation as part of cost of revenue and operating expenses in connection with the

grant of stock options and other equity awards to our directors employees and consultants Generally stock-

based compensation has been the fastest growing component of our employee-related expenses and we expect

this trend to continue We apply the fair value method in accordance with authoritative guidance for determining

the cost of stock-based compensation The total cost of the grant is measured based on the estimated fair value of

the award at the date of grant The fair value is then recognized as stock-based compensation expense over the

requisite service period which is the vesting period of the award For 2012 2011 and 2010 we recorded stock-

based compensation expense of $15.0 million $7.2 million and $3.0 million respectively

Of the stock-based compensation expense
recorded for 2010 $0.4 million related to the vesting of restricted

stock units or RSUs covering an aggregate of 172492 shares that were subject to performance-based vesting

condition and that vested in full upon the completion of the IPO

Based on stock options and other equity awards outstanding as of December 31 2012 we expect to recognize

future expense related to the non-vested portions of such options and other equity awards in the amount of $19.2

million over weighted average period of approximately 1.37 years

Other Expense Income Net

Other expense income net consists primarily of interest income interest expense and for periods prior to the

IPO the change in the fair value of the preferred stock warrants Interest income represents
interest received on

our cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash Interest expense consists primarily of the interest related to the

1.50% convertible senior notes due in 2018 or Notes and our installment bank loan with Bank of America
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Leasing and Capital LLC or Bank of America and for 2010 interest accrued on outstanding borrowings under

the ORIX Loan

Income Tax Expense

Income tax expense consists of U.S federal state and foreign income taxes We are required to pay income taxes

in certain states and foreign jurisdictions Historically we have not been required to pay U.S federal income

taxes due to our accumulated net operating losses For the year ended December 31 2012 we have net operating

loss carryforwards to utilize in the U.S For the year ended December 31 2011 we paid alternative minimum tax

in the U.S due to the taxable income generated in the period

Critica Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates

Our managements discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based on our

consolidated financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP The preparation of these

consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts

of assets and liabilities disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial

statements and the reported amounts of revenue and
expenses during the reported period In accordance with

GAAP we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are

reasonable under the circumstances Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions

or conditions

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note to our consolidated financial

statements appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K we believe the following accounting

policies are critical to the
process

of making significant judgments and estimates in the preparation of our

consolidated financial statements

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue from the sale of software licenses and related maintenance for those licenses

ii professional services and subscription and usage fees related to our cloud offerings

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists delivery has occurred or services

have been rendered the arrangement fee is fixed or determinable and collectability of the related receivable is

probable In making judgments regarding revenue recognition we analyze various factors including the nature

and terms of the specific transaction the creditworthiness of our customers our historical experience accuracy

of prior estimates and overall market and economic conditions Moreover in connection with the sale of

number of products and services under single contractual arrangement multiple element arrangement we

make judgments as to whether there is sufficient vendor specific objective evidence VSOE to enable the

allocation of fair value among the various elements in software arrangements that contain multiple elements and

as to relative selling prices for multiple element arrangements that do not contain software elements In

determining relative selling prices for products anu services we consider among other things our use of

discounts from list prices prices we charge for similarofferings and our historical pricing practices Changes in

judgments related to these items or deterioration in market or economic conditions could materially impact the

timing and amount of revenue recognized

License Software Revenue

We sell software licenses to service providers through our direct sales force and indirectly through distribution

partners

For direct sales we generally consider purchase order or executed sales quote when combined with master

license agreement to constitute evidence of an arrangement lathe case of sales through distribution partners we
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generally consider purchase order or executed sales quote when combined with reseller or similaragreement

with the distribution partner and evidence of the distribution partners customer to constitute evidence of an

arrangement For sales through distribution partners for which we are not able to ascertain proof of the

distribution partners customer we defer revenue until we are able to do so

We consider delivery to have occurred when the customer is given electronic access to tIe licensed software and

license key for the software has been delivered or made available Instances in which all ordered software

features are not delivered are considered to be partial deliveries Since we cannot determine VSOE of an

undelivered software feature in the case of partial delivery we defer revenue recognition on all elements of

such order until delivery for all ordered software features is complete

Acceptance of our licensed software generally occurs upon delivery From time to time we have agreed with

certain customers to specific set of acceptance criteria In such cases we defer revenue until these acceptance

criteria have been met

Our sales generally consist of multiple elements software licenses maintenance support and professional

services We calculate the amount of revenue allocated to the software license by determining the fair value of

the undelivered elements which often are maintenance support and professional services and subtracting it from

the total order amount We establish VSOE of the fair value of the maintenance support based on the renewal

price as stated in the agreement and as charged in the first optional renewal period under the arrangement Our

VSOE for professional services is determined based on an analysis of our historical daily rates when these

professional services are sold separately from the software license

The warranty period for our licensed software is generally 90 days During this period the customer receives

technical support and has the right to unspecified product upgrades on an if-and-when available basis For these

periods we defer portion of the license fee and recognize it ratably over the warranty period

Our license software revenue is subject to significant fluctuation as result of the appliction of accounting

regulations and related interpretations and policies regarding revenue recognition We do not believe license

revenue to be the only meaningful measure of our level of sales activity during the periods reported because of

the impact of software license orders for these periods that were not yet recognized as revenue and therefore were

recorded as deferred license software revenue Our deferred license software revenue balance consists of

software orders that do not meet all the criteria for revenue recognition We are unable to predict the proportion

of orders that will meet all the criteria for revenue recognition relative to those orders that will not meet all such

criteria As result we cannot forecast whether these historical trends in recognized license software revenue

and corresponding increases in deferred license revenue will continue

Subscription and Maintenance Support Revenue

We typically sell software in combination with maintenance subscriptions Maintenance is generally renewable

annually at the option of the customer Rates for maintenance including subsequent renewal rates are typically

established based upon specific percentage of net license fees as set forth in the arrangement with the customer

Maintenance support revenue is recognized ratably over the maintenance period assuming all other criteria of

revenue recognition have been met

Under our BroadCloud subscriptions we are paid recurring fee calculated based on the number of seats and

type of services purchased or usage fee based on actual number of transactions Typically the recurring fee is

billed monthly or annually based on the terms of the arrangement and the usage fee is billed one month in

arrears Revenue is recognized ratably over the contract term beginning with the date our service is made

available to customers

We enter into arrangements with multiple-deliverables that generally include subscription and professional

services To treat deliverables in multiple-deliverable arrangement as separate units of accounting the
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deliverables must have standalone value upon delivery If the deliverables have standalone value upon delivery

we account for each deliverable separately Subscription services have standalone value as such services are

often sold separately In determining whether professional services have standalone value we consider the

following factors for each professional services agreement availability of the services from other vendors the

nature of the professional services the timing of when the professional services contract was signed in

comparison to the subscription service start date and the contractual dependence of the subscription service on

the customers satisfaction with the professional services work

Per the accounting guidance when multiple-deliverables included in an arrangement are separated into different

units of accounting the arrangement consideration is allocated to the identified separate units based on relative

selling price hierarchy We determine the relative selling price for deliverable based on its VSOE if available

or our best estimate of selling price or BESP if VSOE is not available We have determined that third-party

evidence is not practical alternative due to differences in our service offerings compared to other parties and the

availability of relevant third-party pricing information The amount of revenue allocated to delivered items is

limited by contingent revenue if any

We determined BESP by considering our overall pricing objectives and market conditions Significant pricing

practices taken into consideration include our discounting practices our price lists our go-to-market strategy

historical standalone sales and contract prices As our go-to-market strategies evolve we may modify our pricing

practices in the future which could result in changes in relative selling prices including both VSOE and BESP

Professional Services Revenue

Revenue from professional services is typically recognized as services are performed Services are not

considered essential to the functionality of the licensed software

Software Development Costs

Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility are expensed as

incurred as research and development expense Software development costs incurred subsequent to the

establishment of technological feasibility if any are capitalized until the software is available for general release

to customers For each software release judgment is required to evaluate when technological feasibility has

occurred We have determined that technological feasibility has been established at approximately the same time

as our general release of such software to customers Therefore to date we have not capitalized any software

development costs

Internal-Use Software Development Costs

Costs associated with customized internal-use software systems that have reached the application development

stage are capitalized Such capitalized costs include costs directly associated with the development of the

applications Capitalization of such costs begins when the preliminary project stage is complete and ceases at the

point in which the project is substantially complete and is ready for its intended purpose

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are stated at realizable value net of an allowance for doubtful accounts that is maintained

for estimated losses that would result from the inability of some customers to make payments The allowance is

based on an analysis of past due amounts and ongoing credit evaluations Customers are generally evaluated for

creditworthiness through credit review process at the time of each order Our collection experience has been

consistent with our estimates

Business Combinations

In business combination we allocate the purchase price to the acquired business identifiable assets and

liabilities at their acquisition date fair values The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to the

identifiable assets and liabilities if any is recorded as goodwill The excess if any of the fair value of the

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the consideration transferred is recognized as gain

within other income in the consolidated statements of operations as of the acquisition date
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To date the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in our business combinations have primarily consisted of

acquired working capital and definite-lived intangible assets The carrying value of acquired working capital is

assumed to be equal to its fair value given the short-term nature of these assets and liabilities We estimate the

fair value of definite-lived intangible assets acquired using discounted cash flow approach which includes an

analysis of the future cash flows expected to be generated by such assets and the risk associated with achieving

such cash flows The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow model include the discount rate that is

applied to the discretely forecasted future cash flows to calculate the present value of those cash flows and the

estimate of future cash flows attributable to the acquired intangible assets which include revenue operating

expenses
and taxes

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in business

combination over the fair value of assets acquired net of liabilities assumed Goodwill is not amortized but

is subject to annual impairment tests as described below

We test goodwill for impairment annually on December 31 or more frequently if events or changes in business

circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired Examples of such events or circumstances include the

following

significant adverse change in our business climate

unanticipated competition

loss of key personnel

more likely than not expectation that significant portion of our business will be sold or

the testing for recoverability of significant asset group within the reporting unit

We first assess qualitative factors to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is

less than its carrying amount as basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill

impairment test included in GAAP To the extent our assessment identifies adverse conditions goodwill is tested

for impairment at the reporting unit level using two-step approach The first step is to compare the fair value of

the reporting unit to the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit If the fair value of the

reporting unit is greater than the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit the assigned

goodwill is not considered impaired If the fair value is less than the reporting units carrying value step two is

required to measure the amount of the impairment if any In the second step the fair value of goodwill is

determined by deducting the fair value of the reporting units identifiable assets and liabilities from the fair value

of the reporting unit as whole as if the reporting unit had just been acquired and the purchase price were being

initially allocated If the carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value an impairment charge would

be recorded to operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations in the period the determination is

made

We have determined that we have one reporting unit BroadSoft Inc which is the consolidated entity Based on

the results of our annual goodwill impairment testing in 2012 2011 and 2010 our fair value exceeded our book

value by substantial margin Therefore the second step of the impairment test was not required to be performed

and no goodwill impairment was recognized However there can be no assurance that goodwill will not be

impaired at any time in the future

Intangible Assets

We acquired intangible assets in connection with certain of our business acquisitions These assets were recorded

at their estimated fair values at the acquisition date and are amortized over their respective estimated useful lives
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using method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the intangible assets

are used Estimated useful lives are determined based on our historical use of similar assets and the expectation

of future realization of cash flows attributable to the intangible assets Changes in circumstance such as

technological advances or changes to our business model could result in the actual useful lives differing from

our current estimates In those cases where we determine that the useful life of an intangible asset should be

shortened we amortize the net book value in excess of the estimated salvage value over its revised remaining

useful life We did not revise our previously assigned usefullife estimates attributed to any of our intangible

assets in 2012 2011 or 2010

The estimated useful lives used in computing amortization of intangible assets are as follows

Customer relationships years

Developed technology years

Non-compete agreement year

Tradenames years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

We review our long-lived assets including property and equipment and intangible assets for impairment

whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset or an asset group may not

be recoverable Typical indicators that an asset may be impaired include but are not limited to

significant adverse change in the extent or manner in which long-lived asset is being used or in its

physical condition

current-period operating or cash flow loss combined with history of operating or cash flow losses or

projection or forecast that demonstrates continuing losses associated with the use of long-lived

asset or

current expectation that more likely than not long-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disposed of

significantly before the end of its previously estimated useful life

Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of the assets to

future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated Assets to be disposed of are recorded at the lower

of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell Recoverability measurement and estimating of

undiscounted cash flows for assets to be held and used is done at the lowest possible levels for which there are

identifiable assets If such assets are considered impaired generally the amount of impairment recognized would

be equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets which we

would compute using discounted cash flow approach Estimating future cash flows attributable to our long-

lived assets requires significant judgment and projections may vary from cash flows eventually realized There

were no triggering events to cause us to record an impairment charge in 2012 2011 or 2010

Income Taxes

We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in the authoritative guidance for

accounting for income taxes This method requires an asset and liability approach for the recognition of deferred

tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences between

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax bases and

for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by applying

enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the future years in which deferred amounts are expected to be settled or

realized

Based upon our cumulative operating results through June 30 2011 and an assessment of our expected future

results of operations we determined that there was significant positive evidence regarding the realization of our
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U.S deferred tax assets After weighing both the positive and negative evidence coupled with the continued

success in commercializing our core products and services both inside and outside the U.S we believe that it is

more likely than not that our U.S deferred tax assets will be realized portion of the U.S valuation allowance

was released in the period ended June 30 2011 based on the amount of U.S net deferred tax assets then expected

to be remaining as of December 31 2011 As of December 31 2011 we reversed all of the remaining valuation

allowance on the U.S deferred tax assets because it was more likely than not that those deferred tax assets would

be realized The release of the U.S valuation allowance was recorded as tax benefit on our consolidated

statements of operations for 2011 As of December 31 2012 we had remaining valuation allowance of

approximately $5.6 million which primarily relates to certain foreign NOLs and tax credits that more likely than

not will not be realized

We operate in various tax jurisdictions and are subject to audit by various tax authorities We recognize and

measure benefits for uncertain tax positions using two-step approach The first step is to evaluate the tax

position taken or expected to be taken in tax return by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates

that it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained upon audit including resolution of any related

appeals or litigation processes For tax positions that are more likely than not to be sustained upon audit the

second step is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely to be realized upon

settlement Significant judgment is required to evaluate uncertain tax positions Changes in facts and

circumstances could have material impact on our effective tax rate and results of operations

Results of Operations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2012 and 2011

Revenue

Year ended December 31
Perjl-to-Period

2012 2011 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Revenue by Type
License software 89750 55% 77289 56% $12461 16%

Subscription and maintenance
support 58249 35 42462 31 15787 37

Professional services and other 16843 10 18313 13 1470

Total revenue $164842 100% $138064 100% $26778 19%

Revenue by Geography

Americas $107514 65% 87866 64% $19648 22%

EMEA 39334 24 24866 18 14468 58

APAC 17994 11 25332 18 7338 29
Total revenue $164842 100% $138064 100% $26778 19%

Total revenue for 2012 increased by 19% or $26.8 million to $164.8 million compared to 2011 This growth

was driven by 16% increase in license software revenue and 37% increase in subscription and maintenance

support revenue partially offset by an 8% decrease in professional services and other revenue Deferred revenue

increased by $4.0 million for 2012 compared to decrease of $2.1 million in 2011

Total revenue from the Americas for 2012 increased by 22% or $19.6 million to $107.5 million compared to

2011 The increase in revenue from the Americas for 2012 was due to growth in software license sales for our

hosted UC and consumer offerings and associated maintenance support revenue In Europe Middle East and
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Africa or EMBA total revenue for 2012 increased by 58% or $14.5 million to $39.3 million compared to 2011

The increase in EMEA revenue in 2012 was primarily due to growth in software license sales and related

maintenance support particularly our hosted UC applications and the recognition of consumer applications

revenue related to an arrangement that had been deferred in prior periods In Asia Pacific or APAC total

revenue for 2012 decreased by 29% or $7.3 million to $18.0 million compared to 2011 The decrease in APAC

revenue was mostly due to the recognition of revenue in 2011 on sizeable order for our call center application

from large incumbent provider that had been deferred in prior periods

License Software

License software revenue for 2012 increased by 16% or $12.5 million to $89.8 million The increase in revenue

for 2012 was primarily related to growth in sales of software licenses This growth was most significant in

license sales for our hosted UC and consumer applications Deferred license software revenue decreased by $2.2

million for 2012 compared to decrease of $5.0 million in 2011 The decrease in deferred revenue for 2012 was

primarily driven by number of orders where revenue was deferred in prior periods and was recognized during

2012

Subscription and Maintenance Support

Subscription and maintenance support revenue for 2012 increased by 37% or $15.8 million to $58.2 million

compared to 2011 The increase in subscription and maintenance support revenue and deferred revenue was the

result of growth in our installed base of customers and licenses and subscription revenue contributions from

certain of our recent acquisitions Deferred subscription and maintenance support revenue grew by $6.4 million

for 2012 compared to growth of $5.9 million in 2011

Professional Services and Other

Professional services and other revenue for 2012 decreased by 8% or $1.5 million to $16.8 million compared to

2011 The decrease in professional services and other revenue for 2012 was due to the recognition of revenue in

2011 for new call center application that had been deferred in prior periods partially offset by growth in

demand for our professional services Deferred professional services and other revenue had minimal change for

2012 compared to decrease of $3.0 million in 2011

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Period

2012 2011 Change

Percent Percent

of of

Related Related

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Cost of Revenue

License software 8643 10% 6077 8% 2566 42%

Subscription and maintenance support 14831 25 10419 25 4412 42

Professional services and other 9012 54 8478 46 534

Total cost of revenue 32486 20% 24974 18% 7512 30%

Gross Profit

License software 81107 90% 71212 92% 9895 14%

Subscription and maintenance support 43418 75 32043 75 11375 35

Professional services and other 7831 46 9835 54 2004 20

Total gross profit $132356 80% $113090 82% $19266 17%
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For 2012 our gross margin decreased to 80% as compared to 82% in 2011 and our gross profit increased by

17% or $19.3 million to $132.4 million We experienced an increase in both license software revenue gross

profit and subscription and maintenance support gross profit and decrease in professional services and other

gross profit for 2012 The total gross profit growth is primarily due to growth in license software and

subscription and maintenance support revenue relative to the respective cost of revenue

For 2012 license software gross margin decreased to 90% as compared to 92% in 2011 and license software

gross profit increased by 14% to $81.1 million License software cost of revenue increased by 42% or $2.6

million to $8.6 million for 2012 This increase was primarily due to $1.0 million increase in equipment and

resold third party software costs and $0.8 million increase in personnel-related costs driven by an increase in

headcount The increase in license software gross profit was driven by revenue growth relative to lower growth

in license software cost of revenue

For 2012 subscription and maintenance services gross margin remained at 75% as compared to 2011 and

subscription and maintenance services gross profit increased by 35% to $43.4 million Subscription and

maintenance services cost of revenue increased by 42% or $4.4 million to $14.8 million in 2012 as compared to

2011 The increase in subscription and maintenance services cost of revenue was primarily due to an increase of

$1.3 million in personnel-related costs driven by an increase in headcount $1.1 million increase in amortization

of acquired intangibles $0.4 million increase in consulting fees and $0.4 million increase in line costs The

increase in subscription and maintenance services gross profit was driven by revenue growth relative to lower

growth in subscription and maintenance services cost of revenue

For 2012 professional services and other gross margin decreased to 46% as compared to 54% in 2011 and

professional services and other gross profit decreased by 20% to $7.8 million Professional services and other

cost of revenue increased 6% or $0.5 million to $9.0 million for 2012 The increase in professional services cost

of revenue was primarily due to an increase in personnel costs and consulting fees The decrease in professional

services and other gross margin was driven by the recognition of revenue in 2011 for new call center

application from large APAC incumbent provider that had been deferred in prior periods

Operating Expenses

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Period

2012 2011 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Sales and marketing 47911 29% $38376 28% 9535 25%

Research and development 36178 22 27744 20 8434 30

General and administrative 22863 14 19534 14 3329 17

Total operating expenses $106952 65% $85654 62% $21298 25%

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expense increased by 25% or $9.5 million to $47.9 million for 2012

The primary cause of this increase was $7.2 million increase in personnel costs primarily resulting from

headcount growth and higher sales commissio.ns $0.7 million increase in outside consulting fees and $0.7

million increase in travel expenses

Research and Development Research and development expense increased by 30% or $8.4 million to $36.2

million for 2012 This increase was primarily due to an $8.0 million increase in personnel costs primarily from

an increase in headcount as we continue to invest in our product offerings as well as the impact of the

acquisitions we made during 2011 and 2012
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General and Administrative General and administrative expense
increased by 17% or $3.3 million to $22.9

million for 2012 This increase was primarily attributable to $2.0 million increase in personnel related costs

$0.7 million increase in equipment and software costs $0.6 million increase in bad debt expense and an

increase of $0.3 million in outside consulting fees

Income from Operations

We had income from operations of $25.4 million for 2012 compared to $27.4 million in 2011

Other Income Expense

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Peruxl

2012 2011 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Interest income 455 278 177 64%

Interest expense 6925 4% 3592 3% 3333 93%

Total other expense net $6470 4% $3314 3% $3156 95%

Less than 1%

Interest income increased by $0.2 million for 2012 Interest expense increased by $3.3 million compared to 2011

This increase in interest expense is primarily related to our Notes issued in June 2011 and full years

recognition of interest expense in 2012

Provision Benefit from for Income Taxes

Provision for income taxes was $6.9 million for the year ended December 31 2012 compared to benefit from

income taxes of $8.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 For the year ended December 31 2012 the

tax provision was positively impacted by $1.9 million due to the recognition of research and development tax

credits relating to prior years These credits were not recorded until an acceptance for the credits was established

The benefit from income taxes for 2011 related primarily to an $8.9 million benefit due to the discrete release of

the U.S tax valuation allowance partially offset by foreign taxes

Comparison of the Years Ended December 31 2011 and 2010

Revenue

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Period

2011 2010 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Revenue by Type
License software 77289 56% $53302 56% $23987 45%

Subscription and maintenance support 42462 31 33743 35 8719 26

Professional services and other 18313 13 8578 9735 113

Total revenue $138064 100% $95623 100% $42441 44%

Revenue by Geography
Americas 87866 64% $57693 60% $30173 52%

EMEA 24866 18 23617 25 1249

APAC 25332 18 14313 15 11019 77

Total revenue $138064 100% $95623 100% $42441 44%
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Total revenue for 2011 increased by 44% or $42.4 million to $138.1 million compared to 2010 This growth

was driven by 45% increase in license software revenue 26% increase in subscription and maintenance

support and 113% increase in professional services and other revenue The revenue growth was driven by an

increase in sales of our hosted Unified Communications and SIP Trunking products Deferred revenue decreased

by $2.1 million for 2011 compared to growth of $19.2 million in 2010 The decrease in deferred revenue was

mainly attributed to sizeable order where revenue was previously deferred and which was recognized during

2011

Total revenue from the Americas for 2011 increased by 52% or $30.2 million to $87.9 million compared to

2010 The increase in revenue from the Americas for 2011 was due to growth in software license sales and

associated maintenance support revenue In EMEA total revenue for 2011 increased by 5% or $1.2 million to

$24.9 million compared to 2010 The increase in EMEA revenue in 2011 was due to growth in software license

sales and associated maintenance
support revenue In APAC total revenue for 2011 increased by 77% or $1 1.0

million to $25.3 million compared to 2010 The increase in APAC revenue was driven by growth in our Unified

Communications offerings including sizeable call center order

License Sojiware

License software revenue for 2011 increased by 45% or $24.0 million to $77.3 million The increase in revenue

for 2011 was primarily related to growth in sales of software licenses This growth was most significant in

license sales for our hosted UC and SIP Trunking applications Deferred license software revenue decreased by

$5.0 million for 2011 compared to growth of $6.1 million in 2010 The decrease in deferred revenue for 2011

was primarily driven by sizeable order where revenue was previously deferred and which was recognized

during 2011

Subscription and Maintenance Support

Subscription and maintenance support revenue for 2011 increased by 26% or $8.7 million to $42.5 million

compared to 2010 Deferred subscription and maintenance support revenue increased by $5.9 million for 2011

compared to growth of $8.7 million in 2010 The increase in subscription and maintenance support revenue was

the result of growth in our installed base of customers and licenses as well as from sizeable order where

revenue was previously deferred and which was recognized in 2011

Profrssional Services and Other

Professional services and other revenue for 2011 increased by 113% or $9.7 million to $18.3 million compared

to 2010 Deferred professional services and other revenue decreased by $3.0 million for 2011 compared to an

increase of $4.5 million in 2010 The increase in professional services and other revenue was the result of

increased demand for our services offerings The decrease in deferred revenue was mainly attributed to sizeable

order where revenue was previously deferred and which was recognized in 2011
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

Year ended December 31
PeriotitoPerio

2011 2010 Change

Percent Percent

of of

Related Related

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Cost of Revenue

License software 6077 8% 5341 10% 736 14%

Subscription and maintenance support 10419 25 7691 23 2728 35

Professional services and other 8478 46 7010 82 1468 21

Total cost of revenue 24974 18% $20042 21% 4932 25%

Gross Profit

License software 71212 92% $47961 90% $23251 48%

Subscription and maintenance support 32043 75 26052 77 5991 23

Professional services and other 9835 54 1568 18 8267 527

Total gross profit $113090 82% $75581 79% $37509 50%

For 2011 our gross margin increased to 82% as compared to 79% in 2010 and our gross profit increased by 50%

or $37.5 million to $113.1 million This increase in gross profit resulted from growth in each of license software

revenue subscription and maintenance support revenue and professional services and other revenue in each case

relative to the respective cost of revenue

For 2011 license software gross margin increased to 92% as compared to 90% in 2010 and license software

gross profit increased by 48% to $71.2 million License software cost of revenue increased by 14% or $0.7

million to $6.1 million for 2011 This increase was primarily due to $0.6 million increase in personnel-related

costs driven by an increase in headcount The increase in license software gross profit and gross margin was

driven by revenue growth relative to lower growth in license software cost of revenue substantial portion of

license software cost of sales is fixed expense and therefore does not increase with revenue growth

For 2011 subscription and maintenance support gross margin decreased to 75% as compared to 77% in 2010 and

subscription and maintenance support gross profit increased by 23% to $32.0 million Subscription and

maintenance support cost of revenue increased by 35% or $2.7 million to $10.4 million in 2011 as compared to

2010 The increase in subscription and maintenance support cost of revenue was primarily due to an increase in

personnel and consulting fees allocated to cost of revenue due to an increase in the number of research and

development employees and consultants working directly on specific features for certain customers and an

increase in services personnel

For 2011 professional services and other gross margin increased to 54% as compared to 18% in 2010 and

professional services and other gross profit increased by 527% to $9.8 million Professional services and other

cost of revenue increased by 21% or $1.5 million to $8.5 million in 2011 as compared to 2010 The increase in

professional services and other costs of revenue was primarily due to an increase in personnel and consulting

fees The increase in professional service and other gross profit and gross margin was driven by revenue growth

relative to lower growth in professional services and other cost of revenue This was due to higher utilization of

professional services resources and sizeable order for which revenue was previously deferred and which was

recognized in 2011
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Operating Expenses

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Period

2011 2010 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Sales and marketing $38376 28% $31818 33% 6558 21%

Research and development 27744 20 19616 21 8128 41

General and administrative 19534 14 14103 15 5431 39

Total operating expenses $85654 62% $65537 69% $20117 31%

Sales and Marketing Sales and marketing expense
increased by 21% or $6.6 million to $38.4 million for 2011

The primary driver of this increase was $4.3 million increase in personnel costs that was driven by headcount

growth and higher sales commissions and $0.7 million increase in travel expenses

Research and Development Research and development expense increased by 41 or $8.1 million to $27.7

million for 2011 This increase was primarily due to $5.4 million increase in personnel costs primarily from an

increase in headcount and $1.0 million increase in outside consulting fees

General and Administrative General and administrative expense increased by 39% or $5.4 million to $19.5

million for 2011 This increase was primarily attributable to $3.1 million increase in personnel related costs and

$1.4 million increase in professional services fees significant portion of these increases were attributable to

expenses related to being public company including fees associated with implementation testing and auditing

associated with our first internal controls audit under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and acquisition-related

expenses

Income from Operations

We had income from operations of $27.4 million for 2011 compared to $10.0 million in 2010 The increase in

income from operations for 2011 was result of the $37.5 million increase in
gross profit partially offset by

$20.1 million increase in total operating expenses described above

Other Income Expense

Year ended December 31
Period-to-Period

2011 2010 Change

Percent Percent

of Total of Total

Amount Revenue Amount Revenue Amount Percentage

dollars in thousands

Interest income 278 52 226 435%

Interest expense 3592 3% 757 1% 2835 375

Other expense ______
174 174 NM

Total other expense net $3314 3% $879 1% $2435 277%

Less than 1%

NM Not meaningful
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Interest income for 2011 was relatively unchanged as compared to 2010 Interest expense
increased by $2.8

million compared to 2010 This increase in interest expense is primarily related to our Notes issued in June 2011

offset by decrease attributable to the voluntary early repayment of the ORIX Loan in June 2010 Other expense

for 2011 was similarly relatively unchanged as compared to 2010 We do not anticipate incurring significant

other income expense in future years

Benefit from Proviswn for Income Taxes

Benefit from income taxes was $8.2 million for the year ended December 31 2011 compared to provision for

income taxes of $1.2 million for the
year

ended December 31 2010 The benefit from income taxes related

primarily to an $8.9 million benefit due to the discrete release of the U.S tax valuation allowance partially offset

by foreign taxes

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Resources

Since the beginning of 2009 we have funded our operations principally with cash provided by operating

activities which has resulted primarily from growth in net income and deferred revenue Cash flow from

operations was $30.6 million $28.6 million and $19.4 million for the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and

2010 respectively In June 2010 we completed our IPO through which we raised net proceeds of $40.0 million

In December 2010 we completed our follow-on offering through which we raised net proceeds of $9.9 million

In June 2011 we completed an offering of our Notes with net proceeds from the offering of approximately

$115.7 million

Cash and Cash Equivalents Accounts Receivable and Working Capital

The following table presents summary of our cash and cash equivalents accounts receivable working capital

and cash flows as of the dates and for the periods indicated in thousands

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Cash and cash equivalents 90545 94072

Accounts receivable net 48980 47048

Working capital 161519 180010

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Cash used in provided by

Operating activities 30598 28575 19386

Investing activities 34153 99136 24274
Financing activities 121 117431 29203

Our cash and cash equivalents at December 31 2012 were held for working capital and other general corporate

purposes and were invested primarily in demand deposit accounts or money market funds We do not enter into

investments for trading or speculative purposes Restricted cash which totaled $0.6 million at December 31

2012 and is not included in cash and cash equivalents consisted primarily of certificates of deposit that secure

letters of credit related to operating leases for office space

Operating Activities

For the
year

ended December 31 2012 net cash provided by operating activities was $30.6 million compared to

$28.6 million for 2011 Cash provided by operating activities during 2012 was primarily result of net income of

$12.1 million aggregate non-cash
expenses

of $34.6 million including stock-based compensation expense of

$15.0 million depreciation and amortization of $5.2 million non-cash interest on convertible debt of $5.1
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million provision for deferred income taxes of $5.1 million and amortization of software licenses of $2.9

million and $4.0 million increase in deferred revenue These amounts were partially offset by $16.4 increase

in other assets which includes our up-front payment of $6.5 million fee in connection with our recently

executed third party licensing agreement $2.6 million increase in accounts receivable and $1.1 million

decrease in accounts payable accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities

For the year ended December 31 2011 operating activities provided $28.6 million in net cash compared to $19.4

million in 2010 This was primarily as result of net income of $32.3 million and non-cash items such as

depreciation and amortization of $3.1 million amortization of software licenses of $1.8 million and stock-based

compensation expense of $7.2 million partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $6.0 million

For the year ended December 31 2010 operating activities provided $19.4 million in net cash compared to $10.4

million in 2009 This was primarily as result of net income of $8.0 million $19.2 million increase in

deferred revenue which was attributable primarily to increased sales of our software and non-cash items such as

depreciation and amortization of $2.3 million amortization of software licenses of $1.8 million and stock-based

compensation expense of $3.0 million partially offset by an increase in accounts receivable of $15.0 million

investing Activities

Our investing activities have consisted primarily of purchases of marketable securities and property and

equipment and the acquisitions of businesses

For the year ended December 31 2012 net cash used in investing activities was $34.2 million compared to

$99.1 million for 2011 This decrease was primarily attributable to $73.6 million decrease in net purchases of

marketable securities offset by an $8.4 million increase in cash used for acquisitions

In 2011 net cash used in investing activities was $99.1 million compared to $24.3 million for 2010 This

increase was attributed to an increase of $118.6 million in marketable securities purchased with additional excess

cash and $14.6 million increase in cash used for acquisitions partially offset by proceeds from the sale and

maturity of marketable securities of $58.2 million

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash used in investing activities was $24.3 million compared to net

cash provided of $0.7 million for 2009 This increase was attributed to $18.7 million in marketable securities

purchased with excess cash and $1.9 million increase in purchases of property and equipment $0.5 million of

which was for leasehold improvements and equipment for new office space

Financing Activities

In 2012 net cash used in financing activities was $0.1 million compared to net cash provided by financing

activities of $1 17.4 million for 2011 The change is primarily the result of our receipt of $115.7 million of cash

upon the issuance of the Notes during 2011 $1.5 million decrease in proceeds from stock option exercises

compared to 2011 and $1.6 million increase in cash paid for taxes on the vesting of restricted stock units

compared to 2011

In 2011 net cash provided by financingactivities was $117.4 million compared to $29.2 million in 2010 The

principal source of cash generated from financing activities was related to the issuance of the Notes which

generated $115.7 million net of issuance costs Additionally in 2011 proceeds from common stock issued upon

the exercise of stock options increased by $3.2 million compared to 2010

For the year ended December 31 2010 net cash provided by financing activities was $29.2 million compared to

cash used of $2.7 million in 2009 This amount consisted primarily of the net proceeds of our IPO of $40.0

million and net proceeds of our follow-on offering of $9.9 million partially offset by repayment of the ORIX
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Loan and other loan balances in the aggregate of $16.7 million and the $4.3 million payment for the redemption

and subsequent cancellation of all outstanding shares of our Series redeemable preferred stock

Borrowings and Credit Facilities

Convertible Senior Notes

In June 2011 we issued $120.0 million aggregate principal amount of our Notes The Notes are our senior

unsecured obligations with interest payable semi-annually in cash at rate of 1.50% per annum and will mature

on July 2018 unless earlier repurchased redeemed or converted

The initial conversion rate for the Notes is approximately $41.99 per
share The conversion price will be subject

to adjustment in some events but will not be adjusted for accrued interest Upon conversion we will pay cash up

to the aggregate principal amount of the Notes to be converted and deliver shares of our common stock in respect

of the remainder if any of the conversion obligation in excess of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes

being converted

Conversion Prior to April 2018

Note holders may convert their Notes at their option prior to April 2018 only if any of the following occur

if for ten consecutive trading days the trading price per Note is less than 98% of the product of the last

reported sale price of the common stock and the applicable conversion rate of the Notes on such day

then the Notes may be converted at any time during the five business days following such ten day

period

if the closing price of our common stock exceeds 130% of the conversion price of the Notes for at least

20 of the final 30 trading days of calendar quarter then the Notes may be converted at any time

during the following calendar quarter

upon the occurrence of certain corporate events specified in the indenture governing the Notes or the

Indenture or

if we call the Notes for redemption

Conversion on or After April 2018

The Notes will be convertible regardless of the foregoing circumstances at any time on or after April 2018

through the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date

Redemption by Holders

Holders of the Notes may require us to repurchase some or all of the Notes for cash subject to certain exceptions

upon fundamental change as defined in the Indenture at repurchase price equal to the principal amount of the

Notes being repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest up to but excluding the relevant repurchase date

In addition if make-whole fundamental change as defined in the Indenture occurs prior to the maturity date

we will in some cases increase the conversion rate for holder that elects to convert its Notes in connection with

such make-whole fundamental change

Redemption by BroadSoft

We may not redeem the Notes prior to July 2015 Beginning July 2015 we may redeem for cash all or part

of the Notes except for the Notes that we are required to repurchase as described above if the last reported sale

price of our common stock exceeds 140% of the applicable conversion price of the Notes for at least 20 of the

final 30 trading days ending on the trading day immediately prior to the date of the redemption notice The

redemption price of any Notes we call for redemption prior to the maturity date will equal the sum of the
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principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest plus make-whole premium

payment

Tekes Loan

In connection with our acquisition of Movial Applications Oy in October 2011 we assumed five installment

loans with Tekesthe Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation in the aggregate principal

amount of $1.0 million The terms of the loans are governed by the Finnish Act on State Lending and State

Guarantees Government Decree on Research Development and Innovation Funding The loans are for funding

approved research and development projects repayment terms are determined on per project basis and the

interest rate on each loan is variable which is currently three percent We expect to repay
these loans in full

during 2013 subject to completing statutory audit in Finland

Operating and Capital Expenditure Requirements

We believe the cash generated from operations our current cash cash equivalents and short-term and long-term

investment balances and interest income we earn on these balances will be sufficient to meet our anticipated cash

requirements through at least the next 12 months In the future we expect our operating and capital expenditures

to grow as we increase headcount expand our business activities grow our customer base and implement and

enhance our information technology and enterprise resource planning system As sales grow we expect our

accounts receivable balance to increase Any such increase in accounts receivable may not be completely offset

by increases in accounts payable and accrued expenses which would likely result in greater working capital

requirements

If our available cash resources are insufficient to satisfy our liquidity requirements we may seek to sell

additional equity or convertible debt securities or enter into credit facility The sale of equity and convertible

debt securities may result in dilution to our stockholders and those securities may have rights senior to those of

our common shares If we raise additional funds through the issuance of convertible debt securities these

securities could contain covenants that would restrict our operations We may require additional capital beyond

our currently anticipated amounts Additional capital may not be available on reasonable terms or at all

Contractual Obligations

We have contractual obligations for non-cancelable office space notes payable and other short-term and long-

term liabilities The following table discloses aggregate information about our contractual obligations as of

December 31 2012 and periods in which payments are due in thousands

Payments Due by Year

Total 2013 2014 2015 2016 -2017 After 2017

Convertible Senior Notes including interest $130800 $1800 $3600 $3600 $121800

Tekes Loan 969 555 263 76 75

Operating lease obligations 12702 2255 4156 4003 2288

Equipment leases 104 74 30
_______

Total $144575 $4684 $8049 $7679 $124163

Contractual interest obligations related to our Notes totaled $10.8 million at December 31 2012 including

$1.8 million $3.6 million $3.6 million and $1.8 million due in years 2013 2014-2015 2016-2017 and after

2017 respectively

As of December 31 2012 we had unrecognized tax benefits of $0.8 million which did not include any interest

or penalties We do not expect to recognize any of these benefits in 2013 Furthermore we are not able to provide

reliable estimate of the timing of future payments relating to these unrecognized benefits
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31 2012 we did not have any significant off-balance sheet arrangements as defined in

Item 303a4ii of SEC Regulation S-K

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

In addition to our GAAP operating results we use certain non-GAAP financial measures when planning

monitoring and evaluating our performance We consider these non-GAAP financial measures to be useful

metrics for management and investors because they exclude the effect of certain non-cash expenses such as

stock-based compensation expense amortization of acquired intangibles expense non-cash interest expense on

our Notes and non-cash tax provision so management and investors can compare our core business operating

results over multiple periods While we believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are useful in evaluating

our business this information should be considered as supplemental in nature and is not meant as substitute for

revenue recognized in accordance with GAAP In addition other companies including companies in our

industry may calculate such measures differently which reduces its usefulness as comparative measure We
believe that these non-GAAP measures reflect our ongoing business in manner that allows for meaningful

period-to-period comparisons and analysis of trends in our business as they exclude certain expenses

The presentation of non-GAAP net income non-GAAP net income per share non-GAAP gross profit

non-GAAP operating income and other non-GAAP financial measures in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is

not meant to be substitute for net income net income per share gross profit income from operations

or other financial measures presented in accordance with GAAP but rather should be evaluated in conjunction

with such data Our definition of non-GAAP net income non-GAAP net income per share non-GAAP

gross profit non-GAAP income from operations and other non-GAAP financial measures may differ from

similarlytitled non-GAAP measures used by other companies and may differ from period to period In reporting

non-GAAP measures in the future we may make other adjustments for
expenses

and gains we do not consider

reflective of core operating performance in particular period and may modify non-GAAP net income non
GAAP net income

per share non-GAAP gross profit non-GAAP income from operations and such other

non-GAAP measures by excluding these expenses and gains

Non-GAAP net income and net income per share We define non-GAAP net income as net income plus stock-

based compensation expense amortization expense for acquired intangible assets non-cash interest expense on

our Notes and non-cash tax expense included in the GAAP tax provision We define non-GAAP income per

share as non-GAAP net income divided by the weighted average shares outstanding

Non-GAAP gross profit license gross profit maintenance and services gross profit and professional services and

other gross profit We define non-GAAP gross profit as gross profit plus stock-based compensation expense and

amortization expense for acquired intangible assets We consider non-GAAP gross profit to be useful metric for

management and our investors because it excludes the effect of certain non-cash expenses so management and

investors can compare our sales margins over multiple periods

Non-GAAP operating income We define non-GAAP operating income as income from operations plus stock-

based compensation expense and amortization expense for acquired intangible assets We consider non-GAAP

operating income to be useful metric for management and investors because it excludes the effect of certain

non-cash expenses so management and investors can compare our core business operating results over multiple

periods

Non-GAAP operating expenses sales and marketing expense research and development expense and general

and administrative expense We define non-GAAP operating expenses as operating expense plus stock-based

compensation expense allocated to sales and marketing research and development and general and

administrative expenses Similarly we define non-GAAP sales and marketing research
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and development and general and administrative expenses as the relevant GAAP measure plus stock-based

compensation expense allocated to the particular expense item

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

Non-GAAP gross profit

GAAP gross profit $132356 $113090 $75581

percent of total revenue 80% 82% 79%

Plus

Stock-based compensation expense 1831 916 210

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 2660 1295 794

Non-GAAP gross profit $136847 $115301 $76585

percent of total revenue 83% 84% 80%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

GAAP license gross profit $81107 $71212 $47961

percent of related revenue 90% 92% 90%

Plus

Stock-based compensation expense 553 331 89

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 938 704 675

Non-GAAP license gross profit $82598 $72247 $48725

percent of related revenue 92% 93% 91%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

GAAP subscription and maintenance support gross profit $43418 $32043 $26052

percent of related revenue 75% 75% 77%

Plus

Stock-based compensation expense 839 334 81

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 1722 591 119

Non-GAAP subscription and maintenance support gross

profit $45979 $32968 $26252

percent of related revenue 79% 78% 78%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

GAAP professional services and other
gross profit $7831 9835 $1568

percent of related revenue 46% 54% 18%

Plus

Stock-based compensation expense 439 251 40

Non-GAAP professional services and other gross profit $8270 $10086 $1608

percent of related revenue 49% 55% 19%
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Non-GAAP income from operations

GAAP income from operations

percent of total revenue

Plus

Stock-based compensation expense

Amortization of acquired intangible assets

Non-GAAP income from operations

percent of total revenue

GAAP operating expense

Less

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

$25404 $27436 $10044

15% 20% 11%

15022 7201 3008

2660 1295 794

$43086 $35932 $13846

26% 26% 14%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

$106952 $85654 $65537

Stock-based compensation expense

Non-GAAP operating expense

as percent of total revenue

GAAP sales and marketing expense

Less

Stock-based compensation expense

Non-GAAP sales and marketing expense

as percent of total revenue

GAAP research and development expense

Less

Stock-based compensation expense

Non-GAAP research and development expense

as percent of total revenue

GAAP general and administrative expense

Less

Stock-based compensation expense

Non-GAAP general and administrative expense

as percent of total revenue

13191 6285 2798

93761 $79369 $62739

57% 57% 66%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

$47911 $38376 $31818

5609 1984 882

$42302 $36392 $30936

26% 26% 32%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

$36178 $27744 $19616

4498 1901 638

$31680 $25843 $18978

19% 19% 20%

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

$22863 $19534 $14103

3084 2400 1278

$19779 $17134 $12825

12% 12% 13%
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Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

Non-GAAP net income and income per share

GAAP net income $12076 $32297 7992

Adjusted for

Stock-based compensation expense 15022 7201 3008

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 2660 1295 794

Non-cash interest expense on our notes 5120 2561

Non-cash tax provision benefit 6023 8879 1093

Non-GAAP net income $40901 $34475 $12887

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

GAAP net income per basic common share 0.44 1.21 0.49

Adjusted for

Adjustment for preferred stock conversion 0.13

Stock-based compensation expense
0.54 0.27 0.13

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 0.10 0.05 0.04

Non-cash interest expense on our notes 0.18 0.10

Non-cash tax provision benefit 0.22 0.33 0.05

Non-GAAP net income
per

basic common share 1.48 1.30 0.58

Years Ended

December 31
2012 2011 2010

In thousands

GAAP net income per diluted common share 0.43 1.15 0.32

Adjusted for

Stock-based compensation expense
0.53 0.26 0.12

Amortization of acquired intangible assets 0.09 0.05 0.04

Non-cash interest expense on our notes 0.18 0.09

Non-cash tax provision benefit 0.21 0.32 0.04

Non-GAAP net income per diluted common share 1.44 1.23 0.52

For purposes of the calculation of non-GAAP net income per
basic common shares for the year

ended

December 31 2010 GAAP weighted-average shares outstanding was adjusted as if the conversion of all

shares of redeemable convertible preferred stock into common stock occurred at the beginning of the period

Item 7A Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates We do not

use derivative financial instruments for speculative hedging or trading purposes although in the future we may

enter into interest rate or exchange rate hedging arrangements to manage the risks described below

Interest Rate Risk

The interest rate is fixed on all outstanding loan balances so we do not have exposure to risks due to increases in

the variable rates tied to indexes We maintain short-term investment portfolio consisting mainly of highly
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liquid short-term money market funds which we consider to be cash equivalents in addition to small portion of

long-term investments that have maturity of less than two years
Our restricted cash consists primarily of

certificates of deposit that secure letters of credit related to operating leases for office space These securities and

investments earn interest at variable rates and as result decreases in market interest rates would generally

result in decreased interest income We do not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes Due to

the high investment quality and relatively short duration of these investments we do not believe that we have any

material exposure to changes in the fair market value as result of changes in interest rates

Foreign Currency Exchange Risk

Substantially all of our sales contracts are currently denominated in U.S dollars Therefore we have minimal

foreign currency exchange risk with respect to our revenue With international operations we face exposure to

adverse movements in foreign currency exchange rates These
exposures may change over time as business

practices evolve and if our exposure increases adverse movement in foreign currency exchange rates could have

material adverse impact on our financial results Historically our primary exposures have been related to non
U.S dollar denominated operating expenses in Canada Europe and the APAC region As result our results of

operations would generally be adversely affected by decline in the value of the U.S dollar relative to these

foreign currencies However we believe this
exposure is not material at this time As we continue to grow our

international operations our exposure to foreign currency risk could become more significant We do not

currently engage in
currency hedging activities to limit the risk of exchange rate fluctuations
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of BroadSoft Inc

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements listed in the accompanying index present fairly in all

material respects the financial position of BroadSoft Inc and its subsidiaries at December 31 2012 and

December 31 2011 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the

period ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America In

addition in our opinion the financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15b presents

fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related

consolidated financial statements Also in our opinion the Company maintained in all material respects

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 based on criteria established in

Internal ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO The Companys management is responsible for these financial statements and financial

statement schedule for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of

the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in Managements Annual Report on

Internal Control over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A Our responsibility is to express opinions on

these financial statements on the financial statement schedule and on the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States Those standards require that we plan and

perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material

misstatement and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the financial statements included examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing the accounting principles used and significant

estimates made by management and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation Our audit of internal

control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting

assessing the risk that material weakness exists and testing and evaluating the design and operating

effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits also included performing such other

procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits provide reasonable

basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process designed to provide reasonable assurance

regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles companys internal control over financial reporting

includes those policies and procedures that pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail

accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company ii provide reasonable

assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance

with generally accepted accounting principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company and iiiprovide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition use or disposition of the

companys assets that could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect

misstatements Also projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that

controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the

policies or procedures may deteriorate

Is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

McLean Virginia

February 27 2013
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BroadSoft Inc

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

in thousands except share and per share data

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

In thousands except share

and per share data

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 90545 94072

Short-term investments 73075 92749

Accounts receivable net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $139 and $54 at

December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively 48980 47048

Deferred tax assets 3732 12968

Other current assets 10796 4435

Total current assets 227128 251272

Long-term assets

Property and equipment net 7361 4221

Long-term investments 30102 5000

Restricted cash 584 959

Intangible assets net 11247 8842

Goodwill 37529 17276

Other long-term assets 12955 3386

Total long-term assets 99778 39684

Total assets $326906 $290956

Liabilities and stockholders equity

Current liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 15686 14999

Notes payable and bank loans current portion 555 891

Deferred revenue current portion 49368 55372

Total current liabilities 65609 71262

Convertible senior notes 86451 81737

Notes payable and bank loans 414 461

Deferred revenue 11781 1764

Deferred tax liabilities 1433

Other long-term liabilities 1416 1056

Total liabilities 165671 157713

Commitments and contingencies Note 12

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $0.01 par value per share 5000000 shares authorized at

December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 no shares issued and outstanding at

December 31 2012 and December 31 2011

Common stock par value $0.01 per share 100000000 shares authorized at

December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 27913471 and 27106393 shares

issued and outstanding at December 31 2012 and December 31 2011 respectively 279 271

Additional paid-in capital 208073 191714

Accumulated other comprehensive loss 3008 2557
Accumulated deficit 44109 56185

Total stockholders equity 161235 133243

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $326906 $290956

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BroadSoft Inc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

in thousands except per share data

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

In thousands except per share data

Revenue

License software 89750 77289 $53302

Subscription and maintenance support 58249 42462 33743

Professional services and other 16843 18313 8578

Total revenue 164842 138064 95623

Cost of revenue

License software 8643 6077 5341

Subscription and maintenance support 14831 10419 7691

Professional services and other 9012 8478 7010

Total cost of revenue 32486 24974 20042

Gross profit 132356 113090 75581

Operating expenses

Sales and marketing 47911 38376 31818

Research and development 36178 27744 19616

General and administrative 22863 19534 14103

Total operating expenses 106952 85654 65537

Income from operations 25404 27436 10044

Other expense income

Interest income 455 278 52
Interest expense 6925 3592 757

Other expense net 174

Total other expense net 6470 3314 879

Income before income taxes 18934 24122 9165

Provision for benefit from income taxes 6858 8175 1169

Net income 12076 32297 7996

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributable to BroadSoft Inc 12076 32297 7992

Net income per common share available to BroadSoft Inc common
stockholders

Basic 0.44 1.21 0.49

Diluted 0.43 1.15 0.32

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Basic 27581 26603 16263

Diluted 28353 27987 24721

Stock-based compensation expense included above

Costofrevenue 1831 916 210

Sales and marketing 5609 1984 882

Research and development 4498 1901 638

General and administrative 3084 2400 1278

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BroadSoft Inc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

In thousands

Net income attributable to BroadSoft Inc $12076 $32297 $7992
Other comprehensive income loss net of tax

Foreign currency translation adjustment 495 798
Unrealized loss gain on investments 44 23

Total other comprehensive loss net of tax 451 821 11

Comprehensive income $11625 $31476 $7981

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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BroadSoft Inc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY DEFICIT
in thousands

BroadSoft Inc Stockholders Equity Deficit

Balance December31 2009

Issuance of common stock from IPO net

of discounts and issuance costs

Issuance of common stock from

fOllow-on offering net of discounts

and issuance costs

Redeemable convertible preferred stock

converted to common stock at IPO

Reclassification of warrant liability upon
IPO

Warrant exercise

Issuance of common stock for exercise

of stock options and vesting of RSUs
net of effect of early exercises and

withholding tax

Sale of shares to noncontrolling interest

Stock based compensation expense

Comprehensive loss

Net income attributable to BroadSoft

Inc

Other comprehensive income

Unrealized loss on investments

Foreign currency translation adjustment
________ ______ ________ _______ ________

Balance December31 2010

Issuance of common stock for exercise

of stock options and vesting of RSUs
net of effect of early exercises and

withholding tax

Stock-based compensation expense

Equity component of convertible senior

notes issuance

Tax windfall benefits on exercises of

stock options

Comprehensive income

Net income 32297 32297

Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustment 798 798
Foreign currency translation adjustment 23 23
Balance December31 2011 $133243 27106 271 191714 2557 56185

Issuance of common stock for exercise

of stock options and vesting of RSUs
net of effect of early exercises and

withholding tax

Stock-based compensation expense
Tax windfall benefits on exercises of

stock options

Tax shortfall on exercises of stock

options

Foreign currency translation adjustment

Unrealized gain on investments

Net income

Balance December 31 2012

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

Common Stock Par
Accumulated

Additional OtherTotal
Value $0.01 Per Share

Stockholders _________________ Paid-in Comprehensive Accumulated Noncontrolling

Equity Shares Amount Capital Loss Deficit Interest

$77800 6320 63 20340

39951 5048 50 39901

9932 500 9927

68866 12962 130 68736

262 262

100 112 99

241 510

3008

235

3008

$1725 $96474

7992

$1736 $88482

7992

52545 25452 $255 $142508

3370 1654

6640

39151

16 3354

6640

39151

61 61

827 807

15022

579

819

15022

579

61 61
495

44

12076

$161235 27913 279 208073

495
44

12076

3008 44109
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BroadSoft Inc

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
in thousands

Year ended December 31

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income attributable to BroadSoft Inc

Adjustment to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Amortization of software licenses

Stock-based compensation expense

Release of tax valuation allowance

Provision for recoveries of doubtful accounts

Provision for deferred income taxes

Tax windfall benefits from stock option exercises

Non-cash interest expense on convertible senior notes

Other

Change in fair value of perferred stock warrants and accretion of debt discount

Changes in operating assets and liabilities net of acquisitions

Accounts receivable

Other current and long-term assets

Accounts payable accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities

Current and long-term deferred revenue

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchases of property and equipment

Payments for acquisitions net of cash acquired

Purchases of marketable securities

Proceeds from sale of marketable securities

Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities

Purchase of intangible assets resulting from contingent consideration

Change in restricted cash

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issuance of convertible senior notes net of issuance costs

Proceeds from the exercise of stock options

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with Companys IPO net

of issuance costs

Proceeds from issuance of common stock in connection with Companys follow-on

offering net of issuance costs

Proceeds from the exercise of preferred stock warrants

Redemption of Series redeemable preferred stock

Taxes paid on vesting of RSUs

Notes payable and bank loanspayments
_________ _________

Net cash used in provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents
_________ _________

Net decrease increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents beginning of period
_________ _________

Cash and cash equivalents end of period
_________ _________

Supplemental disclosures

Cash paid for interest

Cash paid for income taxes

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

2012 2011 2010

In thousands

12076 32297 7992

3119

1820

7201

8946
56

61

2560

2348

1820

3008

24

153

5242

2910

15022

644

5088

579

5120

2557
16414
1125
4013

30598

3923
25177

179886
3000

171458

375

34153

5997
511
238

3240

28575

2421
16748

137305
11267

46962

905
14

99136

15023

463
630

19217

19386

2630
2191

18673

809
29

24274

115688

2459 3943 762

39951

9932

100

4320
525

________
16697

_________
29203

_________
70

24385

_________
22869

________
47254

2198
382

121

149

3527
94072

90545

574
1626

117431

52

46818

47254

94072

905

1363

1032

385

655

1261
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BroadSoft Inc

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Years Ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010

Nature of Business

BroadSoft Inc BroadSoft or the Company Delaware corporation was formed in 1998 The Company is

the leading global provider of software and services that enable mobile fixed-line and cable service providers to

deliver hosted or cloud-based Unified Communications and other voice and multimedia services over their

Internet protocol or IP based networks The Companys core communications platform consists of three

offerings BroadWorks BroadCloud and BroadTouch

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts and results of operations of the

Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in

the accompanying consolidated financial statements

The Company has reclassified certain amounts previously presented for prior periods to conform to current year

presentation During the year ended December 31 2012 the Company changed the composition by which it

reports revenue and the related cost of revenue The professional services revenue was previously included in

Maintenance and services revenue and is now reported as separate line item on the financial statements Also

the Companys cloud offerings were previously reported as component of services revenue within

maintenance and services revenue and is now included as part of Subscription and maintenance support There

was no impact to the total revenue total cost of revenue net income or stockholders equity deficit

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting

principles U.S GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported

amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and

expenses during the reporting period Actual amounts could differ from these estimates

Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less

to be cash equivalents Cash equivalents are held in money market accounts Restricted cash consists primarily of

certificates of deposit that are securing letters of credit related to operating leases for office space The Company

had long-term restricted cash of $0.6 and $1.0 million at December 31 2012 and 2011 respectively

Investments in Marketable Securities

Marketable debt securities that the Company does not intend to hold to maturity are classified as available-for-

sale are carried at fair value and are included on the Companys consolidated balance sheets as either short-term

or long-term investments depending on their maturity Investments with original maturities greater than three

months that mature less than one year from the consolidated balance sheet date are classified as short-term

investments Investments with maturities greater than one year from the consolidated balance sheet date are

classified as long-term investments Available-for-sale investments are marked-to-market at the end of each

reporting period with unrealized holding gains or losses which represent temporary changes in the fair value of
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the investment reflected in accumulated other comprehensive income loss separate component of

stockholders equity deficit The Companys primary objective when investing excess cash is preservation of

principal

December 312012 December 312011

Contracted Carrying Contracted Carrying

Maturity Value Maturity Value

in thousands in thousands

Money market funds demand $63189 demand $70142

Total cash equivalents $63189 $70142

U.S agency notes 17 304 days $25632 91 363 days $35244

Commercial paper 214 days 27489 38 319 days 22670

Corporate bonds 31 227 days 19954 15 306 days 34835

Total short-term investments $73075 $92749

U.S agency notes 399 610

days $18135 474-496 days 5000

Corporate bonds 389 560

days 11967

Total long-term investments $30102 5000

Fair Value Measurements

The following table summarizes the carrying and fair value of the Companys financial assets

December 312012 December 31 2011

Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value Value Fair Value

Assets

Cash equivalents and certificates of deposit 63795 63795 71147 71147
Short and long-term investments 103177 103177 97749 97749

Total assets $166972 $166972 $168896 $168896

Does not include $27.4 million and $23.9 million of operating cash balances as of December 31 2012 and

December 31 2011 respectively

The carrying amounts of the Companys other financial instruments accounts receivable accounts payable and

accrued expenses approximate their respective fair values due to their short term nature See Note Borrowings

for additional information on fair value of debt

The Company uses three-tier fair value measurement hierarchy to classify and disclose all assets and liabilities

measured at fair value on recurring basis as well as assets and liabilities measured at fair value on non

recurring basis in periods subsequent to their initial measurement The three tiers are defined as follows

Level Observable inputs based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical

instruments and include the Companys investments in money market funds and certificates of deposit

Level Inputs valued using quoted market prices for similar instruments nonbinding market prices

that are corroborated by observable market data and include the Companys investments and

marketable securities in U.S agency notes commercial paper and corporate bonds and

Level Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data which require the Company to

develop its own assumptions
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Assets Measured at Fair Value on Recurring Basis

The Company evaluates its financial assets subject to fair value measurements on recurring basis to determine

the appropriate level of classification for each reporting period This determination requires significant judgments

to be made There were no transfers between classification levels during the periods The following table

summarizes the values in thousands

December 31
2012 Level Level Level

Money market funds 63189 $63189

Certificates of deposit 606 606

Total cash equivalents and certificates of deposit 63795 63795

U.S agency notes 43767 43767

Commercial paper 27489 27489

Corporate bonds 31921
______

31921

Total investments 103177 103177

Total cash equivalents certificates of deposit and

investments $166972 $63795 $103177

December 31
2011 Level Level Level

Money market funds 70142 $70142

Certificates of deposit 1005 1005

Total cash equivalents and certificates of deposit 71147 71147
_______

U.S agency notes 40244 40244
Commercial paper 22670 22670

Corporate bonds 34835 34835

Total investments 97749 97749

Total cash equivalents certificates of deposit and

investments $168896 $71147 $97749

Assets Measured at Fair Value on Nonrecurring Basis

The Company measures certain assets including property and equipment goodwill and intangible assets at fair

value on nonrecurring basis These assets are recognized at fair value when they are deemed to be other-than-

temporarily impaired During 2012 and 2011 there were no fair value measurements of assets or liabilities

measured at fair value on nonrecurring basis subsequent to their initial recognition

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that subject the Company to significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of

cash and cash equivalents marketable securities and accounts receivable All of the Companys cash and cash

equivalents and marketable securities are held at financial institutions that management believes to be of high

credit quality The Companys cash and cash equivalent accounts may exceed federally insured limits at times

The Company has not experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalents to date To manage accounts

receivable risk the Company evaluates the creditworthiness of its customers and maintains an allowance for

doubtful accounts
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The following customers represented 10% or more of revenue or accounts receivable

Year Ended December 31 December 31

2012 2011 2010 2012 2011

Revenue Accounts Receivable

Company 11% 16%

Company 15%

Represented less than 10%

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable are derived from sales to customers located in the United States and foreign countries Each

customer is evaluated for creditworthiness through credit review process at the time of each order Accounts

receivable are stated at realizable value net of an allowance for doubtful accounts that is maintained for

estimated losses that would result from the inability of some customers to make payments as they become due

The allowance is based on an analysis of past due amounts and ongoing credit evaluations Collection experience

has been consistent with the Companys estimates

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization Replacements and

major improvements are capitalized maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets per

the table below

Equipment years

Software 1.5 years

Furniture and fixtures years

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of the term of the lease or estimated useful life of the

assets

Business Combinafions

In business combination the Company allocates the purchase price to the acquired business identifiable assets

and liabilities at their acquisition date fair values The excess of the purchase price over the amount allocated to

the identifiable assets and liabilities if any is recorded as goodwill The excess if any of the fair value of the

identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed over the consideration transferred is recognized as gain

within other income in the consolidated statement of operations as of the acquisition date

To date the assets acquired and liabilities assumed in the Companys business combinations have primarily

consisted of acquired working capital definite-lived intangible assets and goodwill The carrying value of

acquired working capital is assumed to be equal to its fair value given the short-term nature of these assets and

liabilities The Company estimates the fair value of definite-lived intangible assets acquired using discounted

cash flow approach which includes an analysis of the future cash flows expected to be generated by such assets

and the risk associated with achieving such cash flows The key assumptions used in the discounted cash flow

model include the discount rate that is applied to the discretely forecasted future cash flows to calculate the

present value of those cash flows and the estimate of future cash flows attributable to the acquired intangible

which include revenue operating expenses
and taxes
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Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair value of consideration transferred in business

combination over the fair value of assets acquired net of liabilities assumed Goodwill is not amortized but

is subject to annual impairment tests as described below

The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually on December 31 or more frequently if events or changes

in business circumstances indicate the asset might be impaired The Company first assesses qualitative factors to

determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of reporting unit is less than its carrying amount as

basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the two-step goodwill impairment test included in U.S

GAAP To the extent the assessment identifies adverse conditions goodwill is tested for impairment at the

reporting unit level using two-step approach The first step is to compare the fair value of the reporting unit to

the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit If the fair value of the reporting unit is greater

than the carrying value of the net assets assigned to the reporting unit the assigned goodwill is not considered

impaired If the fair value is less than the reporting units carrying value step two is performed to measure the

amount of the impairment if any In the second step the fair value of goodwill is determined by deducting the

fair value of the reporting units identifiable assets and liabilities from the fair value of the reporting unit as

whole as if the reporting unit had just been acquired and the purchase price were being initially allocated If the

carrying value of goodwill exceeds the implied fair value an impairment charge would be recorded to operating

expenses in the consolidated statement of operations in the period the determination is made

The Company has determined that it has one reporting unit BroadSoft Inc which is the consolidated entity

Based on the results of the Companys annual goodwill impairment testing in 2012 2011 and 2010 the fair value

of the Company exceeded its book value by substantial margin therefore the second step of the impairment

test was not required to be performed and no goodwill impairment was recognized See Note Goodwill and

Intangibles

IdenhjIable Intangible Assets

The Company acquired intangible assets in connection with certain of its business acquisitions These assets were

recorded at their estimated fair values at the acquisition date and are amortized over their respective estimated

useful lives using method of amortization that reflects the pattern in which the economic benefits of the

intangible assets are used Estimated useful lives are determined based on the Companys historical use of similar

assets and the expectation of future realization of revenue attributable to the intangible assets In those cases

where the Company determines that the useful life of an intangible asset should be shortened the Company
amortizes the net book value in excess of the estimated salvage value over its revised remaining useful life The

Company did not revise the useful life estimates attributed to any of the Companys intangible assets in 2012
2011 or 2010 See Note Goodwill and Intangibles

The estimated useful lives used in computing amortization are as follows

Customer relationships years

Developed technology year

Non-compete agreement year

Tradenames
years

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company reviews long-lived assets including property and equipment and definite-lived intangible assets

for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be

recoverable Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by comparison of the carrying amount of

the assets to future undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the assets Assets to be disposed of

are recorded at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell Recoverability measurement and
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estimating of undiscounted cash flows for assets to be held and used is done at the lowest possible levels for

which there are identifiable assets If such assets are considered impaired the amount of impairment recognized

would be equal to the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets

which the Company would compute using discounted cash flow approach There were no triggering events to

cause the Company to record an impairment charge in 2012 2011 or 2010

Deferred Financing Costs

The Company amortizes deferred financing costs using the effective-interest method and records such

amortization as interest expense

Preferred Stock Warrants

The liability for Series C-I redeemable convertible preferred stock warrants was adjusted for changes in fair

value until the Companys initial public offering IPO in June 2010 at which time preferred stock warrants

converted into warrants to purchase common stock and the liability was reclassified to additional paid-in capital

The following table summarizes the assumptions used to estimate the fair values

Year ended

December 31
2010

Range of assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 0.41% 2.52%

Expected dividend yield 0%

Expected volatility 56% 57%

Expected term years 1.0 5.21

Fair value of stock warrants $5.03 $6.28

Revenue Recognition

The Companys revenue is generated from the sales of software licenses and related maintenance for those

licenses professional services and subscription and usage fees related to the cloud offering The Companys

software licenses subscription and maintenance contracts and professional services are sold directly through its

own sales force and indirectly through distribution partners Revenue under arrangements with distribution

partners is recognized when all the revenue recognition criteria are met including evidence of the distribution

partners customer The Company does not typically offer contractual rights of return or product exchange or

price protection to its distribution partners

License Software

Revenue from software licenses is recognized when the following four basic criteria are met as follows

Persuasive evidence of an arrangement An agreement signed by the Company and by the customer

in conjunction with non-cancelable purchase order or executed sales quote from the customer is

deemed to represent persuasive evidence of an arrangement

Delivery has occurred Delivery is deemed to have occurred when the customer is given electronic

access to the licensed software and license key for the software has been delivered or made available

If an arrangement contains requirement to deliver additional elements essential to the functionality of

the delivered element revenue associated with the arrangement is recognized when delivery of the final

element has occurred

Fees are fixed or determinable The Company considers the fee to be fixed or determinable unless the

fee is subject to refund or adjustment or is not payable within normal payment terms If the fee is
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subject to refund or adjustment revenue is recognized when the refund or adjustment right lapses If

payment terms exceed the Companys normal terms revenue is recognized as the amounts become due

and payable or upon the receipt of cash if collection is not probable

Collection is probable Each customer is evaluated for creditworthiness through credit review process

at the inception of an arrangement Collection is deemed probable if based upOn the Companys

evaluation the Company expects that the customer will be able to pay amounts under the arrangement

as payments become due If it is determined that collection is not probable revenue is deferred and

recognized upon cash collection

The warranty period for the Companys licensed software is generally 90 days Software licenses sold directly by

the Company are primarily sold in combination with an annual maintenance contract that enables the customer to

continue receiving software maintenance and support after the warranty period has expired Maintenance is

renewable at the option of the customer When customers prepay
for the annual maintenance contract the related

revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the term of the contract Generally rates for maintenance

including subsequent renewal rates are established based upon specific percentage of net license fees as set

forth in the arrangement Maintenance includes the right to unspecified product upgrades on an if-and-when

available basis

The Company delivers its licensed software primarily by utilizing electronic media Revenue includes amounts

billed for shipping and handling and such amounts represent less than 1% of revenue Cost of license software

revenue includes shipping and handling costs

Subscription and Maintenance Support

The Company typically sells maintenance support in combination with license software sales Maintenance

support is generally renewable annually at the option of the customer Revenue from maintenance support

contracts is initially recorded as deferred revenue and is recognized ratably over the contract term

The Companys subscription revenue is generated from recurring fee and/or usage based fee from customers

purchasing the cloud offering Under these arrangements the Company is paid recurring fee calculated based on

the number of seats and type of service purchased or usage fee based on the actual number of transactions

Revenue related to the recurring fee is recognized ratably over the contract term beginning with the date our

service is made available to the customer The
usage

fee is recognized as revenue in the period in which the

transactions occur

Professional Services and Other

Revenue from professional services includes implementation training and consulting fees and is recognized as

services are performed Services are generally not considered essential to the functionality of the licensed

software

Costs related to shipping and handling and billable travel expenses are included in cost of revenue

Multiple Element Arrangements

The Company accounts for multiple element arrangements that consist of software and software-related services

collectively referred to as software elements in accordance with industry specific accounting guidance for

software and software-related transactions For such transactions the Company generally allocates revenue to the

software license by determining the fair value of the undelivered elements which is usually maintenance support

and professional services The Company establishes VSOE of the fair value of the maintenance support based on

the renewal price as stated in the agreement and as charged in the first optional renewal period under the

arrangement VSOE for professional services is determined based on an analysis of our historical daily rates

when these professional services are sold separately from the software license
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For the cloud offering multiple element arrangements that include subscription and professional services the

Company allocates revenue to all deliverables based on their relative selling prices In such circumstances the

Company uses the following hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for allocating revenue to

deliverables vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value third-party evidence of selling price and

best estimate of the selling price Best estimate of selling price reflects the Companys estimates of what the

selling prices of elements would be if they were sold regularly on stand-alone basis Factors considered by the

Company in developing relative selling prices for products and services include the discounting practices price

lists go-to-market strategy historical standalone sales and contract prices

Software Development Costs

Software development costs incurred prior to the establishment of technological feasibility are expensed as

incurred as research and development expense Software development costs incurred subsequent to the

establishment of technological feasibility if any are capitalized until the software is available for general release

to customers The Company has determined that technological feasibility has been established at approximately

the same time as the general release of such software to customers Therefore to date the Company has not

capitalized any software development costs

Internal- Use Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes costs associated with customized internal-use software systems that have reached the

application development stage Such capitalized costs include costs directly associated with the development of

the applications Capitalization of such costs begins when the preliminary project stage is complete and ceases at

the point in which the project is substantially complete and is ready for its intended purpose The Company

capitalized $0.3 million in internal-use software during the year ended December 31 2012 the Company did not

record any amortization expense related to these assets

Deferred Revenue

Deferred revenue represents amounts billed to or collected from customers for which the related revenue has not

been recognized because one or more of the revenue recognition criteria have not been met The current portion

of deferred revenue is expected to be recognized as revenue within 12 months from the balance sheet date

Deferred revenue consists of the following in thousands

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

License software $18375 $20608

Subscription and maintenance support 35853 29444

Professional services and other 6921 7084

Total $61149 $57136

Current portion $49368 $55372

Non-current portion 11781 1764

Total $61149 $57136

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue includes royalties paid to third parties whose technology or products are sold as part of the

Companys products direct costs to manufacture and distribute product and direct costs to provide product

support and professional support services and intangible asset amortization expense related to acquired

technology
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Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accounting for income taxes as set forth in the authoritative guidance

for accounting for income taxes This method requires an asset and liability approach for the recognition of

deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences attributable to temporary differences

between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their respective tax

bases and for operating loss and tax credit carryforwards Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured by

applying enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the future
years

in which deferred amounts are expected to be

settled or realized

The Company currently has significant deferred tax assets primarily resulting from net operating loss

carryforwards The Company has valuation allowance of approximately $56 million against its net deferred tax

assets in certain foreign jurisdictions Management weighs the positive and negative evidence to determine if it is

more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized

The Company accounts for uncertainty in income taxes using two-step approach to recognize and measure tax

benefits when the realization of the benefits is uncertain The first step is to determine whether the benefit is to be

recognized the second step is to determine the amount to be recognized Income tax benefits should be

recognized when based on the technical merits of tax position the entity believes that if dispute arose with

the taxing authority and were taken to court of last resort it is more likely than not i.e probability of greater

than 50 percent that the tax position would be sustained as filed If position is determined to be more likely

than not of being sustained the reporting enterprise should recognize the largest amount of tax benefit that is

greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement with the taxing authority The

Companys practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax expense

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company applies the fair value method for determining the cost of stock-based compensation for employees

directors and consultants Under this method the total cost of the grant is measured based on the estimated fair

value of the stock award at the date of the grant using binomial options pricing model or binomial lattice

model The total cost related to the portion of awards granted that is ultimately expected to vest is recognized as

stock-based compensation expense over the requisite service period of the grant

Estimated Fair Value of Share-Based Payments

The binomial lattice model considers certain characteristics of fair value option pricing that are not considered

under the Black-Scholes model Stock-based awards are combined into one grouping for purposes of valuation

assumptions Fair value of the stock options was estimated at the grant date using the following weighted

average assumptions

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Average assumptions

Risk-free interest rate 1.0% 1.5% 1.9%

Expected dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Expected volatility 57% 58% 61%

Expected term years 7.5 7.6 8.3

The Company has assumed no dividend yield because dividends are not expected to be paid in the near future

which is consistent with the Companys history of not paying dividends The risk-free interest rate assumption is

based upon observed interest rates for constant maturity U.S Treasury securities appropriate for the term of the

Companys employee stock options The expected life of an option is derived from the binomial lattice model

and is based on several factors including the contract life exercise factor post-vesting termination rate and

volatility The expected exercise factor which is the ratio of the fair value of common stock on the expected

exercise date to the exercise price and expected post-vesting termination rate which is the expected rate at
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which employees are likely to terminate after vesting occurs are based on an analysis of actual historical and

expected behavior by option holders and analysis of comparable public companies Expected volatility is based

on the historical volatility of comparable public companies

The Companys estimate of pre-vesting forfeitures or forfeiture rate is based on an analysis of historical

behavior by option holders The estimated forfeiture rate is applied to the total estimated fair value of the awards

as derived from the binomial lattice model to compute the stock-based compensation expense net of pre-vesting

forfeitures to be recognized in the consolidated statements of operations

As nonpublic company prior to June 16 2010 there was not ready market for the Companys common stock

As such the Company relied on other factors upon which to base reasonable and supportable estimates of the fair

value of its common stock and the expected volatility of its share prices The Company periodically estimated the

fair value of its common stock by considering valuations calculated using market multiples comparable market

transactions discounted cash flows and when available the pricing of transactions involving the Companys

equity securities

Net Income Per Common Share

Basic net income per common share is computed based on the weighted average number of outstanding shares of

common stock Diluted income per common share adjusts the basic weighted average common shares

outstanding for the potential dilution that could occur if stock options restricted stock units warrants and

convertible securities were exercised or converted into common stock

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Net income $12076 $32297 7996

Weighted average basic common shares outstanding 27581 26603 16263

Dilutive effect of stock-based awards 772 1384 2253

Dilutive effect of common stock warrants 132

Dilutive effect of if-converted preferred shares 6073

Weighted average
diluted common shares outstanding 28353 27987 24721

Earnings per share

Basic 0.44 1.21 0.49

Diluted 0.43 1.15 0.32

Due to the cash settlement feature of the principal amount of the convertible senior notes we only include the

impact of the premium feature in our diluted earnings per common share calculation when the average stock

price exceeds the conversion price of the Notes which did not occur in 2012 or 2011

For the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 certain stock options and warrants to purchase common

stock were not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share as their effect was anti-dilutive because

the exercise prices exceeded the average market price of the Companys common stock during these periods The

weighted average effect of potentially dilutive securities that have been excluded from the calculation of diluted

net income per common share because the effect was anti-dilutive was 575327 96932 and 184572 for the years

ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

Foreign Currency

The functional currency of operations located outside the United States is the respective local currency The

financial statements of each operation are translated into U.S dollars using period-end exchange rates for assets

and liabilities and average exchange rates during the period for revenue and expenses Translation effects are

included in accumulated other comprehensive income
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Acquisitions

Adaption Technologies Ventures Ltd

On August 2012 the Company completed its acquisition of substantially all the assets of Adaption

Technologies Ventures Ltd Adaption which was provider of hosted business VoIP solutions The

acquisition enabled the Company to enhance its BroadCloud Software-as-a-Service delivery platform

The purchase price for Adaption was $22.0 million and the Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand

The Company incurred $0.4 million of transaction costs for financial advisory and legal services related to the

acquisition that are included in general and administrative expenses in the Companys consolidated statements of

operations for the
year

ended December 31 2012

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Adaption from the date of acquisition The purchase

price has been preliminarily allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on estimated fair values

as of the acquisition date The Company has not finalized the purchase price allocation for this acquisition

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the

acquisition date as of August 2012 in thousands

Accounts receivable 19

Prepaid expenses and other assets 110

Property and equipment 239

Trade name 140

Customer relationships 200

Developed technology 4700

Goodwill 16747

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 155

Total purchase price $22000

Developed technology represents purchased technology that reached technological feasibility and for which

Adaption had substantially completed development as of the date of acquisition Fair value was determined using

estimated future discounted cash flows related to the projected income stream of the developed technology for

discrete projection period Key assumptions included discount factor of 13% and estimates of revenue growth

cost of revenue operating expenses and taxes

The customer relationships trade name and developed technology are being amortized on straight-line basis

over period of three years two years and five years respectively which reflects the cash flows generated from

such assets The weighted-average amortization period for depreciable intangible assets acquired is

approximately four years Goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes Goodwill

results from expected synergies from the transaction including complementary products that enhance the

Companys overall product portfolio

Movial

On October 21 2011 the Company completed its acquisition of all of the outstanding shares of Movial

Applications Oy Movial Movial is client developer for IP communications services

The purchase price for Movial was approximately $6.0 million and the Company funded the acquisition with

cash on hand The Company incurred $0.7 million of transaction costs for financial advisory and legal services

related to the acquisition that are included in general and administrative expenses in the Companys consolidated

statements of operations for the year ended December 31 2011

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Movial from the date of acquisition The purchase

price has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values as of the acquisition

date The Company finalized the purchase price allocation for this acquisition in 2012
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition

date of October 21 2011 in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 83

Customer relationships 220

Developed technology 1718

Goodwill 5250

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 302
Debt 1009

Total purchase price 5960

Developed technology represents purchased technology that reached technological feasibility and for which

Movial had substantially completed development as of the date of acquisition Fair value was determined using

estimated future discounted cash flows related to the projected income stream of the developed technology for

discrete projection period Key assumptions included discount factor of 15% and estimates of revenue growth

cost of revenue operating expenses and taxes

The customer relationships and developed technology are being amortized on straight-line basis over period

of three
years

and five years respectively which in general reflects the cash flows generated from such assets

The weighted-average amortization period for depreciable intangible assets acquired is approximately five years

Goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes Goodwill results from expected

synergies from the transaction including complementary products that enhance the Companys overall product

portfolio

iLinc

On September 30 2011 the Company completed its acquisition of all outstanding shares of iLinc

Communications Inc iLinc iLinc is provider of web collaboration services for global businesses

governments and educational institutions The acquisition of iLinc and its web collaboration SaaS offering

complements BroadSoft BroadCloud services capabilities

The purchase price for iLinc was $10.8 million and the Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand The

Company incurred $0.4 million of transaction costs for financial advisory and legal services related to the

acquisition that are included in general and administrative expenses in the Companys consolidated statements of

operations for the year ended December 31 2011

The consolidated financial statements include the results of iLinc from the date of acquisition The purchase price

has been allocated to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on fair values as of the acquisition date

The Company finalized the purchase price allocation for this acquisition in 2011
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition

date of September 30 2011 in thousands

Cash and cash equivalents 320

Accounts receivable 504

Prepaid expenses and other assets 54

Property and equipment 34

Trade name 1400
Customer relationships 100

Developed technology 3100

Goodwill 4895
Deferred tax asset 2629

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 830
Deferred revenue 1098

Total purchase price $11108

Developed technology represents purchased technology that reached technological feasibility and for which iLinc

had substantially completed development as of the date of acquisition Fair value was determined using estimated

future discounted cash flows related to the projected income stream of the developed technology for discrete

projection period Key assumptions included discount factor of 11.5% and estimates of revenue growth cost of

revenue operating expenses and taxes

The customer relationships trade name and developed technology are being amortized on straight-line basis

over period of four years three years and five years respectively which in general reflects the cash flows

generated from such assets The weighted-average amortization period for amortizable intangible assets acquired

is approximately four
years Goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for tax purposes

Goodwill results from expected synergies from the transaction including complementary products that are

expected to enhance the Companys overall product portfolio

Casabi

On October 27 2010 the Company completed its acquisition of substantially all of the assets of Casabi Inc

Casabi which assets were used by Casabi to provide its cloud-based personalized content and messaging

applications

The purchase price for Casabi was $2.2 million and the Company funded the acquisition with cash on hand The

Company incurred $0.3 million of transaction costs for financial advisory and legal services related to the

acquisition that are included in general and administrative expenses in the Companys consolidated statements of

operations for the year ended December 31 2010

The consolidated financial statements include the results of Casabi from the date of acquisition The purchase

price has been allocated to the assets acquired based on fair values as of the acquisition date The Company
finalized the purchase price allocation for this acquisition in 2010
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired at the acquisition date of October 27 2010

in thousands

Other current assets 67

Property and equipment 75

Other long term assets 20

Customer relationships 378

Developed technology 962

Goodwill 689

Total purchase price $2191

Developed technology represents purchased technology that reached technological feasibility and for which

Casabi had substantially completed development as of the date of acquisition Fair value was determined using

estimated future discounted cash flows related to the projected income stream of the developed technology for

discrete projection period Key assumptions included discount factor of 21% and estimates of revenue growth

cost of revenue operating expenses and taxes

The customer relationships and developed technology are being amortized on straight-line basis over period

of five years and trademark is being amortized over period of four years which in general reflects the cash

flows generated from such assets The weighted-average amortization period for depreciable intangible assets

acquired is five
years Goodwill associated with this acquisition is not deductible for taxpurposes Goodwill

results from expected synergies from the transaction including complementary products that are expected to

enhance the Companys overall product portfolio

Pro Fornm Financial Information for Acquisitions of Adaption Movial iLinc and Casabi unaudited

The businesses acquired in 2012 contributed aggregate revenue of $1.5 million and net losses of $0.2 million for

the period from the acquisition date to December 31 2012 The businesses acquired in 2011 contributed

aggregate net losses of $1.2 million for the periods from the respective acquisition dates to December 31 2011

The business acquired in 2010 contributed losses of $0.6 million for the period from the acquisition date to

December 31 2010

The following provides pro
forma information as if the 2012 2011 and 2010 acquisitions had been consummated

as of the beginning of the respective annual reporting periods in the year acquired and prior year or years as

applicable The
pro forma results are not necessarily indicative of what actually would have occurred had the

acquisitions been in effect for the periods presented in thousands except per share data

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

In thousands except per share data

Revenue $167219 $146955 $109274

Net income loss 11159 24504 1168

Net income loss per common share basic 0.40 0.92 0.07

Net income loss per common share diluted 0.39 0.88 0.05

The pro forma impact on reported net loss per share was primarily attributable to amortization of acquired

intangible assets adjustments to interest expense and related tax effects

Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company has concluded it has single reporting unit Accordingly on an annual basis management

performs the impairment assessment required under FASB guidelines at the consolidated enterprise level The

Company performed an impairment test of the Companys goodwill and determined that no impairment of

goodwill existed at December 31 2012 2011 or 2010
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The following table provides summary of the changes in the carrying amounts of goodwill in thousands

Balance as of December 31 2010 gross 6226

Accumulated impairment loss

Balance as of December 31 2010 net 6226

Increase in goodwill related to acquisitions 10145

Purchase accounting adjustments 905

Balance as of December 31 2011 gross 17276

Accumulated impairment loss

Balance as of December 31 2011 net 17276

Increase in goodwill related to acquisitions 19924

Other 329

Balance as of December 31 2012 gross 37529

Accumulated impairment loss

Balance as of December 31 2012 net $37529

The purchase accounting adjustments during the year ended December 31 2011 was from contingent payments

to GENBAND Inc made in connection with the Companys acquisition of the M6 application server business

which occurred in 2008 For the year ended December 31 2012 the increase in goodwill related to

acquisitions consists of $3.2 million of goodwill related to the acquisition in April 2012 of research and

development workforce and $16.7 million of goodwill related to the acquisition of Adaption in August 2012

Any changes in the goodwill amounts resulting from foreign currency translations are presented as Other in the

above table

The Companys acquired intangible assets are subject to amortization The following is summary of intangible

assets in thousands

As of December 312012 As of December 312011

Gross Gross

Carrying Accumulated Net Carrying Accumulated Net

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount

Customer relationships 5255 $2765 2490 5102 $1852 $3250

Developed technology 11218 2643 8575 6434 979 5455

Non-compete agreement 111 111 111 111

Trade name 369 187 182 229 92 137

Total $16953 $5706 $11247 $11876 $3034 $8842

Amortization expense on intangible assets was approximately $2.7 million $1.3 million and $0.8 million in

2012 2011 and 2010 respectively As of December 31 2012 future amortization expense on intangible assets is

expected to be as follows in thousands

2013 3174

2014 3084

2015 2779

2016 1662

2017 548

Total amortization expense $11247
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Property and Equipment

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment at cost consists of the following in thousands

December 31

2012 2011

Equipment 9607 6325
Software 3346 2200

Furniture and fixtures 783 606

Leasehold improvements 3167 2361

16903 11492

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 9542 7271

Property and equipment net 7361 4221

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31

2012 2011 and 2010 was approximately $2.6 million $1.8 million and $1.3 million respectively which was

recognized in operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations No depreciation and amortization

expense related to property and equipment is included in cost of revenues in the consolidated statements of

operations

Accounts payable and other current liabilities

Accounts payable and other current liabilities consist of the following in thousands

December 31

2012 2011

Accounts payable and accrued expenses 7237 5239

Accrued compensation 6371 8391

Accrued royalties 943 624

Other 1135 745

$15686 $14999

Software Licenses

The Company was previously party to an agreement that provided the Company the right to distribute certain

third-party software on per-user basis up to 35000000 licenses over four-year period for $6.4 million The

arrangement required the Company to pay per-user license fee for licenses distributed in excess of 35000000

The cost was amortized to cost of revenue over the 3.5 year period ended May 2012 based on the greater of

actual usage or the straight line method In 2011 the Company entered into new agreement that provides the

Company the right to distribute this third-party software on an unlimited basis through May 2016 at total cost

of $10.2 million To the extent annual billed license software revenue over the four-year period exceeds $460

million the Company would be required to pay additional fees The additional cost of $10.2 million is being

amortized to cost of revenue over the four-year period beginning June 2012 the expiration date of the previous

agreement based on the straight line method

Amortization expense related to these agreements was approximately $2.8 million $1.8 million and $1.8 million

for each of the years ended December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively
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Income Taxes

The following table presents the components of the income before income taxes and the provision for benefit

from income taxes in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Income before income taxes

United States $23429 $25178 $9619

Foreign 4495 1056 454

Income before income taxes 18934 24122 9165

Provision for benefit from income taxes

Current

Federal and state 407 385

Foreign 1355 760 863

Total current 948 764 $1248

Deferred

Federal and state 8068 8946 24

Foreign 262 103

Total deferred 7806 8939 79

Provision for benefit from income taxes 6858 8175 $1169

The following table presents the components of net deferred tax assets liabilities and the related valuation

allowance in thousands

December 31

2012 2011

Deferred tax assets

Net operating loss carry-forward 9140 20245

Deferred revenue 3616 3539

Depreciation and amortization 704 1345

Research tax credit carry-forward 2467 1966

Accrued expenses 1637 1874

Stock based compensation 5370 3157

Other 880 430

Total deferred tax assets 23814 32556

Valuation allowance 5558 3705

Net deferred tax assets 18256 28851

Deferred tax liabilities

Acquired intangibles 1568 2557
Convertible debt discount 12082 14528
Other 244 106

Total deferred tax liabilities $13894 $17191

Net deferred tax assets 4362 11660

At December 31 2012 the Company had U.S net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $86.3 million

and research and experimentation tax credit carryforwards of $3.1 million which are scheduled to begin to expire

in 2019 Utilization of net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards may be subject to annual limitations due to

the ownership change limitations as provided by the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 as amended The Company
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has not recorded deferred tax liability for undistributed earnings of $2.5 million of certain foreign subsidiaries

since such earnings are considered to be reinvested indefinitely If the earnings were distributed the Company
would be subject to federal income and foreign withholding taxes Determination of an unrecognized deferred

income tax liability with respect to such earnings is not practicable

deferred tax asset should be reduced by valuation allowance if based on the weight of all available evidence

it is more likely than not likelihood of more than 50% that some portion or the entire deferred tax asset will

not be realized The valuation allowance should be sufficient to reduce the deferred tax asset to the amount that is

more likely than not to be realized The determination of whether deferred tax asset is realizable is based on

weighting all available evidence including both positive and negative evidence The realization of deferred tax

assets including carryforwards and deductible temporary differences depends upon the existence of sufficient

taxable income of the same character during the carryback or carryforward period The accounting guidance

requires the consideration of all sources of taxable income available to realize the deferred tax asset including

the future reversal of existing temporary differences future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary

differences and carryforwards taxable income in carryback years and tax-planning strategies

Based upon the Companys cumulative operating results through June 30 2011 and an assessment of its expected

future results of operations the Company determined that there was significant positive evidence regarding the

realization of its U.S deferred tax assets After weighing both the positive and negative evidence coupled with

the continued success in commercializing its core products and services both inside and outside the U.S the

Company believes that it is more likely than not that its U.S deferred tax assets will be realized portion of the

U.S valuation allowance was released in the period ended June 30 2011 based on the amount of U.S net

deferred tax assets then expected to be remaining as of December 31 2011 As of December 31 2011 the

Company reversed all of the remaining valuation allowance on the U.S deferred tax assets because it was more

likely than not that those deferred tax assets would be realized As of December 31 2012 the Company has

remaining valuation allowance of approximately $5.6 million which primarily relates to certain foreign NOLs

and tax credits that are not more likely than not to be realized

The following table presents the provisions for income taxes compared with income taxes based on the federal

statutory tax rate of 34% in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Tax provision based on federal statutory rate 6437 8210 3113

State taxes 723 947 369

Foreign rate differential 104 54 348

Permanent items 67 460 104

Stock based compensation 938 478 818

Change in income tax valuation allowance 1756 16388 3633
Business tax credits 3258 1204
Other 91 624 50

Provision for benefit from income taxes 6858 8175 1169

For the year ended December 31 2012 the tax provision was positively impacted by $1.9 million due to the

recognition of business tax credits relating to prior years These credits were not recorded until the Company

obtained sufficient history of acceptance for the credits by the tax authorities

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

The Company applies guidance for uncertainty in income taxes that requires the application of more likely than

not threshold to the recognition and de-recognition of uncertain tax positions If the recognition threshold is met

this guidance permits the Company to recognize tax benefit measured at the largest amount of the tax benefit

that in the Companys judgment is more likely than not to be realized upon settlement

90



During the year ended December 31 2012 there was no material adjustment in the liability for unrecognized

income tax benefits and no new tax positions for which the tax benefit was not recognized The Companys

unrecognized tax benefits totaled $0.8 million at December 31 2012 and $0.6 million at December 31 2011 and

December 31 2010 The Company does not expect changes in unrecognized tax benefits within the next

12 months

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January $625 $618 $441

Additions for tax positions of prior years $196 77 177

Settlements of tax positions of prior years 70

Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December 31 $821 $625 $618

The Company records interest and penalties as component of its income tax provision The Company recorded

no interest and penalties during 2012 2011 and 2010 The Company has not accrued interest with respect to

uncertain tax positions in the current year because unfavorable resolution of those positions would not result in

cash tax due for those prior years

The Company files income tax returns in the United States and in various foreign jurisdictions The Company is

no longer subject to U.S Federal income tax examinations for years prior to 2009 with the exception that

operating loss or tax credit carryforwards generated prior to 2008 may be subject to tax audit adjustment The

Company is no longer subject to state and local or foreign income tax examinations by tax authorities for years

prior to 2007

Borrowings

Convertible Senior Notes

In June 2011 the Company issued $120.0 million aggregate principal amount of 1.50% convertible senior notes

due in 2018 the Notes The Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company with interest payable

semi-annually in cash at rate of 1.50%
per annum and will mature on July 2018 unless earlier repurchased

redeemed or converted

The Notes may be converted by the holders of Notes at their option on any day prior to the close of business on

the scheduled trading day immediately preceding April 2018 only under the following circumstances

during the five business-day period after any ten consecutive trading-day period the measurement period
in which the trading price per Note for each day of that measurement period was less than 98% of the product of

the last reported sale price of the common stock and the applicable conversion rate on each such day during

any calendar quarter and only during such quarter after the calendar quarter ended September 30 2011 if the

last reported sale price of the common stock for 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading

days ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter exceeds 130% of the

applicable conversion price in effect on the last trading day of the immediately preceding calendar quarter

upon the occurrence of specified corporate events or if the Company calls the Notes for redemption The

Notes will be convertible regardless of the foregoing circumstances at any time from and including April

2018 through the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the maturity date

The initial conversion rate for the Notes is 23.8126 shares of the Companys common stock per $1000 principal

amount of Notes equivalent to conversion price of approximately $41.99 per share of the common stock

17.5% conversion premium based on the last reported sale price of $35.74 per share of the Companys common
stock on June 14 2011 The conversion price will be subject to adjustment in some events but will not be

adjusted for accrued interest In addition if make-whole fundamental change as defined in the indenture

governing the Notes the Indenture occurs prior to the maturity date the Company will in some cases
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increase the conversion rate for holder that elects to convert its Notes in connection with such make-whole

fundamental change Upon conversion the Company will pay cash up to the aggregate principal amount of the

Notes to be converted and deliver shares of the common stock in respect of the remainder if any of the

conversion obligation in excess of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes being converted

Holders of the Notes may require the Company to repurchase some or all of the Notes for cash subject to certain

exceptions upon fundamental change as defined in the Indenture at repurchase price equal to 100% of the

principal amount of the Notes being repurchased plus any accrued and unpaid interest up to but excluding the

relevant repurchase date

The Company may not redeem the Notes prior to July 2015 Beginning July 2015 the Company may
redeem for cash all or part of the Notes except for the Notes that the Company is required to repurchase as

described above if the last reported sale price of the common stock exceeds 140% of the applicable conversion

price for 20 or more trading days in period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on the trading day

immediately prior to the date of the redemption notice The redemption price will equal the sum of 100% of the

principal amount of the Notes to be redeemed plus accrued and unpaid interest plus make-whole premium

payment The Company must make the make-whole premium payments on all Notes called for redemption prior

to the maturity date including Notes converted after the date the Company delivered the notice of redemption

The Company has separately accounted for the liability and equity components of the convertible debt instrument

by allocating the gross proceeds from the issuance of the Notes between the liability component and the

embedded conversion option or equity component This allocation was done by first estimating an interest rate at

the time of issuance for similarnotes that do not include the embedded conversion option This interest rate

estimated at 8% was used to compute the initial fair value of the liability component of $79.4 million The

excess of the gross proceeds received from the issuance of the Notes over the initial amount allocated to the

liability component of $40.6 million was allocated to the embedded conversion option or equity component

This excess is reported as debt discount and subsequently amortized as interest expense using the interest

method through July 2018 the maturity date of the Notes Offering costs consisting of the initial purchasers

discount and offering expenses payable by the Company were $4.3 million These offering costs were allocated

to the liability component and the equity component based on the relative valuations of such components As

result $2.9 million of the offering costs were classified as debt issuance costs and recorded on the balance sheet

in other assets

The fair value of the Notes as of December 31 2012 and 2011 was $135.8 million and $120.0 million

respectively The carrying amount of the equity component of the Notes was $33.5 million at December 31

2012 The unamortized offering costs at December 31 2012 were $2.2 million which is being amortized as

interest expense through the July 2018 maturity date of the Notes The remaining $1.4 million of offering costs

were allocated to the equity component

The following table shows the amounts recorded within the Companys financial statements with respect to the

Notes in thousands

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Convertible debt principal $120000 $120000

Unamortized debt discount 33549 38263

Net carrying amount of convertible debt 86451 81737
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The following table presents the interest expense recognized related to the Notes in thousands

Year ended

December 31

2012 2011

Contractual interest expense $1800 950

Amortization of debt issuance costs 406 214

Accretion of debt discount 4714 2347

Net interest expense $6920 $3511

The net proceeds from the Note offering were approximately $115.7 million after deducting discounts to the

initial purchasers and offering expenses payable by the Company

Installment Bank Loans

In May 2008 the Company amended software license and maintenance agreement that provided the Company

the right to distribute third party software for one-time fee of approximately $6.4 million The agreement was

financed with an installment bank loan with an effective interest rate of 4.0% The loan provided for payment

of $0.4 million at loan inception and scheduled principal repayments of $0.4 million each quarter commencing

July 2008 with the final payment due on April 2012 At March 31 2012 the loan was paid in full and at

December 31 2011 the liability for the installment bank loan amounted to approximately $0.4 million

In connection with the acquisition of Movial in October 2011 the Company assumed five installment loans with

Tekesthe Finnish Funding Agency for Technology and Innovation in the aggregate principal amount of

$1.0 million The terms of the loans are governed by the Finnish Act on State Lending and State Guarantees

Government Decree on Research Development and Innovation Funding The loans are for funding approved

research and development projects repayment terms are determined on per project basis and the interest rate

on each loan is variable which is currently three percent

Fair value for the Companys borrowings is estimated using quoted market price of the Notes at December 31

2012 quoted market prices for similar instruments and by observable market data The Company believes its

creditworthiness and the financial market in which it operates has not materially changed since entering into the

arrangements If measured at fair value in the financial statements long-term debt including the current portion

would be classified as Level in the fair value hierarchy

The aggregate maturities of borrowings as of December 31 2012 were as follows in thousands

2013 555

2014 132

2015 132

2016 76

2017 and thereafter 120075

$120970

10 Stockholders Equity Deficit

Public Stock Offerings

In June 2010 the Company completed the IPO in which it issued and sold 5048131 shares of common stock at

public offering price of $9.00 per share The Company raised total of $45.5 million in gross proceeds from the

IPO or $40.0 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting discounts and commissions of $3.2 million

93



and other estimated offering costs of $2.3 million Upon the closing of the IPO all shares of the Companys then-

outstanding redeemable convertible preferred stock automatically converted into an aggregate of 12962405

shares of common stock In connection with the closing the Company used $4.3 million of the net proceeds from

the IPO to redeem and subsequently cancel all outstanding shares of the Companys Series redeemable

preferred stock

In connection with the closing of the IPO in June 2010 the Company amended and restated its certificate of

incorporation and reduced its authorized number of shares of common stock to 100000000 and reduced the

authorized number of shares of preferred stock to 5000000

In December 2010 the Company completed follow-on public offering in which it issued and sold

500000 shares of its common stock at public offering price of $22.00 per share The Company raised total of

$11.0 million in gross proceeds from the offering or $9.9 million in net proceeds after deducting underwriting

discounts and commissions of $0.6 million and other offering costs of $0.5 million

Preferred Stock

Pursuant to the Companys amended and restated certificate of incorporation filed on June 21 2010 in

connection with the closing of the IPO the Company is authorized to issue 5000000 shares of preferred stock

The board of directors has the authority without action by its stockholders to designate and issue shares of

preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the rights preferences privileges and restrictions thereof These

rights preferences and privileges could include dividend rights conversion rights voting rights terms of

redemption liquidation preferences sinking fund terms and the number of shares constituting any series or the

designation of such series any or all of which may be greater than the rights of common stock The issuance of

the Companys preferred stock could adversely affect the voting power of holders of common stock and the

likelihood that such holders will receive dividend payments and payments upon liquidation and could have the

effect of delaying preventing or deterring change in control To date the board of directors has not designated

any rights preference or powers of any preferred stock and no shares of preferred stock have been issued

Warrants

Preferred Stock Warrants

The Company issued warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 45955 shares of Series C-I redeemable

convertible preferred stock warrants with an exercise price of $3.97 per share that upon the closing of the IPO

were automatically converted into warrants to purchase an equivalent number of shares of common stock All of

these warrants were exercised for the underlying share amounts during the year ended December 31 2010

Common Stock Warrant

In addition to the warrants described above in September 2008 the Company issued warrant to purchase up to

116551 shares of common stock at $8.58 per
share in connection with the ORIX Loan The warrant was

exercised for the underlying share amounts during the quarter ended December 31 2010

11 Stock-based Compensation

Equity Incentive Plans

In 1999 the Company adopted the 1999 Stock Incentive Plan the 1999 Plan The 1999 Plan provided for the

grant of incentive stock options nonqualified stock options restricted stock awards and stock appreciation rights

The 1999 Plan terminated in June 2009 whereby no new options or awards are permitted to be granted In April

2009 the Company adopted the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan This plan provides for the grant of incentive stock

options nonqualified stock options restricted stock awards restricted stock units RSUs and stock

appreciation rights In June 2010 in connection with the IPO the 2009 Equity Incentive Plan was amended and

restated to provide for among other things annual increases in the share reserve as amended and restated the

2009 Plan At the same time an additional 333333 shares of common stock were added to the share reserve
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The term of stock-based grants is up to 10 years except that certain stock-based grants made after 2005 have

term of five years The requisite vesting period for grants made under the 2009 Plan is typically four years On

January 2011 and 2012 1145860 and 1219787 shares respectively were added to the 2009 Plan At

December 31 2012 the Company had 1064334 shares of common stock available for issuance under the 2009

Plan

Stock-based compensation expense recognized by the Company is as follows in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Stock options 6512 $2394 $1488

Restricted stock awards 60 105

Restricted stock units 8510 4747 1415

Total recognized stock-based compensation expense $15022 $7201 $3008

Stock Options

The following table presents summary related to stock options for the following periods

Weighted

Weighted Average
Number of Average Remaining Aggregate

Options Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Outstanding Price Term years Value

Balance December31 2011 1682911 $11.82

Granted 625350

Exercised 667056
Forfeited 166859

Balance December 31 2012 1474346 $23.50 8.01 $21119320

Vested at December 31 2012 561572 9.26 6.69 $15476001

Exercisable at December 31 2012 575567 9.09 6.68 $15676214

In 2012 2011 and 2010 the Company granted stock options with weighted-average grant date fair value of

$36.05 $21.86 and $5.43 respectively The intrinsic value of stock options exercised in 2012 2011 and 2010

was $22.3 million $59.3 million and $4.0 million respectively and cash received from stock options exercised

was $2.5 million $3.9 million and $0.8 million respectively

At December 31 2012 unrecognized stock-based compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures relating to

unvested stock options was $9.1 million which amount is scheduled to be recognized as stock-based

compensation expense over weighted average period of 1.45 years To the extent the actual forfeiture rate is

different than what the Company has anticipated at December 31 2012 stock-based compensation expense will

be different from expectations
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The following table presents information about stock options outstanding at December 31 2012

Options Outstanding Options Vested

Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted

Average Remaining Average
Number Exercise Contractual Number Exercise

Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding Price Years Exerciseable Price

0.78 1.32 1833 1.03 1.12 1833 1.03

2.40 2.40 401454 2.40 6.20 387459 2.40

4.02 $25.30 307340 13.22 7.86 84071 9.92

$30.37 $38.96 359919 37.46 9.47 15101 33.39

$39.86 $40.48 403800 39.97 8.66 73108 40.09

0.78 $40.48 1474346 $23.50 8.01 561572 9.26

Restricted Stock Units

The following table presents summary of activity for the number of restricted stock units outstanding

Weighted
Number of Average Grant

RSUs Date Fair Value

Balance December 31 2011 367315 $27.17

Granted 576571 35.36

Vested 208679 24.38

Forfeited 86908 35.14

Balance December 31 2012 648299 $34.39

During 2012 the Company granted 352600 RSUs to certain officers and employees which vest over four years

following the date of grant 16003 RSUs to certain officers that were fully vested at the date of grant 128309

RSUs to certain employees that vest over three years following the date of grant and 4925 RSUs to certain

employees that vest over two years following the date of grant In addition the Company granted 12234 RSUs to

certain directors that vest quarterly through December 31 2012 and 7500 RSUs to consultant that vest over

one year Also during 2012 the Company granted 55000 performance stock units to certain officers which vest

on December 31 2013 assuming the recipients satisfy the performance criteria of the awards At December 31

2012 unrecognized stock-based compensation expense net of estimated forfeitures related to unvested RSUs

was $10.1 million which is scheduled to be recognized over weighted average period of 1.30 years

During 2011 the Company granted 134153 RSUs to certain officers and directors and 87450 RSUs to certain

employees that vest over four years In February 2011 the compensation committee approved bonus plan that

provided for the grant of RSUs to the Companys executive officers with fixed-dollar value of $0.6 million if

the Company achieved certain performance metrics in 2011 These performance metrics were met Upon the

achievement of the performance metrics the number of RSUs to be granted was determined by dividing

$0.6 million by the average of the closing price of the Companys common stock during the last thirty business

days of 2011 and these RSUs were fully vested on the date of grant

During 2010 the Company granted 99998 RSUs to certain officers These RSUs were settled in shares of

common stock and vested in two equal annual installments following the date of grant During 2010 the

Company also granted an aggregate of 191227 RSUs to certain employees and officers which vest over four

years following the date of grant Also in the period the Company granted an aggregate of 4999 RSUs to certain

directors which vested immediately with the closing of the IPO In addition the Company granted 11466 RSUs

to certain directors that fully vested on December 31 2010 and 500 RSUs to consultant that vested immediately

with the closing of the IPO
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Tax Benefits

Upon adoption of the FASBs guidance on stock-based compensation the Company elected the alternative

transition method short cut method provided for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation The

alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional

paid-in capital pool APIC pool related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation and to

determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and consolidated statements of cash flows related to the tax

effect of employee stock-based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption As of December 31

2012 the Companys APIC pool balance was $0.6 million

The Company applies with-and-without approach in determining its intra-period allocation of tax expense or

benefit attributable to stock-based compensation deductions For 2011 there was reduction to the deferred tax

asset related to tax benefits of employee stock option grants of $0.1 million related to forfeitures and exercises

that resulted in tax deduction less than previously recorded benefits based on the option value at the time of

grant shortfalls Tax deductions in excess of previously recorded benefits windfalls included in net operating

loss carryforwards but not reflected in deferred tax assets for the years ended December 31 2012 and 2011 are

$77.6 million and $60.2 million respectively

12 Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases office space under non-cancelable operating leases with various expiration dates through

2019 Rent expense was approximately $2.7 million $2.1 million and $2.2 million for the years ended

December 31 2012 2011 and 2010 respectively

The following table presents future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating leases in

thousands

Operating
Leases

Years Ending December 31

2013 2255

2014 2137

2015 2019

2016 2030

2017 and thereafter 4261

Total future minimum lease payments $12702

Indemnifications and Contingencies

In the normal course of business the Company enters into contracts and agreements that may contain

representations and warranties and provide for general indemnifications The Companys exposure under these

agreements is unknown because it involves claims that may be made in the future but have not yet been made

The Company has not paid any claims related to indemnification obligations to date

In accordance with its bylaws and certain agreements the Company has indemnification obligations to its

officers and directors for certain events or occurrences subject to certain limits while they are serving at the

Companys request in such capacity There have been no claims to date under these indemnification obligations

In addition the Company is involved in litigation incidental to the conduct of its business The Company is not

party to any lawsuit or proceeding that in the opinion of management is reasonably possible to have material

adverse effect on its financial position results of operations or cash flows
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13 Segment and Geographic Information

Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which separate financial information is

available that is evaluated regularly by the chief operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources

and in assessing performance The Companys chief operating decision maker is its Chief Executive Officer

CEO The CEO reviews financial information presented on consolidated basis along with information

about revenue by geographic region for purposes of allocating resources and evaluating financial performance

Discrete information on geographic basis except for revenue is not provided below the consolidated level to

the CEO The Company has concluded that it operates in one segment and has provided the required enterprise-

wide disclosures

Revenue by geographic area is based on the location of the end-user carrier The following table presents revenue

and long-lived assets net by geographic area in thousands

Year ended December 31

2012 2011 2010

Revenues

United States 94781 75748 $51238

EMEA 39334 24866 23617

APAC 17994 25332 14313

Other 12733 12118 6455

Total Revenue $164842 $138064 $95623

December 31 December 31
2012 2011

Long-Lived Assets net

United States $19676 $7547

EMEA 615 269

APAC 158 154

Other 451 596

Total Long-Lived Assets net $20900 $8566

14 401k Defined Contribution Plan

The Company maintains tax-qualified 401k retirement plan that provides eligible U.S employees with an

opportunity to save for retirement on tax advantaged basis The Company has 401k plan covering all

eligible employees Beginning January 2012 the Company matches portion of the employees eligible

contributions according to the 401k plan document Matching contributions to the plan during the year ended

December 31 2012 were $1.2 million

15 QuarterLy Financial Data Unaudited in thousands except per share data

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2012 2012 2012 2012

Total Revenues $38343 $40516 $40174 $45809

Gross profit 30271 32195 32449 37441

Income from operations 4909 5576 6476 8443

Net income attributable to BroadSoft Inc 1701 2356 3140 4879

Net income per share

Basic 0.06 0.09 0.11 0.18

Diluted 0.06 0.08 0.11 0.17
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March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31
2011 2011 2011 2011

Total Revenues $29654 $32179 $35680 $40551

Gross profit 23824 25948 29601 33717

Income from operations 4138 5645 9164 8489
Net income attributable to BroadSoft Inc 3695 15791 7345 5466

Net income per share

Basic 0.14 0.59 0.27 0.20

Diluted 0.13 0.57 0.26 0.19

Item Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None

Item 9A Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Management with the participation of our chief executive officer and our chief financial officer evaluated the

effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31 2012 The term disclosure controls and

procedures as set forth in Rules 13a-15e and 15d-15e under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

or the Exchange Act means controls and other procedures of company that are designed to provide reasonable

assurance that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports that it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is recorded processed summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SECs rules

and forms Disclosure controls and procedures include without limitation controls and procedures designed to

ensure that information required to be disclosed by company in the reports that it files or submits under the

Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the companys management including its principal executive

and principal financial officers as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure Management

recognizes that any controls and procedures no matter how well designed and operated can provide only

reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating

the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls

and procedures as of December 31 2012 our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that as of

such date our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level

Managements Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over our financial

reporting as defined in Rules 3a- 15f and 5d-1 51 of the Exchange Act We assessed the effectiveness of

our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31 2012 using the criteria established in Internal

ControlIntegrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission COSO Based upon this assessment our management concluded that as of December 31 2012

our internal control over financial reporting was effective The effectiveness of our internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2012 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP an independent registered

public accounting firm which appears on page 67 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required

by Rule 3a-15d and 15d-15d of the Exchange Act that occurred during the quarter ended December 31 2012 that

has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting

Item 9B Other Information

Not applicable
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PART III

We will file definitive Proxy Statement for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders the 2013 Proxy

Statement with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after the end of our fiscal year

Accordingly certain information required by Part III has been omitted under General Instruction G3 to Form

10-K Only those sections of the 2013 Proxy Statement that specifically address the items set forth herein are

incorporated by reference

Item 10 Directors Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by Item 10 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement under

the captions Election of Directors and Section 16a Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance

Item 11 Executive Compensation

The information required by Item 11 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement under

the captions Executive Compensation and Director Compensation

The information required to be disclosed by Item 201d of Regulation S-K regarding equity securities authorized

for issuance under our equity incentive plans is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement

under the caption Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

Item 12 Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters

The information required by Item 12 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement under

the caption Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management

Item 13 Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence

The information required by Item 13 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement under

the captions Transactions with Related Persons and Independence of the Board of Directors

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is hereby incorporated by reference from our 2013 Proxy Statement under

the caption Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm Fees
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PART IV

Item 15 Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

Financial Statements

The financial statements filed as part of this report are listed on the index to financial statements on page 66

Financial Statement Schedules

The following financial statement schedule is filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K

SCHEDULE 11CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

In thousands

Amounts Additions

Balance at Charged to Acquired from

Beginning Operations Deductions Business Balance at

of Year Combinations End of Year

Allowance for doubtful accounts

YearEndedDecember3l2010 169 131 38

Year Ended December31 2011 38 56 40 54

YearEndedDecember3l2012 54 718 633 139

Allowance for deferred tax assets

Year Ended December 31 2010 37133 3634 33499

Year Ended December 31 2011 33499 8946 22979 2131 3705

Year Ended December 31 2012 3705 1853 5558

Amount represents charges to bad debt and increase to or release of our valuation allowance

Amount represents recoveries of accounts receivable previously charged to the allowance and utilization

NOLs against valuation allowance

Exhibits

The following exhibits are incorporated by reference or filed herewith

See Exhibit Index
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15d of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended the

registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized

BROADSOFT INC

By Is JAMES THOLEN

James Tholen

Chief Financial Officer

February 27 2013

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 this report has been signed by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated

Signatures Title Date

Is MICHAEL TESSLER President Chief Executive February 27 2013

Michael Tessler
Officer and Director

Principal Executive Officer

Is JAMES THOLEN Chief Financial Officer February 27 2013

James Tholen Principal Financial and

Accounting Officer

Is JOHN MARKLEY JR Director and Chairman of the February 27 2013

John Markley Jr
Board

Is JOHN GAVIN JR Director February 27 2013

John Gavin Jr

Is DOUGLAS MAINE Director February 27 2013

Douglas Maine

Is PAUL MAGELLI Director February 27 2013

Paul Magelli

Is DAVID BERNARDI Director February 27 2013

David Bemardi

/s CHARLES ILL III Director February 27 2013

Charles Ill III
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